
CABINET
4.00 pm WEDNESDAY, 25TH JULY, 2018

COUNCIL CHAMBER

This Agenda has been prepared by the 
Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 

contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

OPEN SESSION

3. Final Draft Scrutiny Report  -  Capital Project 
Referral (Brandy Bridge scheme / Road Slip - 
South of Pontygwaith) 
To consider the attached report 5 - 34

4. Scrutiny Report - Review of Attendance & 
Attainment in Primary & Secondary Schools 
To consider the attached report 35 - 68

Strategic

5. Provisional Capital Outturn 2017/18 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 69 - 78

6. Capital Budget Monitoring 2018-19 - Quarter 1 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 79 - 84

7. Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 – Quarter 1 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 85 - 108

8. School Reorganisation - 3-16 Voluntary Aided 
School 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 109 - 112

Portfolio

9. Charging for Community Care Support Services 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

113 - 116

10. Cwm Taf Carers Annual Report 2017-18 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

117 - 158



11. Funding Flexibility & Supporting People 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

159 - 164

12. Scheme of Delegation - Educated Other Than At 
School (EOTAS) 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 165 - 168

13. Formal Approval Of A New Interreg Vb 
Transnational Project Entitled Sunse 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

169 - 174

Information Reports

14. MTCBC Change Programme – End of Year 
Report 2017/2018 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 175 - 180

15. Direct Payments Scheme 2018-19 
To receive report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

181 - 182

16. UK CONTEST Strategy 
To receive report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

183 - 188

CLOSED SESSION

Exempt

In order for the following to be considered in private, it is suggested that the 
public be excluded from the meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph (14 ) under Part 4 of 
Schedule 12A Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

17. Repayment Of Long Term Loans – Update 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 189 - 194



18. Award of the Framework Agreement for the 
Disposal of Household Waste Recycling Centre 
Waste Streams 
To consider report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services

195 - 198

RE-OPENED SESSION

19. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillors     K O'Neill (Chair)
                       L Mytton (Vice-Chair) 

Councillors     A Barry, K Gibbs, D Hughes and 
G Thomas

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


1

Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

FINAL Draft Scrutiny Report - Capital Project Referral 
(Brandy Bridge scheme / Road Slip - South of Pontygwaith)

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The scrutiny committee received a referral from Councillor Andrew Barry, the 
Cabinet Member for Governance and Corporate Services. The referral 
highlighted overspends in respect of the Brandy Bridge project and the Road 
Slippage, south of Pontygwaith. 

1.2 The Committee has been asked to analyse what went wrong and establish the 
root cause of both overspends. A Task and Finish group was established to 
produce a report on behalf of the committee.

1.3 At the Scrutiny meeting on 22nd January 2018 the Committee met with 
Councillor Andrew Barry, the Chief Officer for Neighbourhood Services (CE) 
and the Senior Structures Engineer (CM) where both of the projects were 
discussed in detail.  

1.4 Following the meeting a list of questions was submitted to the Senior 
Structures Engineer and these, together with the responses, are shown at 5.0

1.5 The Task and Finish Group met with the Chief Finance Officer to clarify some 
of the procedures around the reporting of overspend and the governance of 
capital projects.

1.6 From the review that the T&F Group has undertaken it is evident that in 
respect of both schemes the additional costs were attributable to the 
unforeseen works. 

Date Written 11th July 2018
Report Author Neighbourhood Services, Planning 

and Countryside  Scrutiny Committee
Service Area Scrutiny
Committee Date 25th July 2018

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that

2.1 Cabinet seeks assurance from the Engineering Department that all necessary 
procedures and processes around revising and updating of drawings and 
information on completion of any project is being done (i.e. internal record 
keeping), especially in these austere times when staffing capacities are under 
increased pressures and threat. 

2.2 Whilst there are procedures in place to raise any concerns at an early stage 
with the Engineering Manager and the Accountancy Department, the 
Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Cabinet Portfolio Member 
and the Governance and Corporate Services Portfolio Member are also 
informed of any significant overspends or potential overspends as soon as 
they become apparent, if this is not already being done.

2.3 Each of the Scrutiny Committees receives quarterly reports on any significant 
project underspends / overspends, within the committees remit, in order that 
scrutiny committees may challenge the position.

2.4 Consideration is given to more robust and stringent procedures during the 
initial survey stages with the aim of reducing the possibility of unforeseen 
works later on during the project.

2.5 As anyone can monitor the Authority’s approved Capital Programme by 
looking through Council reports and minutes (these reports are not exempt), 
consideration be given to these reports and minutes being made exempt until 
after the tendering  process1.

2.6 Whilst appreciating that contractual documentation is subject to legislation and 
regulations, consideration is given to whether amending the contractual 
documentation could offer any or better protection to the Authority against 
overspends e.g. clawback, maximum contract amount.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The scrutiny committee received a referral from Councillor Andrew Barry, the 
Cabinet Member for Governance and Corporate Services. The referral (see 
APPENDIX I) highlighted overspends of £313,000 in respect of the Brandy 
Bridge project; and £176,000 on the Road Slippage, south of Pontygwaith.

3.2 In the referral Councillor Andrew Barry comments “With the amount of Capital 
Projects required by this Authority over the coming years, over spends of this 

1 This recommendation bears no relevance to the Contractors / Companies / Organisations or 
otherwise related to the projects under review in this report, or indeed any other work undertaken for 
the Council. The recommendation is made after establishing that Council reports may reflect the 
Councils approved Capital Programme which may publish what budget it has for a particular project 
or scheme before the tender process starts.

Page 6



3

magnitude are simply not affordable from any perspective…” and “We as an 
administration, as a central theme, aim for openness and transparency. We 
intend to refer both Projects to Scrutiny… to analyse what went wrong and 
establish the root cause of both overspends”.

3.3 The referral was the subject of an agenda item at the Neighbourhood 
Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee meeting on Monday 
22nd January 2018.

4.0 SCRUTINY MEETING 22ND JANUARY 2018

4.1 Councillor Andrew Barry emphasised the importance of the referral in terms of 
the budget. To overspend to the tune of almost £500,000 is completely 
unacceptable, especially when Council departments are bringing small 
amounts forward as part of efficiency savings suggestions. The committee is 
asked to examine the issues to ensure we know what lessons have been 
learned.

4.2 The Committee met with Councillor Andrew Barry, the Chief Officer for 
Neighbourhood Services (CE) and the Senior Structures Engineer (CM) 
where both of the projects were discussed in detail. Details as follows:-

Brandy Bridge Scheme 

4.3 The current bridge the Brandy Bridge (Figure 1) is the only vehicular bridge 
into Abercanaid. It is the 3rd bridge to occupy the site; the first one was built in 
1861, the second in 1934 and collapsed in 1965 due to the flooding of the 
river Taf. After the collapse of the bridge a bailey bridge was erected by the 
army until the current bridge was built and subsequently opened in 1967.

Figure 1

Page 7



4

4.4 The bridge is a four span bridge and carries some 5000 vehicles per day. It 
supports and carries BT cables, Welsh Water water mains and sewer mains, 
and Western Power high voltage cables.

4.5 In 2014 (phase 1) some works were undertaken on the bridge superstructure. 
This included the replacement of deck waterproofing and expansion joints, 
concrete repairs to the deck, and the resurfacing of the bridge road. (Bridge 
previously repaired in 1976, 1979, 1987, 1993, 2004, 2007)

4.6 Phase 2, which are the works being done currently includes concrete repairs 
to the piers and abutments, refurbishment of all bearings and the installation 
of a cathodic protection system to prevent future corrosion of the steel 
reinforcement.

4.7 The condition of the bridge was very poor and can be attributed to the 
construction of the bridge being undertaken quickly, allied with poor quality 
workmanship. This was evidenced during the presentation when photographs 
(see Figures 2, 3, 4, and 5) were shown of the cracking across the full height 
of the columns, lots of heavy staining from the reinforcement which is coming 
through the concrete, and there has been concrete that has fallen off the 
structure 

Figure 2
4.8 The problems stem back to when the bridge was built. A photograph of what 

was supposed to be an expansion joint was shown (figure 3). There should be 
a clear air gap between the bridge deck but what was evident was that the 
gap was filled with an over pour of concrete, which filled the air gap. The 
result was that the bridge was not allowed to move (expand or contract) as it 
should have, and that in turn put extra stress on the piers which then led to 
cracking. 

Page 8



5

Figure 3

4.9 Any reinforced concrete work needs a good thickness covering of concrete to 
protect the steel reinforcement. Figure 4 shows steel reinforcement bars 
protruding through the concrete allowing it to be open to the elements and 
prone to rusting from water and de-icing salts.  

Figure 4

4.10 Aside from the cracks there was “honeycombing”. When the concrete was 
poured for the piers of the bridge the concrete wasn’t vibrated sufficiently to 
remove the air bubbles. These air bubbles allow water to ingress and this also 
results in the rusting of the steel reinforcement within the concrete (See 
Figure 5). 

Page 9



6

Figure 5

4.11 Considering the current bridge was only opened in 1967 and repairs were 
already being undertaken in 1976 further indicates how poorly the bridge was 
built initially. The previous repairs in 2007, costing approximately £140,000 
have failed and in the Senior Structures Engineer’s opinion were a complete 
waste of money as we were in the same position prior to the latest repairs, 
which are the subject of this report.

4.12 It was felt that a better solution was required for the repairs to the bridge as 
we could not follow the same methods of repair as in 2007. As such in 2015 a 
company was commissioned to do concrete testing on the bridge. The survey 
was quite extensive and a number of core samples were taken from the 
concrete and that report was provided to the company that were appointed to 
carry out the design for the repair scheme. A "Cathodic Protection Scheme” 

was agreed as a way to address the issues, and this is a technique used to 
control corrosion of the steel reinforcement (drilling in zinc bars “anodes” 
through which an electric current is passed through the whole structure so 
that any moisture that gets through is drawn to these sacrificial anodes which 
will corrode instead of the steel reinforcement.).

4.13 Six tenderers were invited to carry out the works and five of these were 
returned, with the contract being awarded in the sum of £337,635. Work 
commenced on the 3rd July 2017 and the scheme was initially due for 
completion on the 13th October 2017.

 4.14 Soon after the work commenced it was discovered that the condition of the 
bridge was far worse than imagined. Although it was clearly indicated that 
there were cracks in the structure and those areas were accounted for in the 
tender, a full picture of what was behind the concrete was not evidenced until 
the cement was removed. The committee was shown photographs of the 
corroded steel reinforcement bars, some of which were completely rusted 
away (see Figure 6). This meant that the vertical reinforcement bars on the 
outside were starting to bend outwards, resulting in a bursting effect and 
placing stress on the columns. These were early signs that the columns were 

Page 10



7

starting to buckle, which is a major issue. If this had not been uncovered the 
columns could eventually buckle and collapse, bringing the whole bridge 
down. 

      

Figure 6

4.15 It was clearly evident that further work was required on the bridge, including 
the replacement of many of the steel reinforcement bars, which unfortunately 
resulted in more money being allocated to the repairs. It was estimated that 
70% of the concrete face of up to 120mm thick needs to be removed and 
replaced with high strength mortar.

4.16 When the original samples during the concrete testing were taken it was very 
difficult to get the full picture of the condition and work required. As evidenced 
in photographs there were areas where the original steel reinforcement was 
still in perfect condition, however, within 200mm the steel reinforcement was 
completely rusted away. 

4.17 It is not only the concrete and steel reinforcement that needed to be replaced, 
but consideration needed to be given to the method of repair. What had to be 
considered was the bridge still had traffic using it and as such could not be 
closed during the repairs. There was only so much concrete that could be 
removed at any one time without reducing the capacity of the bridge, and as 
such the work had to be phased. Normally the concrete would take 28 days 
per concrete repair to reach full strength. As such 22 tons of advanced 
concrete repair mortar had to be used, and this reaches full strength in 24 
hours.  Although more expensive, using this concrete was the quickest and 
safest way to carry out the repairs.

4.18 The Senior Structures Engineer is confident that the method of repair and the 
materials used was extensive and substantial – sections of reinforcement 
replaced have been given a coating of red oxide paint to protect the new 
steelwork put in place (Figure 7); the repair mortar used is high strength; the 
capping beam and columns have received a waterproof coating to provide 
further protection to the substructure, (Figure 8)’. Photo attached; and there is 
the Cathodic Protection Scheme to keep all the moisture out. Previous repairs 

Page 11



8

were remedial repairs e.g. removing areas of cracked concrete, and replacing 
some of the steel bars that needed replacing and putting capped concrete 
over the top. The work undertaken now is far more substantial. 

Figure 7

Figure 8

4.19 The Chief Officer (Neighbourhood Services) also commented that the 
additional costs are directly attributable to the unforeseen works. The 
Engineering department carried out all the due diligent checks they could and 
could not see the extent of the problem until the concrete was physically 
removed. At that point they have a duty of care to make sure that the bridge is 
safe for use and fit for purpose. If they had known the true picture of the 
condition of the bridge at the outset and they had tendered that work that 
project cost would have come back at around the £800,000 mark. Because 

Page 12



9

they didn’t know that at the time then the Engineering department couldn’t 
specify what was needed.

4.20 An additional £320,000 was approved by Cabinet in October 2017 and the 
final cost of the scheme will be £810,490 (originally £337,635 allocated). The 
scheme is due for completion in May 2018. The Senior Structures Engineer 
informed the committee that he had spoken with the contractor, who 
themselves subcontracted the work out, and they have assured the Council 
that the cost will not go above what has been reported.

Pontygwaith Retaining Wall Scheme

4.21 This is a retaining Wall between Mount Pleasant and Edwardsville on the 
Cardiff Road (figure 9). In 2009 cracks were emerging in the carriageway. The 
engineers at the time investigated the issue and believed it was underground 
water which was causing subsidence of the retaining wall. The retaining wall, 
which was a masonry wall at the time, retained a Welsh Water high pressure 
water main, 6 x BT fibre optic cables in the footpath, and the Merthyr to 
Cardiff Railway line was beneath the wall.

Figure 9

4.22 To repair the subsidence issue in 2010 engineers constructed a retaining wall 
in front of the existing masonry wall to prevent the movement of the existing 
wall. In 2014 there was an emergence of new cracks which were initially just 
filled. Unfortunately this did not rectify the problem and cracks again started to 
appear. 

4.23 After a sustained period of heavy rainfall in December 2014 / January 2015 
deep cracks started to open up in the carriageway (see Figure 10) and 
engineers needed to understand what type of movement was taking place 
and how the wall was failing both vertically and horizontally. This was a 
serious issue bearing in the mind not only the carriageway, but also the water 
mains, the BT cables and the railway line below. 

Page 13



10

 

Figure 10

4.24 A comprehensive ground investigation was carried out (trial holes, bore holes, 
soil testing, and stand pipes to monitor ground water). During the investigation 
it was found that there was a band of slag material in the road construction 
which was used when the road was raised and widened in the mid-seventies. 
Old slag material was used to form part of the road construction. In the mid- 
eighties using this type of slag material was banned from use in road 
construction because it expands when it gets wet and hence contributed to 
the problems with the road cracking and subsistence. This slag material is still 
in place through the whole section of this road.

4.25 The highway drainage system behind the back of the retaining wall had also 
failed and there was a build-up of water pressure behind the wall, which also 
contributed to the subsidence. The committee was informed that the work that 
BT undertook with their ducts would not have had any effect as their works 
were too shallow to have made any difference. 

4.26 The obvious solution was to remove the wall but no-one would provide quotes 
to undertake the wall as the risk was just too high as no-one could predict 
what would happen if the wall was taken away.  The only alternative was to 
leave the 300 ton wall in place and to try and support and pin the wall to stop 
it moving away from the road.

4.27 We went out to tender and only three of the six returned, which itself gives an 
indication of the reluctance of companies to undertake the work. Options were 
limited in the type of repair as consideration had to be given to the water 
mains (cast iron pipes) and other utilities in place. The Council went for the 
lowest tender of £382,439.93 and the scheme involved installing 112 
reinforced concrete piles with an outer steel casing into the ground. Each pile 
was going to be 6 metres deep and anchored 2 metres into the sandstone 
bedrock.

4.28 Work started in February 2016 and was supposed to be a 4 month contract. 
When the investigatory boreholes were drilled (between the BT ducts and the 
water main - see figure 11 below), bed rock was encountered at 6 meters, 
which was the expected depth as previous work nearby was consistent with 
this depth. Unfortunately when it was time to put the piles in place, which was 
further out than the test drilling, it was found that there was a drop-off or shelf 

Page 14



11

at the bedrock level which meant the actual bedrock was at 10 metres, not 6 
metres. 

Figure 11

4.29 That led to a redesign of the piles which meant that they needed to be of a 
greater diameter and longer too. Unfortunately that increased the cost of the 
project.

4.30 The Senior Structures Engineer said he had spoken to the contractor who 
originally built the wall in 2010 together with the two engineers (who have both 
since left the Authority) who oversaw and supervised the construction of the 
retaining wall. They had all told him that there was no steel reinforcement 
within the wall and that the contractor would be able to pile through the 
retaining wall without any problems. Also because of 2 office moves since the 
original wall was build the original plans could not be found so the Engineers 
department had to go with what they had been told about the construction of 
the wall.

4.31 When the drilling commenced the contractors encountered 40mm steel 
reinforcement bars, which was a higher diameter requirement than was 
necessary for the type of retaining wall. As already mentioned steel 
reinforcement was not expected in any case. This caused additional problems 
as they could not pile through the wall so instead they diamond-drilled through 
the wall and retrieve the cores from the drilled holes in the wall (see figure 
12). The largest available diameter diamond drill was 200mm; the piles were 
300mm, so the reduction in the pile diameter meant that they had to increase 
the number of piles. That increased the number of piles required from 33 to 80 
to do the same job that a 300mm pile would do. That was a major problem 
and again increased the cost of the project.

Page 15



12

Figure 12

4.32 Another problem was that they could not then retract all the cores from the 
drilling properly due to them snapping when being extracted. This meant that 
only half of the cores were extracted successfully. Another solution had to be 
found and this option meant that they had to pile in front of the wall (see figure 

Page 16



13

8). This itself brought its own issues as the drill rig was too heavy to sit on the 
concrete wall as the wall was moving and secondly it couldn’t reach out far 
enough to drill the holes in front of the wall. Work had to be undertaken so 
that the rig could be positioned on top of the wall allowing it to be close 
enough to the edge to pile in front of the wall. Again this meant additional 
coats to the project.

4.33 The tender sum was £382,439.93. The Engineers department, sensing at an 
early stage that there were going to be problems with the project, requested 
an additional £517,000 initially as a budget. This was used up and we had to 
request an additional £176,027.32 to complete the work.

4.34 The project is nearing completion as the scrutiny meeting on 22nd January and 
the sub-contractor is seeking additional funding to complete the project, but 
this is an issue between the contractor and sub-contractor, not the Authority. 
The authority has had the final figure from the Contractor and the figure will 
not increase.

5.0 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REQUESTED BY THE TASK AND 
FINISH GROUP

5.1 Following the Scrutiny meeting on 22nd January 2018, the Task and Finish 
Group sought clarification on a number of issues:- 

Brandy Bridge Scheme 

5.2 The Bridge was inspected every 2 years as part of the Councils 
Inspection regime for Highways Structures. Who carried out these 
inspections?  
The Council’s inspection regime for highways structures is carried out in 
accordance with the Code of Practice of the Management of Highway 
Structures. The 2 year ‘General’ bridge inspections are carried out internally 
by MTCBC officers and these inspections are supported by a ‘Principal’ bridge 
inspection every 6 years by a consultancy (Company2 A – a professional 
services company) via the joint venture. The most recent General inspection 
of Brandy Bridge was carried out by the Senior Structures Engineer and 
Assistant Engineer with Company A carrying out the most recent Principal 
inspection in 2013.

All inspections are carried out and recorded in accordance with the Code of 
Practice of the Management of Highway Structures. Prior to 2012 defects 
were noted in each inspection and were gradually becoming worse. The 
Senior Structures Engineer made a decision following the 2012 inspection 
that a complete refurbishment of the bridge was necessary as the likelihood of 
introducing a weight limit had become a reality and deterioration of the bridge 

2 Company A = Capita PLC

Page 17



14

was increasing more rapidly. Due to the bridge being the only road access 
into Abercanaid it became a high priority and funding was requested from the 
capital programme.

5.3 When undertaking the inspections, how were the findings of previous 
inspections utilised (e.g. had indications of the degradation of the steel 
reinforcements prior to the 2012/13 inspections been considered?)”
It is not possible to view the steel reinforcement directly during any inspection 
unless the concrete is removed therefore we look for indications of possible 
corrosion such as rust stains on the concrete face or leaching through cracks 
in the concrete. All stained areas of concrete were recorded for Brandy Bridge 
and accounted for within the tender to allow for repairs. During the work the 
problem arose where reinforcement had corroded in areas where no signs of 
staining or cracking were evident and this was only visible after the concrete 
had been removed.

5.4 Who carried out the repairs in 2014?
Company3 B was awarded the contract for Phase 1 in 2014 and their 
specialist sub-contractor were Company4 C who replaced the expansion joints 
and carried out the deck waterproofing. Under a separate smaller contract 
Company5 D installed block stone within the river Taff to prevent scour of the 
centre pier following consent from Natural Resources Wales

 
5.5 A company was commissioned to do concrete testing on the bridge, 

including the piers in 2015. Can you provide some details?
Company6 E carried out concrete testing in 2015 in accordance with the 
Department of Transport’s advice note BA 35/90 ‘Inspection and repair of 
concrete highway structures’. This involved inspection, concrete sampling and 
laboratory testing including all the standard checks such as a Delamination 
survey, Breakout survey, Electro-potential, depth of carbonation, depth of 
cover to reinforcement, Chloride Ion content, Cement content, Sulphate 
content and Alkali content

5.6 The current work on the bridge commenced on the 3rd July 2017 and the 
scheme was initially due for completion on the 13th October 2017. In 
respect of the company appointed to design the Cathodic Protection 
system, why were they chosen; and were other companies asked to 
tender for this? Is there provision to claw back as the bridge was found 
to be in worse condition than they said in their report? Has the company 
been contacted in regards to the report they initially gave and the 
subsequent findings that the bridge was in worse condition than they 
said?
We first approached Company A through the joint venture however they did 
not have the expertise to design a Cathodic Protection system and they 
advised us to contact Company7 F who are renowned experts in this field 
within the UK. The Senior Structures Engineer also sought advice from the 

3 Company B = Alun Griffiths (Contractors) Ltd
4 Company C = Pitchmaster Ltd
5 Company D = Barry Coslett Ltd
6 Company E = Nicholls Colton Group Ltd
7 Company F = Mott MacDonald Ltd

Page 18



15

Concrete Repair Association and the only person they recommended was 
Company F. We then appointed Company F in October 2015 via an 
exemption form in accordance with MTCBC procurement rules.

To clarify, the condition of the bridge was reported by Company E during the 
concrete testing and they concluded that the bridge was in poor condition. 
Each element of the bridge was tested and reported on which allowed 
Company F to carry out the Cathodic Protection design based on the results 
within the report. The Senior Structures Engineer doesn’t believe either 
company are at fault as they did everything that was asked and he supervised 
the testing work by Company E. The Senior Structures Engineer also checked 
and verified the quantities that were contained in the Bill of Quantities that 
Company F produced. The Senior Structures Engineer doesn’t believe that 
any consultant would have been able to envisage the extent of corrosion of 
the reinforcement unless the concrete was removed. This could not happen 
until the repair work started.

Company F have been made aware of what has been uncovered and the 
extent of additional concrete repairs. They were subsequently asked if the 
Cathodic Protection system would need to be altered as a result but 
fortunately it did not.

5.7 Company B was awarded the contract? How many other companies 
tendered for the work? Why were Company B chosen?
Six tenderers were invited to quote for the scheme using lot 9 of the south 
east wales framework under selection process option b. Due to the specialist 
nature of the work the award criteria was set with 80% cost and 20% 
quality/technical as opposed to 100% cost only. The contractors quality 
submission had to include the tender programme, previous experience of 
installing a cathodic protection system and evidence of previous concrete 
repair work on bridges.

The submitted tenders were assessed and Company8 G submitted the lowest 
price, however their previous experience was limited to one scheme and their 
nominated sub-contractor was not suitable as they were not members of the 
corrosion prevention association, which was a requirement. In addition their 
tender programme for the construction work did not meet the deadline set. 
Company B was the second lowest and received the highest score for their 
quality submission compared to all of the tender submissions. In accordance 
with MTCBC procurement rules the post tender report was compiled which 
recommended the contract award to Company B and this was approved and 
signed by the Deputy Chief Executive and the Chief Finance Officer.

Pontygwaith Retaining Wall Scheme

5.8 Inaccurate information was held on the existing wall, why is this?   Are 
processes in place to validate information on point of receipt?
The design of the existing wall was carried out by two MTCBC Engineers who 
both retired in 2012. The information that was kept on file only included the 

8 Company G = ERH Communications Ltd

Page 19



16

initial design and not the As-built drawings or As-built information, 
unfortunately this only became apparent once construction work had started. 
On completion of any project it is standard practice to revise and update all 
drawings and information in accordance with what has been built but clearly 
this did not happen in 2010.

5.9 Where did this information come from or who initially documented this 
information?
The information was taken from the Pontygwaith Retaining Wall file which was 
set up by the two retired Engineers involved in 2010.

5.10 Due to inaccurate information, changes in design and method of 
construction were made on more than one occasion. Why more than 
once?
The project suffered a series of different problems that were uncovered at 
different times during the construction work as discussed with the presentation 
previously provided. The problems were not directly related which is why 
changes to the design and method of construction had to be altered.

5.11 Who was responsible for overseeing the changes in design and 
construction?
As Project Manager the Senior Structures Engineer was responsible for 
instructing and overseeing all changes to the design and construction. The 
Senior Structures Engineer informed the Engineering Manager and consultant 
(Company9 H) of all proposed changes and following their agreement the 
Senior Structures Engineer then informed the contractor to make the 
necessary changes.

5.12 Do MTCBC normally rely on old information when sanctioning a job or 
does it carry out tests beforehand, either itself or an outside contractor?
A decision on whether tests/investigations are carried out will depend on what 
information is already held. If inadequate information is available then the 
appropriate investigation work will be carried out to gather as much 
information as possible before any design work commences. Depending on 
the type of investigation work required we may use MTCBC Highway 
Maintenance department or quotations will be sought from contractors for any 
specialist work. In this case there was no information in the original file on 
ground conditions which is why the Senior Structures Engineer commissioned 
a full ground investigation.

5.13 Were tests as to the road construction carried out before work began?
MTCBC Highways department conducted trial pits within the carriageway in 
January 2016. This was followed up with a detailed ground investigation by 
Company H that included further trial pits and boreholes within the 
carriageway in March 2016. Company H was appointed to carry out this work 
via a tender process and they used Company10 I for all site based work.

9 Company H = Spectrum Geo Services
10 Company I = Apex Drilling Services Limited

Page 20



17

5.14 Were outside companies brought in to investigating the depth of rock 
below ground?
The ground investigation was carried out by Company H who used Company I 
to drill through the ground until rock was found. They drilled 1m into the rock 
which is standard practice to proof test the rock to ensure they had not 
encountered a boulder or a large stone.

5.15 Was there a tender process?
In accordance with MTCBC procurement rules 3 quotations were required for 
the ground investigation due to the value of work and as mentioned above 
Company H submitted the lowest quote and was awarded the work.

5.16 Did the company that did the initial investigation get the contract for the 
road?
The company that carried out the initial investigation did not carry out the 
construction work. This would not have been possible as Company H are a 
consultant and not a contractor therefore they cannot carry out construction 
work.

5.17 How was the construction company chosen? 
With regard to the construction work six tenderers were invited from Lot 9 of 
the South East Wales framework however only 3 tenderers submitted and the 
lowest price was Company G. In accordance with MTCBC procurement rules 
the post tender report was compiled which recommended the contract award 
to Company G and this was approved and signed by the Deputy Chief 
Executive and the Chief Finance Officer.

5.18 Is there any way that money can be clawed back from outside 
companies / contractors for not investigating the fabric of the road 
properly before construction began? (Assuming an outside company 
was used) 
The fabric of the road was investigated properly as there were no deviations 
between what had been reported and what had been found onsite.

5.19 Is there any way that money can be clawed back from outside 
companies / contractors for not investigating the depth of piles needed 
before construction began? (Assuming an outside company was used) 
The location of the boreholes to find the depth of rock during the investigation 
was jointly chosen by Welsh Water and BT as it was the only safe location 
due to the close proximity of their high risk apparatus. This was only 2m away 
from the piling location for the permanent work. The depth of rock was found 
to be at 6m which was consistent with the piling work carried out in 2014 
200m north along the same road therefore we had no reason to believe there 
was a rock shelf beneath the ground which dropped off by 4m. Clearly this is 
not the fault of the contractor therefore we cannot claw back any money from 
them.

5.20 What lessons have been learnt?  Are these lessons being shared wider 
than the immediate team – with senior managers/Cabinet Members?

Page 21



18

The situation regarding the depth of rock was unfortunate and unavoidable 
however the inaccuracies and lack of information on the existing wall was not 
acceptable and could have been avoided. In future every Engineer within the 
department must ensure that As-built drawings have been carried out on 
completion of every project and all information is recorded and available to 
prevent another situation of this kind. This is also a requirement under the 
Health and Safety Construction, Design and Management (CDM) Regulations 
2015 therefore it is imperative that this is done. Everyone within the 
department is now fully aware of what could happen if construction work is not 
accurately recorded on completion for any future work at the same site. The 
Senior Structures Engineer does not believe this message has been shared 
outside of the department.

5.21 So that the committee can understand the process, are there any 
instances where the contractor and the surveyor are the same 
organisation, or are connected in any way. Would you as a matter of 
course check to ensure that there is no relationship / connection 
between the parties e.g. by way of a company search to identify 
common directors? 
There is an option under civil engineering conditions of contracts where a 
contractor would take on the duty as designer and this is referred to as a 
‘Design and Build’ Contract however even in this instance it is still the 
responsibility of MTCBC as client to provide all relevant information to the 
contractor at the start such as a ground investigation report to allow them to 
design correctly.

Contained within every tender is an Anti -Collusion Certificate which must be 
signed by the tenderer to certify that no correspondence, agreement or 
arrangement with another contractor or company has been carried out with 
regard to their tender amount. We don’t carry out any other checks related to 
this.

General

5.22 What lessons have been learnt (both projects)?  What has changed 
procedure-wise / is there anything that you are you doing differently?  
It is difficult to identify learning points as both projects have been subject to 
unforeseen issues which could not have been accounted for. Unfortunately 
this is the nature of structural work. The Senior Structures Engineer believes 
he has made the correct decisions in the best interest of MTCBC during both 
contracts.

In relation to Pontygwaith the information on file of the existing wall should 
have been accurate so there is a lesson to be learned as a reminder for 
officers within the department that As-built information must be recorded 
accurately on completion of every project otherwise the consequences may 
be severe as in this case.

5.23 Please can the Committee have a list of all major projects in the County 
Borough over the last 5 years to include the contract sum, and details of 

Page 22



19

whether they stayed within budget or went over budget (variance)?  Also 
who were the contractors and original surveyors on these projects? 
See APPENDIX I for information

5.24 Has there been a requirement to provide Council staff with additional 
training (e.g. managing the tender process) so they have the right skills 
to meet changing needs?
Additional training as a result of both projects is not required. Engineering 
staff do receive training in various areas when required.

5.25 Have you adhered to the Councils “Procurement and Contracting Rules” 
as per the MTCBC Constitution throughout in respect of both projects?
Both projects adhered to the MTCBC procurement rules. Guidance is always 
sought from Procurement Officers to ensure the correct process is followed 
for all projects. Due to the systems of work in place, Procurement Officers 
were able to follow the process from start to finish for both projects to ensure 
the correct procedures were followed and approved by relevant managers.

5.26 In respect of the reporting of any overspends, who do you report to as 
and when the likelihood becomes apparent? Are there set procedures? 
Is overspend reporting predictive as opposed to producing 
retrospective reports after overspend?
The Senior Structures Engineer normally raises any concerns at an early 
stage to the Engineering Manager and a discussion follows to look at the 
implications involved. The Senior Structures Engineer will request costs from 
the contractor for any additional work and look at how savings can be made 
within the contract to prevent any overspend. Unfortunately in both projects 
there were no opportunities to reduce or remove any items of work to save 
cost therefore the over spend has been significant. The Senior Structures 
Engineer has never experienced overspends of this magnitude over the last 
14 years therefore it is unfortunate that both projects have happened 
simultaneously.

The procedure for any overspend is normally either the Senior Structures 
Engineer or the Engineering Manager will contact the relevant MTCBC 
Accountant and arrange a meeting to discuss the issues and potential 
overspend. We will then follow the advice of the Accountant in how this is to 
be reported and to whom.

An over spend can be predicted as we normally request quotations for the 
additional work from contractors once a problem is uncovered. The only 
uncertainty is the final cost of the project if further unforeseen issues arise 
after a predicted overspend report has been submitted. Ideally the Senior 
Structures Engineer would prefer to submit a retrospective report once the 
final contract value is known however this is sometimes not possible due to 
timescales or deadlines for approving committees.

5.27 Is Cabinet (or the Cabinet Portfolio Member) regularly kept informed of 
all the major projects and do they have access to all reports from the 
beginning? Is this a new policy or has it always been this way? 

Page 23



20

The Senior Structures Engineer understands that regular scheduled meetings 
do take place between Heads of Service and the Cabinet Portfolio Member 
where projects are discussed and issues relating to overspends can be raised 
but the Senior Structures Engineer has never been involved in these 
meetings. The Senior Structures Engineer believes they do have access to 
reports before they are submitted to the relevant committees. As far as the 
Senior Structures Engineer is aware it has always been this way but this 
should be checked with Heads of Service for confirmation.

5.28 Who oversees the work being carried out, and how frequently are 
inspections carried out i.e. weekly, fortnightly etc?
Daily inspections of the construction work are carried out by an Assistant 
Engineer who will be designated as the Site Supervisor. As Project Manager 
the Senior Structures Engineer will attend site 2-3 times a week or more 
frequently if required. Each site inspection could last for several hours.

5.29 To ensure effective monitoring of projects, the committee would expect 
that there is a group set up within the council which receives at least 
quarterly reports on both financial and physical progress on all capital 
investment projects across the authority. Are you aware whether there 
is such a group; and if so do you report to that group?
The Senior Structures Engineer is not aware that there is a group to report to. 
In 2011/12 there was a requirement to write Highlight Reports for projects that 
were submitted to an overseeing group but I am not aware if this still 
continues as I have never been asked to write any further Highlight Reports 
since.

5.30 The Council is committed to tightening up on slippage / overspends 
especially in these times of austerity. With this in mind there is a greater 
onus on responsible officers to ensure documentation is completed as 
accurately as possible with as much detail included at the outset. As a 
result of these two overspends will you be changing any working 
practices in future?
All engineering work especially of a structural nature is susceptible to 
unforeseen problems therefore it is very difficult to cater for all eventualities at 
the outset. We always allow 10% contingencies within every tender however 
following the substantial overspend on both projects the Senior Structures 
Engineer will increase the contingency percentage within each tender for 
future schemes. However it must be noted that if additional work is required 
then it must be paid for whether that is covered by the contingencies or as an 
over spend on the contract value. In the case of both projects even if 50% 
contingencies were included it still would not have been sufficient and the 
additional work would need to be paid for regardless.

We will also ensure as-built drawings/information are accurately recorded and 
kept in a safe place for future reference as some of the issues at Pontygwaith 
could have been avoided if accurate as-built information had been available.

6.0 MEETING WITH CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

Page 24



21

6.1 A Meeting was held with the Chief Finance Officer on 5th April 2018 to clarify 
some of the procedures around the reporting of overspend and the 
governance of capital projects.

6.2 Capital project reporting - The Chief Finance Officer confirmed that Council 
will approve the Capital plans annually over the medium term and then Capital 
Monitoring reports go to Cabinet every quarter. The Leader and the Cabinet 
Member for Governance and Corporate Services also sit on the Budget Board 
where capital updates are also provided, although the capital projects may not 
be discussed at every Budget Board meeting but rather every 2 months / 
every quarter. 

6.3 Capital projects are also reported to the Major Projects Board which meets 
monthly. The Board is chaired by the Deputy Chief Executive and attendees 
would include the Chief Officer (Neighbourhood Services) and other 
appropriate officers (including a Finance Officer / Accountant). No Members 
would normally attend a Major Projects Board meeting. All officers who have 
major capital projects will be in attendance at the meetings.

6.4 The Chief Finance Officer said that he would also expect that the Chief 
Officers would keep their Cabinet Portfolio Members abreast of important 
matters such as project overspends as well. 

6.5 The Brandy Bridge and Pontygwaith schemes go back to 2014/15 and as 
such the above methods of reporting were the same during the previous 
administration.

6.6 When the referral was made to Scrutiny in December 2017 following the 
capital monitoring report 2017/18 (quarter 2) on 22nd November 2017, the fact 
that there were overspends on both the schemes was not unexpected as 
proper reporting mechanisms were in place and had been reported. 

6.7 In respect of the two projects, monies were allocated during 2016/17 but not 
all funding had been spent during the financial year. The monies for the two 
projects were subsequently carried over to 2017/18. About 6 months into 
2017/18 financial year it became evident that there were major works that 
needed to be done and the Senior Structures Engineer took a report to 
Cabinet on 25th October 201711, where additional monies were requested for 
the Brandy Bridge scheme, following an amended contract sum which had 
come in at £810,000 against around £500,000 which had been budgeted for. 

6.8 On 15th November 2017 the Senior Structures Engineer reported to the 
Budget Board and outlined the problems around the Pontygwaith scheme. 
This was followed up by the Capital Monitoring report that went to Cabinet on 
22nd November 201712, which provided  details of the overspends on the two 
schemes. This is the report that prompted the referral to Scrutiny.

11 Brandy Bridge Concrete Repairs and Cathodic Protection Scheme (Cabinet  25th October 2017)
12 Capital Monitoring report 2017/18 – Quarter 2 (Cabinet 22nd November 2017)

Page 25

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s37069/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s37606/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0


22

6.9  In respect of the table at APPENDIX II the Chief Finance Officer clarified that 
the Finance Department would be advised by the Service Managers of the 
estimated costs of the projects or schemes. It would be difficult to advise or 
comment on each of the schemes as one would need to go through each one 
separately to comment further on them. Looking at the table it is evident that 
the tender sum is less that the allocated budget in all but one of the projects.

6.10 The Chief Finance Officer explained that capital budgets are not the same as 
revenue budgets insofar as with the capital budgets the Authority is more able 
to accommodate or finance overspends a lot easier than with revenue. With 
capital projects it is not uncommon that additional works are required which 
were not anticipated initially. Unlike revenue spending where in most cases 
when you reach your limit you are able to stop spending, with capital budgets 
once a scheme has started and you encounter unforeseen works then unless 
you stop the scheme, it will need to be completed.  Also there would normally 
be a level of contingency within the budget to allow for a certain level of 
unforeseen works.

6.11 When asked about any lessons learned the Chief Finance Officer commented 
that this was difficult to identify but did say that when we as an Authority are 
looking at the cost of a scheme it is probably at the early “at source” stage 
when the surveys are carried out that we need to be as robust and rigorous as 
we possibly can. The Chief Finance Officer added that officers were probably 
already doing this. 

6.12 In attempting to analyse the detail in APPENDIX II a question was put to the 
Chief Finance Officer around whether a contractor would know what the 
budget was for the project when tendering for the project.  Sentiment on social 
media was that local authorities were seen as a soft touch and that 
contractors might tender at a level below the contract amount knowing that 
there was a contingency amount for any unforeseen works within the budget, 
and that they could increase the contract sum after work has commenced 
anticipating that local authorities would pay any higher contract amount. 
(Please note that this scrutiny committee adds that it does not in any way feel 
that this has happened in the schemes that are the subject in the report but 
felt it was a valid question to ask).  

6.13  In respect of the above, the Chief Finance Officer advised that anyone could 
in effect look at the Authority’s approved Capital Programme by viewing the 
Councils reports and minutes as the reports are not exempt. Anyone is able to 
identify the name of a scheme and what budget has been allocated for any 
particular scheme. That could of course assist any contractor when they 
determined whether they wish to put in a tender.

7.0 CONCLUSIONS

7.1 The Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee 
would like to thank the Cabinet Member for Governance and Corporate 
Services, the Chief Officer for Community Regeneration, the Senior 

Page 26



23

Structures Engineer and the Chief Finance Officer for their assistance and 
input during this investigation.

7.2 This Scrutiny Committee was asked by the Cabinet Member for Governance 
and Corporate Services ”to analyse what went wrong and establish the root 
cause of both overspends”. The overspends as per the referral are £313,000 
in respect of the Brandy Bridge and £176,000 in respect of the Pontygwaith 
project. 

“Both Capital Projects appear beset by inaccuracies in the information 
provided, problems with design and construction methods, unforeseen 
problems and apparently plain bad luck.” (See Appendix I for referral details). 
The Cabinet Member for Governance and Corporate Services said that we as 
Authority need to be clear that this has come through the scrutiny process and 
that it has been investigated as the overspend is a huge amount; and not to 
address it through scrutiny is remiss of the Council.

7.3 As this investigation was not a detailed investigation into the processes and 
adherence to the Councils “Procurement and Contracting Rules”, should 
Cabinet require a more detailed report requiring assurances as to whether 
there was compliance with the Councils Financial Procedure Rules and 
Procurement and Contracting Procedure Rules, then it is a suggestion of the 
Task and Finish Group that a request be directed to the Internal Audit 
department to undertake this. 

7.4 The Task and Finish Group thus agreed to concentrate on identifying what 
went wrong, if anything, and try and establish the root cause of both 
overspends and whether any lessons have been learned. 

7.5 At the scrutiny meeting on 22nd January, the Senior Structures Engineer was 
asked to comment on the “Both Capital Projects appear beset by 
inaccuracies…” statement of the Portfolio Member in his referral to the 
scrutiny committee. When asked by the committee whether he agreed with 
this statement the Senior Structures Engineer said that he did not think that 
the statement related to the Pontygwaith project, but rather the Brandy Bridge 
project. This was not contested by the Cabinet Member, who was present 
throughout the meeting. As such the Task and Finish Group understood this 
to mean that the “inaccuracy” comments only related to the Brandy Bridge 
project.

7.6 As can be seen in the section starting at 4.3 above, soon after the work 
started on the Brandy Bridge project it was discovered that the condition of 
the bridge was far worse than imagined and additional work was required. 
This is despite the survey in 2015 being quite extensive. 

7.7 The Chief Officer (Neighbourhood Services) agreed with the Senior Structures 
Engineer that the additional costs were directly attributable to the unforeseen 
works and that the Engineering department had carried out all the due diligent 
checks they could and could not have seen the extent until the concrete was 
physically removed. If they had known the true picture of the condition of the 

Page 27



24

bridge at the outset and they had tendered that work, then the project cost 
would have come back at around the £800,000 mark. 

7.8 In respect of the Pontygwaith Retaining Wall Scheme a number of factors -
seem to have contributed to the problems that were encountered. These 
included the slag material in the road construction, the highway draining 
system behind the retaining wall failing, and the unexpected shelf at the 
bedrock level. In addition the Task and Finish Group was informed that 
inaccurate information on the Pontygwaith wall scheme was held by the 
Engineering department. The information that was kept on file only included 
the initial design and not the As-built drawings or As-built information and this 
only became apparent once construction work had started. The Task and 
Finish Group was informed that it is it is standard practice to revise and 
update all drawings and information on completion of any project, but this did 
not happen during previous work in 2010. 

7.9 The Task and Finish Group is reassured that the Engineering department now 
revises and updates all drawings and information on completion of any project 
to prevent another situation of this kind. The Senior Structures Engineer 
however does not believe that this message has been shared outside of the 
department and as such this needs to be done. 

7.10 The Task and Finish Group asked for details of other major projects in the 
County Borough over the last 5 years (see APPENDIX II). The Task and 
Finish Group did not go into detail and analyse in depth the information 
provided but wanted to get an idea whether there was any obvious 
overspending trend in schemes or projects. 

7.11 From the information provided and after discussions with the Chief Finance 
Officer there was no overspending trend in schemes or projects. The Chief 
Finance Officer commented that generally in respect of capital budgets, the 
Authority would normally be better able to accommodate any overspends but 
this has not been the case with the two projects under review in this report.

.7.12 Reporting of overspend. The Senior Structures Engineer advised that he 
would normally raise any concerns at an early stage with the Engineering 
Manager and they would contact the relevant Accountant to discuss the 
issues and potential overspend. The Chief Finance Officer advised that 
Capital Monitoring reports are prepared and go to Cabinet every quarter. In 
addition the Leader and the Cabinet Member for Governance and Corporate 
Services sit on the Budget Board where capital updates are also provided.

Capital projects are also reported to the Major Projects Board which meets 
monthly. The Board is chaired by the Deputy Chief Executive and attendees 
would include Senior Officers, but no Members would normally attend. All 
officers who have major capital projects will be in attendance at the meetings.

The Chief Finance Officer said that he would also expect that the Chief 
Officers would keep their Cabinet Portfolio Members abreast of matters 
relating the projects as well. The Task and Finish Group too would expect that 
the Cabinet member would be kept up to date on operational issues, and 

Page 28



25

indeed on progress where overspends as experienced with the two schemes 
highlighted in this report.

7.13 As per the Councils Constitution, the Chief Finance Officer is responsible for 
providing appropriate financial information to enable the Capital Programme 
to be monitored effectively. He or she must monitor and control expenditure 
against the Programme and report to the Cabinet on the overall position on a 
quarterly basis. Where, during the course of completion of a project, the 
approved cost of the scheme is likely to be exceeded, the relevant section(s) 
of the ‘Procurement and Contracting Rules’ must be adhered to. These 
requirements have been adhered to with an example being the report to 
Cabinet on 22nd November 2017 mentioned earlier in this report.  

7.14 The Task and Finish Group heard that anyone could monitor the Authority’s 
approved Capital Programme by looking at the Councils reports and minutes 
as these reports are not exempt. Contractors for example are able to identify 
the name of a scheme and the budget that has been allocated for any 
particular scheme, which could assist any contractor or supplier when they 
determine whether they wish to put in a tender for the project or scheme. 
Whilst the T&F Group understands that the Authority needs to be open and 
transparent it would question whether submitting this type of information in 
non-exempt reports is potentially “showing our hand” before necessarily 
having to do so. Again the T&F Group must add that it does not consider that 
this is the case with the schemes in question, but felt that it should highlight 
the potential situation where the Authority is identifying what budget it has for 
a project or scheme before the tender process starts.

7.15 From the limited review that the T&F Group has undertaken it is evident that 
in respect of both schemes the additional costs were mainly attributable to the 
unforeseen works. A further factor adding to the issues encountered at the 
Pontygwaith Retaining Wall Scheme was the inaccurate information held by 
the department when records were not amended following previous work. 
How much this contributed to the additional work was not investigated by the 
T&F Group, but the Group was pleased to see that all information is now 
being recorded to prevent another situation of this kind happening again.

7.16 In respect of whether there are sufficient reporting mechanisms in place for 
overspends to be identified and then subsequent action to be carried out, the 
T&F Group feels that reporting methods appear to be sufficient i.e. Capital 
Monitoring reports, the Budget Board meetings, the Major Projects Board, and 
Department meetings with the Cabinet Member. 

7.17 However it will be a recommendation of this T&F Group that scrutiny receives 
regular updates on any significant project underspends/overspends in order 
that it may challenge the position i.e. it will monitor the capital and revenue 
budgets during the year against initial projections and where overspends and 
underspends are identified it will challenge the reasons behind them to ensure 
that spending is effectively contributing to corporate priorities e.g. what are the 
reasons for the overspends / underspends?; what impact has this had on the 
achievement of the Council’s plans and policies?; what is the risk to the 
Council?; what can be done to ensure this does not happen again?.

Page 29



26

7.18 As mentioned above the T&F Group has been advised that the additional 
costs for both schemes are directly attributable to the unforeseen works. The 
T&F Group are not experts in construction or engineering and have no reason 
to disagree with the Chief Finance Officer that it is at the early stages when 
the surveys are carried out that we as an Authority need to be as robust and 
rigorous as we possibly can, nor do they disagree with his comment that 
officers were probably already doing this.

7.19 Perhaps consideration can be given to whether amending the contractual 
documentation could offer any or better protection for the Authority against 
overspends. Whether projects or schemes will come in within budget might 
well depend on the quality and detail of the initial surveys and contractual 
documentation.

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

8.1 There are no financial implications as a result of this report. This is a scrutiny 
report for Cabinet to consider and take action as it deems necessary. 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

9.1 Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) form has been prepared for the purpose 
of this report. The outcomes are summarised below. The form can be 
accessed on the council’s website/intranet via the ‘equality impact 
assessment’ link.

Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee (Task 
and Finish Group)

Councillor Declan Sammon (Chair), 

Councillor Malcolm Colbran, 

Councillor John Thomas

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 30



27

APPENDIX I

From: Barry, Andrew (Councillor) 
Sent: 26 November 2017 18:28
Subject: Capital Project Scrutiny Referral (Brandy Bridge, Road Slip - South of Pontygwaith)

You will be aware of the Capital Monitoring Report 2017/18 (Quarter 2), brought to 
Cabinet 22nd November 2017. The report outlines the period ending 30th 
September 2017 with its projected overspend of £426,000.

The standout project over spends are the £313,000 in respect of the Brandy Bridge 
outlined in the Cabinet report 25th October 2017. The other being the £176,000 on 
the Road Slippage, South of Pontygwaith.

The detail, of particularly, the Pontygwaith Project, are somewhat disturbing, 
particularly in respect of the Engineering presentation given at Budget Board on 15th 
November 2017.

Both Capital Projects appear beset by inaccuracies in the information provided, 
problems with design and construction methods, unforeseen problems and 
apparently plain bad luck.

With the amount of Capital Projects required by this Authority over the coming years, 
over spends of this magnitude are simply not affordable from any perspective. I am 
told we have learned lessons!

Page 31



28

We as an administration, as a central theme, aim for openness and transparency. 
We intend to refer both Projects to Scrutiny, Audit and Internal Audit to analyse what 
went wrong and establish the root cause of both overspends.

Will all Officers take your respective leads by communicating your requirements 
between each other and feedback progression and required action via your Cabinet 
Portfolio Members.

Regards

Cllr Andrew Barry
Cabinet Member for Finance, Governance, Legal & H.R.

Councillor / Cynghorydd Andrew Barry (Town Ward)

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, Civic Centre,
Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

APPENDIX II

Project Designer Contractor Budget / 
Funding 
Source 

Tender Sum Contract 
Sum 

Within 
Budget 

Cyfarthfa Park 
Footpath 
Improvements 
- 2013 

Company13 J Company B £284,387 
(External) 

£238,230 £284,141 Yes 

Cyfarthfa Park 
Ponds - 2014 

Company A Company B £127,600 
(External) 

£89,794 £115,017 Yes 

Cyfarthfa Park 
Walled garden 
Phase 1 - 2014 

Company14 K Company B £420,000 
(External) 

£383,755 £478,743 No 

Rhydycar Road 
Bridge 
Expansion 
Joints - 2015 

Company J Company L £76,910 
(MTCBC 
Structures 
Revenue) 

£71,735 60,260 Yes 

Brandy Bridge 
Phase 1 - 2014 

Company J Company B £250,000 
(MTCBC 
Capital) 

£115,878 £155,614 Yes 

Cyfarthfa Park 
Walled Garden 
Phase 2 - 2015 

Company K Company B £250,000 
(External) 

£342,301 £439,858 No 

Pontygwaith Company15 L Company L £320,000 £280,765 £300,170 Yes 

13 Company J = MTCBC – Engineering
14 Company K = Nicholas Pearson Partnership
15 Company L = Marton Civil Engineering

Page 32



29

Retaining wall 
- 2015 

(MTCBC 
Capital) 

Cyfarthfa Park 
Drainage 
scheme - 2015 

Company J Company D £60,000 
(External) 

£59,343 £59,285 Yes 

Fiddlers Elbow 
Bridge 
Expansion 
Joints - 2016 

Company A Company B £2m but 
additional 
work 
requested 
(MTCBC & 
RCT Capital) 

£1,942,169 £2,475,735 
Budget 
provided, 
MTCBC - 
£1.16m, 
RCT -
£1.32m 

Yes 

Pontygwaith 
Retaining Wall 
-2017 

Company H Company G £517,000 
(MTCBC 
Capital) 

£382,439 £769,602 No 

Brandy Bridge 
Phase 2 - 2017 

Company F Company B £496,738 
(MTCBC 
Capital) 

£337,635 £810,490 No 

Nant Mafon 
Road Bridge 
Strengthening 

Company16 M Company M £100,000 
(MTCBC 
Capital) 

£66,488 £68,182 Yes 

16 Company M = Goldhawk Bridge Restoration

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Scrutiny Report - Review of Attendance & 
Attainment in Primary & Secondary Schools

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The Learning & LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee established a Task and Finish Group 
(T&FG) to undertake a review of attendance within primary & secondary schools 
across the County Borough area, to determine whether low rates of attendance were 
contributing to a corresponding level of attainment within our schools.

1.2 Attending school regularly has a positive impact on learning. Good attendance is key 
to helping pupils have the best possible chance in life and maximise their potential, 
both in terms of academic achievement and future employability.  

1.3 The T&FG decided to analyse recent and meaningful attendance data rather than 
outdated historical data and consequently the review included in depth analysis of 
primary and secondary school data covering the two year period 2015/16 and 
2016/17.

1.4 In terms of Primary School attendance, Merthyr Tydfil CBC was ranked 22nd out of 
22 Welsh Local Authorities in 2015/16 and 2016/17. The overall attendance level 
within Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s twenty two primary schools was 94.21% in 2015/16 and 
94.29% in 2016/17. The effect of these levels of attendance was that during the two 
year period analysed, on average each primary school pupil across the County 
Borough would have missed the equivalent of just under 11 days of school in both 
2015/16 and 2016/17.  This would equate to just under 50 lessons being missed per 
pupil per year, which is a considerable amount of education to lose.

Date Written 21st  June 2018
Report Author Learning & LAESCYP T&FG
Committee Division Scrutiny
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 25th July 2018

Page 35

Agenda Item 4



1.5 In terms of overall attendance for Secondary Schools, MTCBC has been occupying 
bottom position within the Central South Consortium since 2013/14. Evidence shows 
that in 2015/16 MTCBC was placed 19th out of 22 Local Authorities in Wales, and 
22nd out of 22 in 2016/17.

1.6 Average attendance in Secondary schools throughout the Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council area has declined over the past two years.  During 2015/16 
average overall attendance of the four secondary schools was 93.39% and in 
2016/17 it was 93%.  These percentage figures fell short of the Welsh Government 
attendance target of 95% set in 2011.

1.7 In 2016/17 all four of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough’s Secondary schools failed to 
achieve their attendance targets, which each school set in conjunction with Central 
South Consortium Challenge Advisors. The 2016/17 overall target for Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC was 94.50%.

1.8 Persistent absence appears to be a major problem within Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s 
Secondary schools.  The percentage of persistent absentees for Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC’s Secondary Schools is 6.01% (target for 2015/16 was 3.00%). Therefore, the 
6.01% achieved and reported on above is over twice the target set for 2015/16. The 
table also shows that the all Wales average for persistent absentees was 3.90%.

1.9 An analysis of Fixed Penalty Notices (FPN’s) during the period September 2016 – 
July 2017 shows that there is a lack of consistency in the way that regulations 
governing the criteria for issuing FPN’s are being implemented by MTCBC schools 
and the Local Authority. This lack of consistency needs to change if meaningful 
improvements in the present levels of unauthorised absences are to materialise.

1.10 If the Authority’s stated ambition to be ranked within the top 10 performing Local 
Authorities in Wales by 2020 is to be achieved, then attendance levels need to 
improve significantly.

1.11 The T&FG supports the Inclusion Manager’s closing statement to this review i.e. 
“School Leadership is key to driving further improvement. Should there continue to 
be no, or poor improvement with regards to attendance, then Schools and Governing 
Bodies will be held to account through case conferences.”  

1.12 The T&FG has decided not to include recommendations within this report which are 
intended to secure improvements to the poor attendance levels identified within 
many of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough’s schools. This decision was made as action 
is already being taken by the Inclusion Manager aimed at improving the attendance 
issues that had existed for some time. Section 13.0 of this report “IMPROVED 
ATTENDANCE LEVELS WITHIN OUR SCHOOLS - THE WAY FORWARD” reflects 
those actions developed and implemented by the Education Department.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The contents of this report are noted.

Page 36



2.2 Regular updates on the actions as listed at “13.3 Actions Developed and 
Implemented by the Inclusion Manager” be reported to the Learning & LAESCYP 
Scrutiny Committee and as such included in the Committees annual work 
programme.

Page Contents Para

4 Background 3.0

4 Introduction  4.0

5 An Outline of Primary School Attendance Levels in Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC                                                    

5.0

5 Analysis of Attendance covering the periods 2015/16 and 2016/17 6.0
6 Group 1 6.2
6 Group 2 6.3
8 Group 3 6.4
9 Range of Primary School Attendance Levels 6.5

10 The Overall Effect of Poor Attendance in Primary Schools 6.6

11 Analysis of Primary Outcomes covering the periods 2015/16 & 2016/17 7.0
11 Group 1 7.1
12 Group 2 7.2
13 Group 3 7.3

14 Conclusions Reached by Task & Finish Group – Primary Schools 8.0

16 A Brief Analysis of specific areas associated with Attendance in
Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s Primary Schools

9.0

16 Pupils Eligible for Free School Meals (FSM’s) 9.2
21 Authorised and Unauthorised Absence 9.3
24 Persistent Absence Primary Schools 9.4
25 Fixed Penalty Notices (FPN’s) 9.5

26 Analysis of Secondary Schools Attendance covering the two year 
period 2015/16 and 2016/17.

10.0

29 Analysis of Secondary Schools Outcomes covering the two year 
period 2015/16 and 2016/17.

11.0

31 Conclusions Reached by Task & Finish Group – Secondary Schools 12.0

32 Improved Attendance Levels within our Schools - The Way Forward 13.0

3.0 BACKGROUND 

3.1 At a meeting of the Learning & LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee held on Monday 4 
September 2017, members of the Committee agreed that a Task & Finish Group 
(T&FG) be convened to undertake a review of attendance within primary & 
secondary schools across the County Borough area, to determine whether low rates 
of attendance were contributing to a corresponding level of attainment within our 
schools. It was further agreed that membership of the T&FG should be Councillors 

Page 37



Harvey Jones, Chris Davies and Sherelle Jago; and that members of this group 
would provide a verbal update to Committee members at each subsequent Scrutiny 
meeting, prior to the final report being produced.

4.0 INTRODUCTION 

4.1 Attending school regularly has a positive impact on learning.   Good attendance is 
key to helping pupils have the best possible chance in life and maximise their 
potential, both in terms of academic achievement and future employability.  It goes 
without saying that if students are not in school, they are not learning. If they are not 
genuinely ill they should be in school and working their hardest to achieve their best, 
no matter what year group they are in. The process of education is life-long and we 
build on what we already know.  If students’ miss school they are damaging their 
future.

4.2 Welsh Government set a target for attendance of 95% back in 2011.  In the Merthyr 
Tydfil County Borough Council Annual Performance Report 2016/17, included on the 
Full Council agenda dated 27 September 2017, the former Chief Officer for Learning, 
Dorothy Haines, makes an important observation at page 127 when reporting on the 
Local Authority improvement objectives for 2013 to 2017. With regard to Priority Area 
1 – Raising Standards of Attainment, she states: - “The judgement for outcomes 
overall is no better than adequate because rates of attendance remain too low”.   
In a Scrutiny (Learning & LAESCYP) Report dated 23 October 2017 at page 56, the 
Inclusion Manager, Sarah Bowen reinforces the low attendance issue:-  “Rates of 
attendance in primary and secondary schools vary and remain low overall despite 
support, advice and guidance. Different actions are needed to hold schools to 
account where necessary”.

4.3 Therefore, it is the responsibility of everyone in our schools – staff, governors, pupils 
and parents, as well as senior officers within the Learning Department itself, to 
ensure that every effort is made to achieve the Welsh Government target of 95% 
attendance at school and to subsequently progress towards achieving the 
attendance target set by each school in conjunction with Central South Consortium 
Challenge Advisors, who are assigned to each school in the Local Authority area. 
The significance of this statement becomes even more apparent when one considers 
the following situation:-

“Based on the statutory number of 190 school days per annum, a pupil with 90% 
attendance will have missed 19 days of schooling during that year. Between entering 
primary school in the reception class,   to the end of primary education in year 6, a 
pupil with an average attendance of 90% will have missed 133 full days of school. 
This is over half a year of learning.” (Estyn publication June 2015, “Effective practice 
in improving attendance in primary schools”)

At the commencement of the review, the T&FG members decided to review primary 
school attendance before moving on to consider secondary school attendance.

Page 38



5.0 AN OUTLINE OF PRIMARY SCHOOL ATTENDANCE LEVELS IN 
MERTHYR TYDFIL CBC.

5.1 For the purpose of this review, members of the T&FG decided to analyse recent and 
meaningful attendance data rather than outdated historical data, as it was felt that 
within the limited time available to complete this review, no useful purpose would be 
served by considering past rather than present data. Consequently, the review will 
include in depth analysis of primary school data covering at the most, the two year 
period 2015/16 and 2016/17.

5.2 Attendance in primary schools throughout the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council  
area has improved overall over the past five years, albeit from a low base.  During 
the most recent two year period, average attendance in 2015/2016 was 94.21% and 
in 2016/17 was 94.29%.  However, these figures fell short of the Welsh Government 
attendance target of 95% set in 2011. In 2016/17 all of Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s twenty 
two primary schools failed to achieve their school attendance targets, which each 
school set in conjunction with Central South Consortium Challenge Advisors.

5.3 Of the five local authorities comprising the Central South Consortium (CSC), in terms 
of attendance Merthyr Tydfil CBC was placed 5th in 2015/16 (CSC average 
attendance 2015/16 was 94.90%) In 2016/17 the Local Authority was again placed in 
5th position (CSC average attendance 2016/17 was 94.90%)

5.4 The average Primary school attendance level of 94.21% saw  Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s 
primary schools placed 22nd out of 22 Welsh Local Authorities in 2015/16 (Wales 
average attendance 2015/16 was 94.90%).  The Local Authority was again placed 
22nd in 2016/17 with an average school attendance level of 94.29% against a Wales 
average attendance level of once again 94.90%.

6.0 ANALYSIS OF ATTENDANCE COVERING THE PERIODS 2015/16 
AND 2016/17

6.1 For ease of understanding, The T&FG decided to place all twenty two primary 
schools into three specific groups (1-3) based on the level of attendance achieved by 
each school over the two year period of the analysis.  Group 1 Table (1) below 
shows Attendance of the first group, which includes those schools that exceeded the 
Welsh Government attendance target of 95% in 2015/16 and 2016/17.  

Page 39



6.2 Group 1 - Table (1) 

Primary School Attendance  
%age 2015/16

Attendance  %age 
2016/17

FSM Group

Cyfarthfa Park 95.45 95.82 2
Heolgerrig 95.70 95.71 2
Troedyrhiw 95.11 95.28 3
Ysgol Santes Tudful 94.94 95.25 2

MTCBC Average 94.21 94.29

Wales Average 94.90 94.90

CSC Average 94.90 94.90

Table (1A)

Primary School School Target Attendance 
%age  2016/17

School Target Attendance %age   
2017/18

Cyfarthfa Park 96.00 95.50
Heolgerrig 96.00 95.50
Troedyrhiw 95.50 95.50
Ysgol Santes Tudful 95.30 95.50

6.2.1 Analysis of the attendance data in Table 1 above shows that three primary schools in 
the Merthyr Tydfil CBC area, exceeded the Welsh Government attendance target of 
95% in 2015/16.  One primary school narrowly missed the Welsh Government target 
in 2015/16 but exceeded the target in 2016/17. This meant that all four primary 
schools featured in Table 1, exceeded the Welsh Government target of 95% in 
2016/17.  It can also be seen in Table 1 that all four primary schools exceeded the 
Merthyr Tydfil CBC, Wales and Consortium average attendance levels for 2015/16 
and 2016/17.

6.2.2 However, Table 1A above shows that all four primary schools failed to reach the 
school attendance target in 2016/17 set by each school in conjunction with the 
Central South Consortium Challenge Advisors.  Updated school attendance targets 
have been agreed for 2017/18   

6.2.3 Three of the four primary schools included in Table 1 above, that exceeded the 
Welsh Government target of 95% are in FSM Group 2.  One school is in FSM Group 
3.

6.3 Group 2 – Table 2

6.3.1 The second group of schools to be analysed, included seven primary schools that 
achieved an attendance level of between 93.65% and 94.93% over the two year 
period. Most were close to achieving the Welsh Government attendance target of 
95%, particularly in 2016/17.

Page 40



Table (2)

Primary School Attendance %age 
2015/16

Attendance %age 
2016/17

FSM Group

Abercanaid 94.74 94.93 2
Caedraw 94.38 94.61 3
Gwaunfarren 94.75 94.69 3
Trelewis 94.48 94.70 3
Dowlais 93.65 94.17 3
St Aloysius RC 93.77 94.53 4
St Mary’s RC 93.67 94.29 2

MTCBC Average 94.21 94.29

Wales Average 94.90 94.90

CSC Average 94.90 94.90

Table (2A)

Primary School School Target Attendance 
%age  

2016/17

School Target Attendance 
%age 

 2017/18
Abercanaid 96.00 95.50
Caedraw 95.50 95.50
Gwaunfarren 95.50 95.50
Trelewis 95.30 95.50
Dowlais 95.50 95.50
St Aloysius RC 95.30 95.50
St Mary’s RC 95.10 95.50

6.3.2 Table (2) above includes four  primary schools in the Merthyr Tydfil CBC area,  that 
in 2015/16 were close to achieving the Welsh Government attendance target of 95%,  
by achieving an attendance percentage ranging between 94.38% and 94.75%.  The 
Table also shows that in 2016/17 all seven primary schools were close to achieving 
the Welsh Government target of 95% when each school achieved over 94% 
attendance. 

6.3.3  It can also be seen in Table 2 that all seven primary schools failed to achieve the 
Wales and Consortium average attendance levels for 2015/16. However, all seven 
primary schools exceeded the Merthyr Tydfil CBC average attendance performance 
in 2015/16. 

6.3.4 Only one school in the group exceeded the Wales & Central South Consortium 
average attendance levels in 2016/17. All but two of the seven schools exceeded the 
Merthyr Tydfil CBC average attendance performance in 2016/17.                     

Page 41



6.3.5 Two of the seven primary schools included in Table 2 are in FSM Group 2;  four are 
in FSM Group 3 and one is in FSM Group 4. 

6.3.6 Table 2A above shows that all seven primary schools failed to reach the school 
attendance target in 2016/17 set by each school in conjunction with the Central 
South Consortium Challenge Advisors. Updated school attendance targets have 
been agreed for 2017/18.

6.4 Group 3 – Table 3

6.4.1 This is the third and final group, which includes eleven of the twenty two primary 
schools in the Merthyr Tydfil CBC area. 

Table (3)

Primary School Attendance % age 
2015/16

Attendance % age 
2016/17

FSM Group

Bedlinog 93.76 93.69 3
Edwardsville 93.06 92.80 3
Goetre 93.97 93.89 5
Pantysgallog 93.47 93.59 3
Twynyrodyn 93.69 93.57 3
Ynysowen 93.54 93.84 4
Coed y Dderwen 93.56 93.48 4
Ysgol y Graig 93.51 93.97 3
Gellifaelog 94.31 93.10 4
St Illtyds 94.14 93.89 4
Rhyd – Y- Grug 94.32 93.89 2

MTCBC Average 94.21 94.29

Wales Average 94.90 94.90

CSC Average 94.90 94.90

Table (3A)

Primary School School Target 
Attendance  % age 

2016/17

School Target 
Attendance   % age

 2017/18
Bedlinog 94.50 95.50
Edwardsville 95.00 95.50
Goetre 95.00 95.50
Pantysgallog 95.00 95.50
Twynyrodyn 95.60 95.50
Ynysowen 95.20 95.50
Coed y Dderwen 95.00 95.50
Ysgol y Graig 95.30 95.50
Gellifaelog 95.10 95.50
St Illtyds 95.30 95.50
Rhyd – Y- Grug 95.00 95.50

Page 42



6.4.2 Table (3) above shows that at eight of the eleven primary schools, attendance levels 
were below 94% in 2015/16. Three schools exceeded 94% attendance in 2015/16. In 
2016/17 all eleven schools were below 94% attendance.   Table 3 also shows that in 
2015/16 attendance levels at nine of the eleven primary schools were below the 
average attendance level for primary schools in Merthyr Tydfil. (94.21%) In 2016/17 
attendance levels at all eleven primary schools were below the average attendance 
level for primary schools in Merthyr Tydfil. (94.29%)

6.4.3 It can also be seen in Table 3 that within this group of eleven primary schools, no 
school exceeded the Wales or Central South Consortium average attendance levels 
for 2015/16.  All eleven schools failed to exceed the Merthyr Tydfil CBC, Central 
South Consortium and Wales average attendance levels in 2016/17.   It is also 
evident that not one of the eleven schools reached the Welsh Government 
attendance target of 95%. 

6.4.4 Of the eleven primary schools included in Table 3 above, one is in FSM Group 2,  
five are in FSM Group 3,  four schools are in FSM Group 4 and one is in FSM Group 
5.  

6.4.5  Table 3A above shows that all eleven primary schools failed to reach the school 
attendance target in 2016/17 set by each school in conjunction with the Central 
South Consortium Challenge Advisors. Updated school attendance targets have 
been agreed for 2017/18. 

6.5 Range of Primary School Attendance Levels

6.5.1 (a) Group 1, Table 1 (4 Primary Schools) 
The Attendance Range for this group of four primary schools was as follows:- 
2015/16 :  94.94% - 95.70%
2016/17: 95.25% – 95.82%
Comment:- Upward trend in 2016/17 that exceeded the Welsh Government 
target of 95% for the second consecutive year.

(b)  Group 2, Table 2 (7 Primary Schools) 
The Attendance Range for this group of seven primary schools was as 
follows:- 
2015/16:  93.65% - 94.75%
2016/17:  94.17% – 94. 93%
Comment:- Upward trend in 2016/17 that is close to the Welsh Government 
target of 95%

(c) Group 3, Table 3 (11 Primary Schools) 
The Attendance Range for this group of 11 primary schools was as follows:- 
2015/16 : 93.06% – 94.32%
2016/17 : 92.80% – 93.97%
Comment:- Downward trend in 2016/17 that falls far short of the Welsh 
Government target of 95%

Page 43



6.6 The Overall Effect of Poor Attendance in Primary Schools

6.6.1 As part of the introduction associated with this assessment,  a  quotation was 
included from a previous Estyn report,  that is well worth repeating because of its 
significant importance in helping one understand the effects of poor attendance 
within primary schools:-

“Based on the statutory number of 190 school days per annum, a pupil with 90% 
attendance will have missed 19 days of schooling during that year. Between entering 
primary school in the reception class,   to the end of primary education in year 6, a 
pupil with an average attendance of 90% will have missed 133 full days of school. 
This is over half a year of learning.” (Estyn publication June 2015, “Effective practice 
in improving attendance in primary schools”)

6.6.2 Table 4 overleaf contains a list of Annual Attendance rates together with the effects 
of these rates in terms of days missed from school and the corresponding lessons 
missed by pupils. This information hopefully forms a useful guide when assessing 
the effects of attendance at any of the 22 primary schools included in Tables 1, 2 
and 3 above.

Table 4.

Annual Attendance Result for the whole academic year

100% Not missing any lessons

99% Missing around 10 lessons

98% Missing around 20 lessons

Green

97% Missing around 30 lessons

96%
Missing about 8 days of school. This equates up to 

40 lessons.

95%
Missing about 10 days of school. This equates up to 

45 lessons

94% Missing about 12 days of school. This equates up to 
50 lessons

Amber

93% Missing about 14 days of school. A significant 
amount of education to lose.

Page 44



90-92%
Missing more than 3 weeks of school. A significant 

amount of education to lose.

86-89%
Missing between 4 and 6 weeks. A serious loss of 

learning which is likely to have a detrimental effect 
on achievement and life chances 

95 Lessons missed

81 -85% Missing between 6 and 8 weeks. A serious loss of 
learning which is likely to have a detrimental effect 

on achievement and life chances 
145 Lessons missed

Red

80% and 
below

Missing more than 8 weeks. A serious loss of 
learning which is likely to have a detrimental effect 
on achievement and life chances 

190 Lessons missed

7.0 ANALYSIS OF PRIMARY OUTCOMES COVERING THE PERIODS 
2015/16 & 2016

7.1 Group 1 (Outcomes covering the periods 2015/16 and 2016/17 )

7.1.1 In Table (1) above, the analysis identified a group of four primary schools, (Group 1) 
that exceeded the Welsh Government attendance target of 95%.  In the table 
produced below, we show the outcomes associated with the same group of schools.

Table (5) 

     Primary School Foundation Phase
Percentage achieving       

FPOI
2015/16       2016/17

Key Stage 2
 Percentage achieving
                    CSI
2015/16        2016/17

  FSM 
Group

Cyfarthfa Park 96.36                       95.00 97.62                         94.55 2
Heolgerrig 100.00                     100.00 92.59                        100.00 2
Troedyrhiw 90.48                       90.00 86.21                         92.31 3
Ysgol Santes Tudful 92.50                       93.90 94.12                         98.28 2

MTCBC Average 89.06                        88.10 89.20                          90.20

Wales Average 86.98                        87.30 88.60                          89.50

CSC Average 88.60                        88.60 89.50                          90.20

Page 45



7.1.2 Analysis of Outcomes

Examination of the data for all four primary schools included in Table 5 above shows 
that in 2015/16 and 2016/17, at Foundation Phase the proportion of pupils aged 
between 5 and 7 years, who achieved the expected level of Outcome 5 or above for 
the Foundation Phase Outcome Indicator (FPOI), was above the Merthyr Tydfil CBC, 
Wales and Consortium average outcome performances. 

Table 5 also shows that at Key Stage 2, the proportion of pupils aged between 7 and 
11 years old achieving at least the expected level (Level 4 or above) for the Core 
Subject Indicator (CSI) was also above the Merthyr Tydfil CBC, Wales and 
Consortium average performances in three of the four primary schools in 2015/16 
(75%) and all four primary schools (100%) in 2016/17.

7.2 Group 2 (Outcomes covering the periods 2015/16 and 2016/17)

7.2.1 In table (2) above, the analysis identified a group of seven primary schools, (Group 
2) where attendance was close to achieving the Welsh Government attendance 
target of 95%.  In the table produced below, we show the outcomes associated with 
the same group of schools.

Table (6) 

       Primary School

Foundation Phase
Percentage achieving

FP01
 2015/16            2016/17

Key Stage 2
Percentage achieving

CSI
2015/16                2016/17

FSM 
Group

Abercanaid 91.67                         78.95 92.86                          96.67 2
Caedraw 84.00                         86.67 95.00                          89.66 3
Gwaunfarren 86.96                         86.21 87.88                          97.14 3
Trelewis 92.31                         86.67 93.55                        100.00 3
Dowlais 89.74                         94.70 78.57                          78.79 3
St Aloysius RC 91.67                         94.44 89.47                          89.47 4
St Mary’s RC 94.74                         95.83 96.67                          95.00 2

MTCBC Average 89.06                          88.10 89.20                           90.20

Wales Average 86.98                          87.30 88.60                           89.50

CSC Average 88.60                          88.60 89.50                           90.20

7.2.2 Analysis of Outcomes

Examination of the outcomes for all seven primary schools included in Table 6 above 
shows that in 2015/16 at Foundation Phase Outcome Indicator (FPOI),   five of the 
seven primary schools (71.42%) achieved above the Merthyr Tydfil CBC, Wales and 
Consortium average outcome performances. However in 2016/17 the data shows 
that only three of the seven primary schools (42.85%) exceeded the Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Wales and Consortium average outcome performances. 

Page 46



Table 6 also shows that at Key Stage 2, the proportion of pupils aged between 7 and 
11 years old achieving at least the expected level (Level 4 or above) for the Core 
Subject Indicator (CSI) was above the Merthyr Tydfil CBC, Wales and Consortium 
average performances in four of the seven primary schools (57.15%) in 2015/16 and 
again in 2016/17.

7.3 Group 3 (Outcomes covering the periods 2015/16 and 2016/17 )

7.3.1 In table (3) above, the analysis identified a group of eleven primary schools (Group 
3) where attendance levels were below the Welsh Government attendance target of 
95%. In fact the attendance level achieved by most of this group of primary schools 
was below 94% in 2015/16 and 2016/17.  In the table produced below, we show the 
outcomes associated with the same group of schools.

Table (7) 

        Primary School FP
Percentage achieving

FPOI
2015/16             2016/17

KS 2
Percentage achieving

CSI
2015/16                2016/17

FSM 
Group

Bedlinog 100.00                     54.55 80.00                       84.62 3
Edwardsville 76.74                       76.19 90.70                       88.46 3
Goetre 82.98                       89.83 80.70                       88.60 5
Pantysgallog 96.55                       92.59 100.00                     89.29 3
Twynyrodyn 94.00                       93.02 97.73                       81.24 3
Ynysowen 73.33                       80.00 82.35                       92.59 4
Coed y Dderwen 80.65                       81.82 83.33                       88.89 4
Ysgol y Graig 87.50                       94.44 89.19                       77.78 3
Gellifaelog 97.14                       93.33 90.91                       84.21 4
St Illtyds 86.96                       85.71 86.36                       88.24 4
Rhyd – Y- Grug 95.12                       91.67 93.75                     100.00 2

  
MTCBC Average 89.06                         88.10 89.20                           90.20
Wales Average 86.98                         87.30 88.60                           89.50
CSC Average 88.60                         88.60 89.50                           90.20

7.3.3 Analysis of Outcomes

Examination of the data included in Table 7 above shows that in 2015/16 at 
Foundation Phase, five of the eleven primary schools (45.45%) achieved above the 
Merthyr Tydfil CBC, Wales and Consortium average outcome performances.  In 
2016/17 the data shows that six of the eleven primary schools (54.55%) exceeded 
the Merthyr Tydfil CBC, Wales and Consortium average outcome performances. 

Analysis of the data included in Table 7 above also shows that at KS2 (CSI) in 
2015/16, five of the eleven primary schools (45.45%) exceeded the Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Wales and  Consortium average outcome performances.  In 2016/17, only two 
of the eleven primary schools (18.18%) exceeded the Merthyr Tydfil CBC, Wales 
and Consortium average performances.

Page 47



8.0 CONCLUSIONS REACHED BY TASK & FINISH GROUP

The following  conclusions are provided following  the Task & Finish Group’s  review 
of attendance within Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s Primary Schools for the two year period 
2015/16 and 2016/17:-

8.1 In terms of   Primary School attendance, Merthyr Tydfil CBC was ranked 22nd out of 
22 Welsh Local Authorities in 2015/16 and 2016/17. The overall attendance level 
within Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s twenty two primary schools was 94.21% in 2015/16 and 
94.29% in 2016/17. The effect of these levels of attendance was that during the two 
year period analysed, on average each primary school pupil across the County 
Borough would have missed the equivalent of just under 11 days of school in both 
2015/16 and 2016/17.  This would equate to just under 50 lessons being missed per 
pupil per year, which is a considerable amount of education to lose.

8.2 The conclusion reached for the four schools included in Group 1, as a result of 
analysing the data in Tables 1 and 5, plus the resulting comments provided above is  
that in 2015/16 and 2016/17 this Group of schools produced the best attendance 
levels of all twenty two primary schools within the Merthyr Tydfil CBC area.  All four 
schools exceeded the Welsh Government attendance target of 95% as well as the 
Wales, Central South Consortium and Merthyr Tydfil CBC average attendance 
levels. 
 
The attendance achievements had a positive effect on outcomes at all four schools, 
with each school exceeding the Wales, Central South Consortium and Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC average outcome performances at FPOI and KS2 (CSI)

8.3 For the seven schools included in Group 2,  as a result of analysing the data 
provided in Tables 2 and 6 above and the ensuing comments also provided above, 
the conclusion reached is that  attendance and attainment are both lower than those 
schools included in Groups 1  above. Nevertheless , improvements in attendance 
resulted in these particular schools just missing the Welsh Government attendance 
target of 95% in 2016/17; all seven schools exceeded the Merthyr CBC average 
attendance level in 2015/16 and five of the seven schools in the Group exceeded the 
Merthyr Tydfil CBC average attendance level in 2016/17. However, all seven schools 
failed to achieve the Wales and Central South Consortium average attendance levels 
in 2015/16 and only one school in the Group exceeded the Wales and Central South 
Consortium average attendance levels in 2016/17. 

In terms of outcomes, in 2015/16 five of the seven schools in the Group (71.43%) 
achieved above the average for Merthyr Tydfil CBC, Wales and Central South 
Consortium at Foundation Phase (FPOI).  In 2016/17 this decreased to three of the 
seven schools (42.86%) exceeding the Merthyr Tydfil CBC, Wales and Central South 
Consortium average outcomes.  At KS2 (CSI) in both 2015/16 and 2016/17 four of 
the seven schools (57.14%) achieved above the Merthyr CBC, Wales and Central 
South Consortium average outcomes.

Page 48



8.4 For the eleven schools included in Group 3,  as a result of analysing the data 
provided in Tables 3 and 7 above plus the follow - on comments, the conclusion 
reached is that attendance and attainment are both lower than all those schools 
included in Groups 1 and  2  above. 

In 2015/16 attendance levels at nine of the eleven primary schools in this Group 
were below the average attendance levels for primary schools in Merthyr Tydfil CBC. 
For 2016/17 all eleven schools were below the average attendance level for primary 
schools in Merthyr Tydfil CBC.

In 2015/16 and 2016/17 no school in this Group exceeded the Wales or Central 
South Consortium average attendance levels. Also, no school within the Group got 
close to achieving the Welsh Government attendance target of 95%.

In terms of outcomes, in 2015/16 five of the eleven schools (45.45%) achieved 
above the average for Merthyr Tydfil CBC, Wales and Central South Consortium at 
Foundation Phase (FPOI). In 2016/17 six of the eleven schools (54.55%) exceeded 
the Merthyr Tydfil CBC, Wales and Central South Consortium average outcomes. At 
KS2 (CSI) in 2015/16 five of the eleven schools (45.45%) achieved above the 
Merthyr Tydfil CBC, Wales and Central South Consortium average outcomes. 

In 2016/17 this decreased to only two of the eleven schools (18.18%) within the 
Group.

8.5 The analysis of the available data included above has led to the conclusion that as 
overall absence levels within Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s primary schools increase, the 
average percentage of primary school pupils achieving attainment at the end of   
Foundation Phase (FPO1) and Key Stage 2 (CSI) decreases. 

8.6 The analysis and resulting conclusions have therefore shown conclusively, that there 
is a strong link between overall absence and attainment within Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s 
Primary schools. These conclusions are also supported by an abundance of 
evidence confirming the strong link that exists between overall absence and 
attainment; obtained as a result of research undertaken throughout the UK into the 
subject of attendance and corresponding outcomes within primary schools.

8.7 And finally, statements of the former Chief Officer for Learning and the Inclusion 
Manager included at paragraph 2 of the Introduction to this report,  show both 
officers expressing their deep concerns at the low levels of attendance in Merthyr 
Tydfil CBC’s schools. In fact the issue of low attendance levels within our schools 
extends even further than the two year analysis undertaken by the T&FG,  included 
at the start  of  these  conclusions, which shows MTCBC ranked 22nd out of 22 
Welsh Local Authorities in 2015/16 and 2016/17.  Back in 2014/15 primary school 
attendance was again ranked 22nd out of 22 Welsh Local Authorities. 

8.8 With the Authority’s stated ambition to be ranked within the top 10 Local Authorities 
in Wales by 2020, the attendance levels within the majority of our schools need to 
improve significantly, if this stated ambition is to stand any chance of becoming a 
reality.  

Page 49



8.9 Reflecting on the attendance review description provided in the opening paragraphs,   
members of the Task & Finish Group are satisfied with the analysis methodology 
used and the conclusions reached in Section 8 of this report.  However, the Group 
members considered whether any advantage would be gained from briefly extending 
their deliberations to include some of the other vital areas within the overall 
attendance framework.  Following discussion with the Inclusion Manager, it was 
agreed that members of the Task & Finish Group would briefly pursue this course of 
action.  However, due to the limited time available, it was agreed that the T&FG 
would confine the analysis to the twenty two primary schools.

9.0 A BRIEF ANALYSIS OF SPECIFIC AREAS ASSOCIATED WITH 
ATTENDANCE IN MERTHYR TYDFIL CBC’S PRIMARY SCHOOLS

9.1 Members of the Task & Finish Group decided to briefly examine those areas 
identified below covering the period September 2016 to July 2017.

 Pupils Eligible for Free School Meals (FSM’s) ; (see 9.2)

 Authorised and Unauthorised absence 2016/17 (see 9.3)

 Persistent absence from school;  (see 9.4)

 Fixed Penalty Notices (FPN’s). (see 9.5)

9.2 Pupils Eligible for Free School Meals (FSM’s)  

9.2.1 As part of their assessment, members of the T&FG referred to a Welsh Government 
publication (Academic Achievement Free School Meals, Welsh Government 2017) 
which showed that attainment of primary pupils across Wales eligible for FSM’s,  had 
continually improved between 2010 and 2017. However, the evidence also revealed 
that attainment of those pupils eligible for FSM’s still lagged behind their non eligible 
counterparts.

9.2.2 So, why the variation in attainment between those pupils eligible and those pupils not 
eligible for FSM’s?  This question led the T&FG to analyse data appropriate to 
Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s twenty two primary schools,  to establish whether pupil 
absence could possibly have contributed to the difference in attainment, between 
those pupils eligible for FSM’s and those pupils not eligible for FSM’s. 

9.2.3 The academic year selected for the analysis was September 2016 to July 2017.  The 
T&FG commenced its analysis by examining attendance data. This was followed by 
an analysis of attainment, before finally providing some resulting conclusions. For 
consistency the primary schools included in each of the Tables that follow, are 
identical to those schools included in the opening Tables of this review.

Page 50



9.2.4 Analysis of Attendance Data 2016/17

Group 1 Table (8)

     Primary School/  
         FSM Group

Attendance %age
(all statutory 

pupils)

   
2016/17

Pupils Not
Eligible for FSM’s

Attendance %age

2016/17

Pupils
Eligible for FSM’s

Attendance %age

2016/17

Cyfarthfa Park           2 95.82 95.85 95.55
Heolgerrig                  2 95.71 95.82 94.87
Troedyrhiw                3 95.28 95.65 93.57
Ysgol Santes Tudful  2 95.25 95.50 92.80
MTCBC Average 94.29 94. 63 93.03

Other relevant data
Total pupils within schools included in Table 8 = 797
No. of pupils not eligible for FSM’s = 699 (87.70%)
No. of pupils eligible for FSM’s = 98 (12.30%)

Group 2 Table (9)

Primary School /
FSM Group

Attendance  
%age

(all statutory 
pupils )

2016/17

Primary Pupils 
Not

Eligible for FSM’s
Attendance %age

2016/17

Primary Pupils
Eligible for FSM’s
Attendance %age

2016/17

Abercanaid 2 94.93 95.11 93.10
Caedraw 3 94.61 94.67 94.40
Gwaunfarren 3 94.69 95.10 93.76
Trelewis 3 94.70 94.95 93.20
Dowlais 3 94.17 94.48 92.87
St Aloysius RC 4 94.53 94.65 94.27
St Mary’s RC 2 94.29 94.34 94.17
MTCBC Average 94.29 94. 63 93.03

Other relevant data
Total pupils within schools included in Table 9 =1037
No. of pupils not eligible for FSM’s = 862 (83.12%)
 No. of pupils eligible for FSM’s = 175 (16.88%)

Page 51



Group 3 Table (10)

     

Primary School /

 FSM Group

Attendance  
%age

(all statutory 
pupils)

2016/17

Primary Pupils 
Not

Eligible for FSM’s
Attendance % age

2016/17

Primary Pupils
Eligible for FSM’s
Attendance %age

        2016/17

Bedlinog 3 93.69 93.61 94.09
Edwardsville 3 92.80 93.23 90.50
Goetre 5 93.89 94.56 93.29
Pantysgallog 3 93.59 94.23 91.10
Twynyrodyn 3 93.57 93.76 92.37
Ynysowen 4 93.84 94.04 93.37
Coed y Dderwen 4 93.48 93.98 91.99
Ysgol y Graig 3 93.97 94.88 91.27
Gellifaelog 4 93.10 93.78 91.67
St Illtyds 4 93.89 94.07 93.29
Rhyd – Y- Grug 2 93.89 94.00 93.19
MTCBC Average 94.29 94. 63 93.03

Other relevant data:-
Total pupils within schools included in Table 10.= 1868 
No. of pupils not eligible for FSM = 1408 (75.38%)
No. of pupils eligible for FSM = 460 (24.62%)

Other relevant data:-
 No. of Statutory pupils within MTCBC’s 22 primary schools included in Tables 8, 9 and 10 above = 3702 
Total No. of pupils not eligible for FSM’s = 2969 (80.20%)
Total No. of pupils eligible for FSM’s = 733 (19.80%)

9.2.5 Findings – Attendance Data

Analysis of attendance data for 2016/17 contained in Tables 8, 9 and 10 above, 
shows that the average attendance of those pupils not  eligible for FSM’s in Merthyr 
Tydfil CBC’s 22 primary schools was 94.63%, while the average attendance of those 
pupils eligible for FSM’s  was lower at 93.03%, illustrating a difference of  - 1.60% in 
the Merthyr Tydfil CBC average attendance for those pupils  eligible for FSM’s.  

In the only school that did not follow the attendance pattern for those pupils eligible 
for FSM’s (1/22)  the suggested reason for this minor inconsistency is that the school 
in question is extremely limited in terms of pupil numbers (48).

It is interesting to note that in 2015/16 the average attendance of those pupils not 
eligible for FSM’s in Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s 22 primary schools was 94.62%, while the 
average attendance of those pupils  eligible for FSM’s was again lower at 92.80%, 
illustrating a difference of  - 1.82 %.   One can see that this trend was similar to that 
evidenced in the 2016/17 analysis highlighted in the previous paragraph.

Page 52



9.26 Attainment of  pupils  eligible for FSM’s compared against  pupils not eligible 
for FSM’s,  within Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s primary schools 

In the absence of specific data for each of the  22 primary schools,  showing 
attainment of  those primary pupils eligible for FSM’s and those primary pupils not 
eligible for FSM’s, members of the T&FG decided to use a combination of  available 
local data, Welsh Government data,  plus other appropriate information, all of which 
could assist members in establishing a meaningful assessment of attainment in 
terms of the two specific groups of pupils within Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s primary 
schools.

(a) Foundation Phase

Table 11 below provides the All Wales average attainment data for 2016/17, 
which is representative of the Foundation Phase Outcome Indicator (FPOI). It 
shows the percentage of pupils achieving at least the expected outcome 
(outcome 5).  Also, for comparison purposes, data applicable to an earlier 
three academic years is provided.

Table (11)

Year
Percentage of all 
pupils achieving 

FPOI

Percentage of pupils 
not eligible for 

FSM’s achieving 
FPOI

Percentage of pupils 
eligible for FSM’s 

achieving FPOI

2016/17 87.30 90.10 75.90
2015/16 87.00 90.00 75.70
2014/15 86.80 90.00 75.10
2013/14 85.20 88.60 72.40

Source of data: Welsh Government Academic Achievement by Free School Meals (FSM’s) published 2017.

(b) Key Stage 2 Core Subject Indicator (KS2 CSI)

Table 12 below provides the All Wales average attainment data,  
representative of the Key Stage 2 Core Subject Indicator (KS2 CSI). It shows 
the percentage of pupils achieving at least the expected outcome (level 4).  
As indicated at (a) in the previous paragraph,  for comparison purposes, the 
T&FG also decided to include data in Table 12 below applicable to an earlier 
three academic years.

Table (12)

Year
Percentage of all pupils 
achieving KS2 (CSI)

Percentage of 
pupils not eligible 
for FSM’s achieving 
KS2 (CSI)

Percentage of 
pupils eligible for 
FSM’s achieving KS2 
(CSI)

2016/17 89.50 92.30 77.20
2015/16 88.60 91.40 77.10
2014/15 87.70 90.80 75.10
2013/14 86.10 89.60 71.90
Source of data: Welsh Government Academic Achievement by Free School Meals (FSM’s) published 2017.

Page 53



9.2.7 Findings - Levels of Attainment

It is evident from the assessment of data contained in Tables 11 and 12 above that 
for the academic year 2016/17,  at Foundation Phase and Key Stage 2, the levels of 
attainment of those pupils eligible for FSM’s were significantly lower than the levels 
of attainment of those pupils  not eligible for FSM’s.

These findings are appropriately supported by further evidence covering the three 
earlier academic years viz. 2013/14, 2014/15 and 2015/16, where the evidence 
showed that within these three academic years, at Foundation Phase and Key Stage 
2 the levels of attainment of those pupils eligible for FSM’s were again significantly 
lower than the levels of attainment of those pupils not eligible for FSM’s.

9.2.8 Conclusions – Attendance and Attainment of Primary Pupils Eligible for FSM’s

So, what could be the underlying reason (or reasons) for the variations in attainment 
between these two specific groups of pupils?  Members of the T&FG firmly believe 
that the attendance data included in Tables 8, 9 and 10 above, provides sufficient 
evidence to support their view, that the lower attendance rates of those primary 
pupils eligible for FSM’s,  identified in all three of these Tables is one of the 
fundamental reasons for the corresponding lower levels of attainment. 

In the earlier analysis regarding the correlation between attendance and outcomes in 
Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s twenty two primary schools, the conclusions provided at 
Section 8.6 pages 15.showed inter alia, that there was a strong link between overall 
absence and attainment.  This means that when the overall absence level within our 
primary schools increases, the average percentage of pupils achieving Foundation 
Phase (FPO1 outcome 5) and Key Stage 2 Level 4 (CSI) invariably decreases.

Therefore, those conclusions contained in section 8 of this report, together with the 
findings of the attendance  data analysis of primary school pupils  eligible  for FSM’s,  
as highlighted in Tables 8, 9 and 10 above plus the associated findings,  led 
members of the T&FG to conclude that the effects of higher absenteeism recorded 
against those  pupils  eligible for FSM’s,  does in fact extend to have a significant 
adverse effect on average attainment of pupils eligible for FSM’s  at both Foundation 
Phase (FPOI outcome 5) and Key Stage 2 Level 4 (CSI). This was confirmed 
following analysis of the Welsh Government publication (2017) - Academic 
Achievement by Free School Meals (FSM’s), which shows the all Wales primary 
schools (including Merthyr Tydfil CBC) attainment data,  of pupils eligible for FSM’s 
as highlighted in Tables 11 and 12 above. These Tables are accompanied by the 
section headed “Findings – Levels of Attainment”  So, the overall analysis of 
attendance and attainment data of those primary school pupils in Merthyr Tydfil CBC  
eligible for FSM’s, confirms that pupil attainment is related to school attendance.

However, as part of this particular analysis – (Attendance and Attainment of Primary 
Pupils Eligible for FSM’s,)   members of the T&FG recorded an important finding in 
the very first paragraph that is repeated here:-  “that the lower attendance rates of 
those primary pupils eligible for FSM’s,  identified in all three of these Tables is one 
of the fundamental reasons for the corresponding lower levels of attainment”. 
Importantly, this statement relates to “one of the fundamental reasons”. Therefore it 

Page 54



goes without saying that there could be another fundamental reason or reasons for 
the lower attendance rates of those primary pupils eligible for FSM’s. 

In the Estyn Annual Report 2013 at page 11, it is stated that :- “The statistical link 
between poverty and low educational attainment is well attested. At all key stages in 
Wales, learners who are entitled to free school meals perform significantly less than 
those not entitled to free school meals against a range of attainment performance 
indicators. The gap between the performance of children from richer and poorer 
backgrounds widens during schooling.” 

So, we can now see that there’s not only a link between low attendance rates and 
educational attainment; Estyn advances “poverty” as another reason for low 
educational attainment of those pupils eligible for free school meals..

In a research document “Poverty and Low Educational Achievement” published by 
the Joseph Rowntree Foundation in 2013, Professor David Egan of Cardiff 
Metropolitan University confirms the Estyn findings. Professor Egan claims:-  “Living 
in poverty has a major impact upon levels of educational achievement in Wales. The 
most widely used but not exclusive measure of the number of children who live in 
relative poverty in Wales, is the percentage receiving free school meals. On average, 
this is about 17%. The educational performance of these children compared with 
those who come from more prosperous backgrounds, provides clear evidence of the 
effect of poverty on educational achievement. Studies have found that under 
achievement of children in Wales receiving free school meals may be a significant 
problem from nursery class onwards”.

 Further research findings generally show that despite the extra resources that have 
been allocated over the years to areas of high need to tackle social deprivation;  
family circumstances such as parental condoned absence, parental lack of 
interest/attitudes to education and various other domestic problems, accounted for 
significantly more of the variation in pupils achievement than school factors alone. 
Therefore, encouraging improved attendance of many primary school pupils eligible 
for FSM’s without changing some of the other characteristics of social disadvantage 
referred to above, may not result in significantly improved attainment.

 
9.3 Authorised and Unauthorised Absence 2016/17.

9.3.1 All (or overall) absence comprise those which are authorised or unauthorised.

 An authorised absence is an absence with permission of a teacher or other 
authorised representative of the school. This includes instances of absence for which 
a satisfactory explanation has been provided (eg illness, family bereavement or 
religious observance)

 An unauthorised absence is an absence without permission of a teacher or other 
authorised representative of the school. This includes all unexplained or unjustified 
absences.

Page 55



Group 1 - Table (13) 

Primary School Attendance  %age 
2016/17

Authorised
Absence %age

Unauthorised
Absence %age

Cyfarthfa Park 95.82 3.20 0.98
Heolgerrig 95.71 2.92 1.37
Troedyrhiw 95.28 3.20 1.52
Ysgol Santes Tudful 95.25 4.71 0.04
MTCBC Average 94.29 4.22 1.49

Wales Average 94.90 4.00 1.10

Group 2 - Table (14) 

Primary School Attendance %age 
2016/17

Authorised Absence 
%age 

Unauthorised 
Absence %age

Abercanaid 94.93 4.45 0.62
Caedraw 94.61 4.06 1.33
Gwaunfarren 94.69 3.52 1.79
Trelewis 94.70 4.83 0.47
Dowlais 94.17 3.83 2.00
St Aloysius RC 94.53 3.60 1.86
St Mary’s RC 94.29 4.70 1.01
MTCBC Average 94.29 4.22 1.49

Wales Average 94.90 4.00 1.10

Group 3 - Table (15) 

Primary School Attendance % age 
2016/17

Authorised Absence 
%age 

Unauthorised 
Absence %age

Bedlinog 93.69 5.57 0.74
Edwardsville 92.80 5.30 1.90
Goetre 93.89 4.26 1.85
Pantysgallog 93.59 3.90 2.51
Twynyrodyn 93.57 3.80 2.63
Ynysowen 93.84 4.27 1.89
Coed y Dderwen 93.48 3.91 2.60
Ysgol y Graig 93.97 4.24 1.80
Gellifaelog 93.10 5.28 1.62
St Illtyds 93.89 5.82 0.30
Rhyd – Y- Grug 93.89 4.69 1.43

MTCBC Average 94.29 4.22 1.49

Wales Average 94.90 4.00 1.10

Page 56



9.3.2 Analysis of Authorised Absence 2016/17

The analysis of authorised absences associated with those primary schools included 
in Tables 13, 14 and 15 above, highlighted that the most common reasons for 
absences  were illness, that accounted for over 80% of all authorised absences;  
medical/dental appointments,  that accounted for over 6% ; and agreed family 
holidays that accounted for nearly 8% of all authorised absences. A combination of 
“other reasons” made up the remaining 5% of the authorised absences across 
Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s primary schools. 

The analysis also showed that pupils at sixteen of the twenty two primary schools 
were granted permission to attend family holidays during term time. 

9.3.3 Analysis of Unauthorised Absence 2016/17

Family holidays without permission of the school, was established as the main 
reason, for the unauthorised absence, with an average of 0.89% being recorded for 
absences due to family holidays without permission. This figure represents nearly 
60% of the overall unauthorised absence across Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s primary 
schools of 1.49%   The analysis showed that pupils at all but one of the twenty two 
primary schools, missed school without permission to attend family holidays.  

 Absence where no satisfactory explanation was provided to the school by parents,  
was identified as another main reason that contributed to Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s 
overall unauthorised absence rate of 1.49%. The Merthyr Tydfil CBC average of 
0.59% for no satisfactory explanation being provided by parents, represents almost 
40% of the overall unauthorised absence rate of 1.49%.

Table 16 that follows identifies the eleven primary schools that exceeded the overall 
Merthyr Tydfil CBC average unauthorised absence of 1.49%.

Table (16)

Primary School Group
No. 

Unauthorised Absence %age
2016/17

Troedyrhiw 1 1.52
Gwaunfarren 2 1.79
Dowlais 2 2.00
St Aloysius RC 2 1.86
Edwardsville 3 1.90
Goetre 3 1.85
Pantysgallog 3 2.51
Twynyrodyn 3 2.63
Ynysowen 3 1.89
Coed y Dderwen 3 2.60
Ysgol y Graig 3 1.80

MTCBC Average 1.49

Page 57



The percentages inserted alongside all eleven primary schools featured in Table 16 
above, includes unauthorised absence associated with those pupils who missed 
school to attend family holidays without permission of the relevant head teachers. 
The level of this category of absence ranged between 0.54% and 1.74% among all 
eleven schools.

Seven of the eleven Primary schools included in Table 16 above, also exceeded the 
Merthyr Tydfil CBC overall average of 0.89%, for pupils missing school to attend 
family holidays without permission. 

9.4 Persistent Absence within Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s Primary Schools September 
2016 – July 2017.

Meaning of the term - Welsh Government defines persistent absence as pupils 
whose absence level is more than 20% (80% attendance). (Welsh Government 
Statistical Bulletin published 30 March 2017)

In terms of primary schools a persistent absentee is a pupil of compulsory school 
age who is absent for at least 20% of the total number of half day sessions that 
schools are open to pupils in any one academic year.  Analysis of the number of half 
day sessions that arise in any one academic year, calculated over a 7 year period 
provided an average of 375 sessions.  Twenty percent of this figure equates to a 
persistent absentee missing a minimum of 75 half day sessions per year. 

During the period analysed, the number of persistent absentees within Merthyr Tydfil   
CBC’s 22 primary schools was 40. This was from a total of 3702 pupils of statutory 
school age, which equates to 1.08% of the total.

Twelve of the 22 primary schools were identified as including at least one pupil who 
was a persistent absentee. Of these twelve schools, seven exceeded the MTCBC 
average of 1.08% highlighted in the previous paragraph. Table 17 below provides 
data appropriate to the number of persistent absentees at these seven schools. 

Table (17)

Primary
School

No of 
statutory 

school age 
pupils

No of 
persistent 
absentees

Percentage of 
persistent 
absentees

Minimum No. of 
half day 

sessions missed 
p.a. (persistent 

absentees)
Gellifaelog 163 3 1.84 225
Pantyscallog 140 3 2.14 225
Trelewis 156 2 1.28 150
Twynyrodyn 295 12 4.07 900
Ynysowen 156 5 3.21 375
Coed y Dderwen 136 4 2.94 300
Ysgol y Graig 126 4 3.17 300

The total persistent absentees in Table 17 is 33 (out of an overall total of 40)
20 were not in receipt of free school meals, 13 were in receipt of free school meals.

Page 58



In 2016/17 with the exception of one primary school, overall attendances at those 
schools featured in Table 17 above were amongst the lowest of all 22 primary 
schools in Merthyr Tydfil CBC. (see Table 3) 

The 33 Persistent absentees included in the seven schools shown in Table 17 
above, between them missed a minimum of 2,525 half day sessions between 
September 2016 and July 2017. 

9.5 Fixed Penalty Notices (FPN’s) September 2016 – July 2017.

The Education (Penalty Notices) (Wales) Regulations, came into force in September 
2013 and set out a framework for the operation of the penalty notice scheme. 

The key consideration in deciding to request the issue of a penalty notice for 
unauthorised absences would be whether it would be an effective tool,  in helping the 
pupil to improve attendance which is likely to be sustained.

The following information is provided as part of the analysis undertaken of 
unauthorised absence, specifically absence that led to 170 FPN’s being issued 
between September 2016 and July 2017,  for those pupils that missed school to 
attend family holidays without permission of the relevant head teachers. Members of 
the T&FG decided not to include the names of those schools that decided to issue, 
or not issue Fixed Penalty Notices. 

Of the twenty two Primary Schools:-  

Ten did not issue any FPN’s, despite records showing that pupils attended family 
holidays without permission of the relevant head teachers at eight of the ten schools.

One issued 1 FPN;
Three issued 3 FPN’s;
One issued 5 FPN’s;
One issued 8 FPN’s;
One issued 9 FPN’s;
One issued 11 FPN’s;          
One issued 27 FPN’s;
One issued 29 FPN’s;
One issued 34 FPN’s;
One issued 37 FPN’s.
Overall Total of FPN’s issued 2016/17 = 170

Therefore, based on the data applicable to the number of FPN’s issued as set out 
above, there appears to be a lack of consistency in the way that the Welsh 
Government Regulations governing the criteria for issuing FPN’s are being 
implemented by Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s schools and Local Authority. 

The following statement made by Hugh Lewis a former Minister responsible for 
Education at the Welsh Government on 11 December 2014,  is produced to clarify 
any misunderstanding regarding the issuing of Fixed Penalty Notices. 

Page 59



“The criteria for issuing FPN’s which may differ between Local Authorities, is set out 
in each Authorities Code of Conduct. Before issuing a FPN, each Local Authority 
must have its Code of Conduct in place. The code sets out how the FPN system 
operates and the measures in place to ensure consistency, fairness and 
transparency in the way they are applied”

Conclusion
The FPN process has provided the Head teachers of Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s schools 
with an additional means to address unauthorised absences. There appears to be a 
lack of consistency in the issuing of FPN’s by Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s schools and the 
Local Authority.  This lack of consistency needs to change, if meaningful 
improvements in the present levels of unauthorised absences are to materialise.

10.0 ANALYSIS OF SECONDARY SCHOOLS ATTENDANCE COVERING 
THE TWO YEAR PERIOD 2015/16 AND 2016/17.

10.1 Tables 1-3 below provide the results of the Analysis of Attendance Data for the 2 
year period 2015/16 and 2016/17 relevant to the four Merthyr Tydfil CBC High 
Schools – Afon Taf, Bishop Hedley, Cyfarthfa and Pen-y-dre.  

Table (1) – 2015/16 and 2016/17 Comparative Attendance Percentages  
The table shown below contains the overall attendance percentages for the four 
Secondary schools within the County Borough for 2015/16 and 2016 /2017.  

    

Table (2)

Average Attendance 2015/16 2016/17
Merthyr Tydfil CBC 93.39 93.00
CSC 94.29 94.04
Wales 94.16 94.07

Table 2 above shows the average percentage attendance of Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s 
Secondary schools. This percentage when compared against the overall Central 
South Consortium average,  shows Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s overall average as 0.90% 
below the CSC in 2015/16 and 1.04%  below the CSC in 2016/17.  Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC’s secondary schools were 0.77% below the all Wales average attendance in 
2015/16 and 1.07% below the all Wales average attendance in 2016/17. However, in 
2016/17 Bishop Hedley High School exceeded the Merthyr Tydfil CBC, the CSC and 
the Wales average attendance percentages.  

Secondary  School FSM
Group

Attendance %age
2015/16

Attendance %age
2016/17

Afon Taf High 4 93.30 92.20
Bishop Hedley High 4 94.00 94.10
Cyfarthfa High 2 94.00 93.60
Penydre High 5 91.70 91.60

Page 60



Table (3)

       Local Authority 
within  CSC

Attendance Position 
2015/16

Attendance Position 
2016/17 

Merthyr Tydfil CBC 19 22
Bridgend 8 10
Vale of Glamorgan 2 3
Rhondda Cynon Taf 15 19
Cardiff 9 11

Table 3 above shows the ranking of each local authority within the Central South 
Consortium, against all other local authorities in Wales.

10.2 Average attendance in Secondary schools throughout the Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council area has declined over the past two years.  During 2015/16 
average overall attendance of the four schools was 93.39% and in 2016/17 it was 
93%.  These percentage figures fell short of the Welsh Government attendance 
target of 95% set in 2011. 

10.3 In 2016/17 all four of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough’s Secondary schools failed to 
achieve their attendance targets, which each school set in conjunction with Central 
South Consortium Challenge Advisors. The 2016/17 overall target for Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC was 94.50%. 

10.4 Of the five local authorities that make up the Central South Consortium (CSC); in 
terms of attendance Merthyr Tydfil CBC was placed 5th in 2015/16 (CSC average 
attendance 2015/16 was 94.29%). In 2016/17 Merthyr Tydfil CBC was again placed 
in 5th position (CSC average attendance 2016/17 was 94.04%) In fact, the position 
is even more concerning than that illustrated above as can be seen from the 
following table which shows absenteeism levels for all members of the Central South 
Consortium between 2013/14 and 2016/17.

Table (4)

CSC 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Bridgend 6.4 6.1 5.7 6.0
Vale of Glam 6.2 5.8 5.6 5.8
RCT 6.9 6.4 6.1 6.5
MTCBC 7.1 6.9 6.6 7.0
Cardiff 6.2 6.2 5.6 5.9
Wales 6.4 6.2 5.8 5.9

Source of Evidence: Pupils Attendance Record (Welsh Government) 

10.5 The average attendance level of 93.39% saw Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s Secondary 
schools placed 19th out of 22 Welsh Local Authorities in 2015/16 (Wales average 
attendance 2015/16 was 94.16%) The Local Authority was placed 22nd  out of 22 

Page 61



Local Authorities in 2016/17 with an average school attendance level of 93% against 
a Wales average attendance level of 94.07%.

10.6 Persistent Absence.

Persistent absence appears to be a major problem within Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s 
Secondary schools.  We saw earlier that the Welsh Government defines persistent 
absence as those pupils whose absence level is at least 20% of half day 
sessions that schools are open, not including inset days.
During the two year period analysed the following results were obtained:-
In 2015/16 the number of persistent absences within the four High Schools was 119.
In 2016/17 this figure had increased to 129 as can be seen from detail provided in 
the following table.

All Secondary School Pupils 2016/17

 High School Total Pupils
No. of 

Persistent 
absentees
(exceeding 

20%
absence)

Percentage 
of Persistent 

Absentees

Afon Taf High 534 38 7.12 %
Bishop Hedley 
High 

NA NA NA

Cyfarthfa High 1142 56 4.90%
Penydre High 470 35 7.45%
Merthyr CBC 2148 129 6.01%
Wales 2015/16 3.90%

Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC Target

3.00%

In the table above which includes Persistent absentee data for 2016/17, one can see 
that the percentage of persistent absentees for Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s Secondary 
Schools is 6.01%. The Merthyr Tydfil CBC target for persistent absentees set for 
2015/16 was 3.00%. Therefore, the 6.01% achieved and reported on above, is over 
twice the target set for 2015/16. The table also shows that the all Wales average for 
persistent absentees was 3.90%. This highlights Merthyr Tydfil CBC persistent 
absentee achievement of 6.01% for 2016/17 as exceeding the all Wales average of 
3.90% by over 64%. 

Further analysis of the data appropriate to 2015/16 and 2016/17 revealed that 
persistent absentees accounted for over 17per cent of all absences in Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC’s Secondary schools.

Put another way, 80% absence  per pupil equates to:-
 1 day absence per week;
 6 days absence per half term;
 12 days absence every term;
 36 days absence every year;

Page 62



 180 days absence in 5 years;
 Nearly one year of secondary schooling lost through absence.

11.0 ANALYSIS OF SECONDARY SCHOOLS OUTCOMES COVERING 
THE TWO YEAR PERIOD 2015/16 AND 2016/17.

11.1 The tables contained below show the percentage of pupils who have achieved the 
Level 2 threshold including English/Welsh and Maths. This provides the final results 
of external examinations taken by pupils in Year 11 (“Key Stage 4”) or pupils aged 
17 at the start of the academic year.  The Level 2 threshold, is the volume of 
qualifications equivalent to 5 GCSEs at Grade A*-C including one in English or 
Welsh first language and one in Mathematics.

Comparisons between 2017 and earlier years should be made with caution due to 
changes in the definitions of this indicator.

School 2014/15
KS4 L2+

2015/2016
KS4 L2+

2016/17*
KS4 L2+

Afon Taf High Total 48.2% 58.1% 41.7%
FSM 16.1% 46.4% 24.0%
Non FSM 55.5% 60.8% 46.7%

Boys Girls Boys Girls Boys Girls
29.8% 66.7% 60.9% 54.1% 39.7% 44.7%

Bishop Hedley High 64.0% 60.7% 48.4%
FSM 54.2% 36.4% 20.0%
Non FSM 56.4% 61.2% 48.6%

Boys Girls Boys Girls Boys Girls

66.7% 62.3% 57.1% 63.3% 48.9% 47.8%

Cyfarthfa High 60.2% 61.6% 50.2%
FSM 41.2% 50.0% 33.3%
Non FSM 63.7% 63.4% 53.3%

Boys Girls Boys Girls Boys

49.6% 73.7% 52.3% 73.5% 48.8%
Penydre High 39.1% 52.60% 32.6%

FSM 24.4% 28.6% 17.1%
Non FSM 47.3% 62.3% 43.1%

Boys Girls Boys Girls Boys Girls

31.1% 48.1% 50.0% 54.5% 36.8% 29.2%

Page 63



           KS4 Level 2+ 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17*

Merthyr Tydfil CBC     
Attainment

51.9% 53.9% 42.4%

FSM 32.1% 41.2% 23.5%

 Non FSM 59.0% 62.6% 50.8%

11.2 Key Findings

• L2+ for Merthyr Tydfil in 2016/17 was 42.2%, compared to CSC 54.5% and the 
Welsh Average of 54.6%.

• Whilst direct year on year comparisons should be made with caution due to the 
GSCE changes in 2016/17, the outcomes at Key Stage 4 are lower across the 
region and are particularly low in all 4 High Schools within Merthyr Tydfil. 

• Cyfarthfa High School has the highest percentage of pupils achieving L2+ 
however still 4.4% lower than the Welsh average.

• Pen-Y-Dre High School has the lowest percentage of pupils achieving L2+ which 
takes them 12% below the Welsh average.

• In 2016/17 Merthyr Tydfil was ranked 21st out of 22 authorities in Wales for the 
overall L2+ performance rates at Key Stage 4 with an attainment level of 42.4%.  
(Blaenau Gwent had the lowest % at 41.4 with Monmouthshire 1st with 67.0%.  
The Wales Average was 54.6).

• The top 10 local authorities achieved 55.5% or higher in 2016/17.

• Girls outperform boys in all KS4 performance measures.

• Boys within Merthyr Tydfil performed 7.1 percentage points lower at the Level 2 
threshold and 9.5 percentage points lower at the Level 2+ threshold.

• Girls within Merthyr Tydfil performed 9.1 percentage points lower at the Level 2 
threshold and 15.0 percentage points lower at the Level 2+ threshold.

            KS4 Level 2+ 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17*

Wales – Attainment 57.9% 60.3% 54.6%

FSM 31.6% 35.6% 28.6%

Non FSM 64.1% 66.8% 61.0%

Page 64



• The gender gap is lower than the gender gap nationally at both Level 2 and 
Level 2+ thresholds due to the underperformance of girls,

• Pupils not entitled to FSM outperform pupils eligible for FSM at all KS4 
performance measures.

• 20.9% of pupils eligible for FSM achieved the Level 2+ threshold indicator 
compared with 49.2% of pupils not entitled to FSM.

• The performance of pupils eligible for FSM within Merthyr Tydfil was 7.7 
percentage points lower at the Level 2+ threshold than pupils eligible for FSM 
nationally.

12.0 CONCLUSIONS REACHED BY TASK & FINISH GROUP – 
SECONDARY SCHOOLS

The following  conclusions are provided following  the Task & Finish Group’s  review 
of attendance within Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s Secondary Schools for the two year period 
2015/16 and 2016/17:-

12.1 In terms of overall attendance, MTCBC has been occupying bottom position within 
the Central South Consortium since 2013/14. Evidence in support of this is included 
in Table 4 above.  Evidence relevant to attendance also shows that in 2015/16 
MTCBC was placed 19th out of 22 Local Authorities in Wales and 22nd out of 22 in 
2016/17.

12.2 Notwithstanding the Outcome Key Findings included at the end of Section 11 above; 
in terms of MTCBC’s Secondary School Key Stage 4 performance, significant 
changes have taken place, which make comparison with previous performances 
difficult. It is evident from analysis of outcomes at Key Stage 4, that they are lower 
across the region and particularly low in Merthyr Tydfil CBC’s four High 
schools. Consequently, arrangements are in place to support schools during this 
academic year, in improving Key Stage 4 outcomes.

12.3 The analysis and resulting conclusions have shown that there is a strong link 
between overall absence and attainment within the four High Schools within Merthyr 
Tydfil CBC. Statements of the former Chief Officer for Learning and the Inclusion 
Manager, included at paragraph 2 of the Introduction to this report, show both 
officers expressing their deep concerns at the low levels of attendance in Merthyr 
Tydfil CBC’s schools.

12.4 It goes without saying that with the Authority’s stated ambition to be ranked within 
the top 10 performing Local Authorities in Wales by 2020, (see paragraph 6, page16 
Scrutiny: LEARNING & LAESCYP Report 16th April 2018) the attendance levels 
within our Secondary schools need to improve significantly, if this stated ambition is 
to stand any chance of becoming a reality within the next two years.

Page 65



13.0 IMPROVED ATTENDANCE LEVELS WITHIN OUR SCHOOLS - THE 
WAY FORWARD

13.1 Prior to finalising the report contained in the pages included above, members of the 
T&FG decided not to include recommendations intended to secure improvements to 
the poor attendance levels identified within many of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough’s 
schools. 

13.2 This was because action had already been taken by the Inclusion Manager Sarah 
Bowen, aimed at improving the attendance issues that had existed for some time. 
The paragraphs that follow include a brief description of those actions developed and 
implemented by the Inclusion Manager. 

13.3 Actions Developed and Implemented by the Inclusion Manager.

13.3.1 The analysis of attendance data is ongoing on a monthly basis. Schools, Chairs of 
Governors, the Education Inclusion Service (EIS) colleagues and Challenge 
Advisers are provided with detailed monthly analysis with accompanying narrative 
and strategies to trial. At the end of 2016/17, having undertaken further analysis, it 
was evident that there was a high level of authorised absences in schools, 
especially in those schools that performed least well.

13.3.2 “The decision taken by the school to authorise an absence or not is of critical 
importance in determining the level of involvement of the EWS. If the school has 
authorised a pupil’s absence,  it has in effect given leave, therefore there is no case 
in law for the parents to answer.” (All Wales Attendance Framework)

13.3.3 In other words when an absence is authorised, this means that the school approves 
of the absence and therefore the EIS cannot engage with this family, nor can the 
prosecution process be instigated. As a result of this the following actions were 
implemented:-

• Reviewed the Attendance Handbook. The purpose of this handbook is to 
promote a consistent message that attendance at school is a key priority in 
Merthyr Tydfil.  The Handbook:- 

• outlines the roles and responsibilities of key stakeholders in promoting 
attendance at school;

• provides advice and guidance to schools on effective practices and 
strategies to improve attendance;

• enables schools to better challenge reasons for non-attendance; 
• clarifies the role of the Education Inclusion Officer in tackling 

attendance issues, including case management and prosecution 
processes;

• clearly identifies links to other policies.

• Raised the prosecution threshold from 85% to 90% as agreed with Legal, and 
updated the Prosecution guidance.

• Reviewed the Fixed Penalty Notice Code of Conduct. 

Page 66



• Provided monthly data on the use of Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) and 
authorised absences data in order for the comparisons to be clear.  This is 
now provided on a monthly basis and has more recently been amended on a 
cluster basis to further ensure that there is a consistent approach to the usage 
of FPNs. 

• Provided schools with guidance on managing sickness absence and 
incubation periods to disseminate as appropriate. 

• Provided schools and EWS colleagues with a flow chart and suite of letters for 
use to enable an earlier engagement in the prosecution process where 
required. 

• Developed training for Education Inclusion Officers to ensure an effective and 
efficient service delivery. 

• Requested the annual completion of Attendance Self-evaluation reports in 
order to identify strengths and weaknesses and provide advice and guidance. 

• Approached Welsh Government to raise the threshold for persistent 
absentees from 80% to 90% during 2016/17 as is the case in England. In 
recent discussions with WG the threshold of 85% is being considered.

13.3.4 Finally, the Inclusion Manager provides an excellent closing statement to this 
Review of Attendance & Attainment within our Schools, which is fully supported by 
members of the Task & Finish Group: - 

“School Leadership is key to driving further improvement. Should there 
continue to be no, or poor improvement with regards to attendance and 
outcomes, then Schools and Governing Bodies will be held to account 
through case conferences.”  

13.3.5 Following on from the above actions, plans are in place to enable further 
improvements. These are shown as follows:- 

 School to school support has been encouraged within clusters.
 Good practice has been shared with all schools having received Attendance 

audits from schools.
 Reminding schools to unauthorise absences when dissatisfied with the reason 

provided for the absence, in order to allow for earlier engagement with the 
FPN and prosecution process. More timely intervention could reduce the 
number of persistent absentees and overall absence.

 Provide a bespoke service to schools as part of the SLA.
 Meet with the Challenge Advisors on a termly basis to make them aware of 

any issues in respect of absence.

Page 67



 Training to be delivered by the Senior Education Welfare Officer for Head 
teachers and school staff (including EOTAS staff) with responsibility for 
attendance on 24 May 2018. This will cover:- 

 attendance procedures, 
 prosecution and fixed penalty notice procedures,
 appropriate use of codes,
 good practice.

14.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

14.1 There are no financial implications as a result of this report. This report is a scrutiny 
report to Cabinet. Any recommendations or actions emanating as a result of this 
report will be subject to separate reporting by the Education department/.

15.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

15.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

Members of the Learning & LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee Task & Finish Group
Councillor Harvey 
Jones 
(Chair of Learning & 
LAESCYP Scrutiny 
Committee)

Councillor Chris Davies 

(Vice Chair of Learning 
& LAESCYP Scrutiny 
Committee)

Councillor Sherelle 
Jago 
(Member of Learning & 
LAESCYP Scrutiny 
Committee)

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

As per report comments

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 68



Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Provisional Capital Outturn 2017-18

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report details the provisional capital outturn for 2017/18 as at 31st March 2018.

1.2   There is an underspend of £101,000 on core funded projects for the financial year 
2017/18.

1.3 There is an underspend of £2,257,000 on grant funded projects for the financial year 
2017/18.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that:

2.1 The Provisional Capital Outturn 2017/18 be noted.

2.2 The amendment to the budget as paragraph 4.1.1 and 4.2.2 be noted.

2.3 Variances to the revised budget as per paragraph 4.1.3 and 4.2.3 be noted.

2.4 The amendments to the approved 2018/19 budget following the 2017/18 carry 
forward requirements as per paragraph 4.1.4 be approved.

Date Written *25th June 2018
Report Author Adele Lewis
Service Area Finance
Committee Division Strategic
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 25th July 2018

Page 69

Agenda Item 5



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The revised Core Capital Programme as agreed in the Cabinet of 21st February 
2018 for the 2017/18 financial year totalled £8.052 million and was financed through 
General Capital Funding received from the Welsh Government, unsupported 
borrowing through the Prudential Code framework and the utilisation of capital 
receipts from fixed asset disposals.

3.2 Details in respect of core funded projects are outlined in Appendix 1. This Provisional 
Capital Outturn Report outlines the actual outturn as at 31st March 2018 against the 
budgeted expenditure for 2017/18.

3.3 The Council has also been successful in securing additional funding through external 
grants mainly from the Welsh Government and Heritage Lottery Fund which totalled 
£4.042 million for the 2017/18 financial year. Details in respect of grants and 
externally funded projects are outlined in Appendix 2

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 CORE FUNDED PROJECTS

4.1.1 Appendix 1 details a revised core budget for 2017/18 of £9.383 million. Amendment 
to the budget is the result of the following:

 Due to a re-profile in funding of the 21st Century Schools programme by the 
Welsh Government, an increase in the core budget of £1,375,000 was required to 
replace an equivalent amount of external grant funding lost. This funding will be 
made available to the programme during financial year 2018/19 and subsequent 
years.  

 Towards the end of the financial year, Welsh Government made available a grant 
of £374,000 for Roads refurbishment which had to be applied retrospectively to 
financial year 2017/18.

 The Council has the flexibility to utilise capital receipts to finance the revenue 
costs of service reform. The value of revenue expenditure eligible for 
capitalisation in any given financial year is restricted to the amount of new capital 
receipts realised in that same financial year. For the 2017/18 financial year 
capital receipts available to finance redundancy costs exceeded the revised 
approved budget of £750,000 by £330,000.

4.1.2 Appendix 1 shows that £9.282 million  of capital expenditure has been incurred on 
core financed projects up to 31st March 2018, resulting in an underspend of 
£101,000 against the revised budget for the financial year. 

4.1.3  Major budget variances include the following:

 An underspend of £54,000 against Afon Taf under the 21st Century Schools 
Programme. 

Page 70



 An underspend of £75,000 against Ysgol Y Graig under the 21st Century Schools 
Programme. Due to unavoidable delays, the project has been re-profiled with 
completion now expected towards the end of financial year 2019/20.

 An underspend of £210,000 against the Cyfarthfa heritage Area. As a result of 
the strategic review for Cyfarthfa Castle undertaken by the Design Commission 
for Wales, original works proposals required amendment and delays were 
incurred. A request has been made for the underspend of £210,000 to be carried 
forward into the 2018/19 financial year.

 An underspend of £280,000 against Riverside Phase 1 as sewer works were no 
longer required to be undertaken on site.

 An underspend of £110,000 against Riverside Phase 3. House purchases in Taff 
and Crescent Street were lower than expected during 2017/18 by one property 
and disturbance allowances processed fewer than expected.

 An overspend of £125,000 against Coed – y – Dderwen School Roof. Emergency 
works were required to the Flat roof at the school due to water leakage. These 
works had originally been planned for the 2018/19 financial year.
                         

 An overspend of £100,000 against the Homes for Life Care Homes following 
payments made in final settlement of contractor claims as detailed in the Exempt 
Cabinet Report of 25th October 2017. 

 An underspend of £271,000 against Disabled Facilities Grants due to lower 
numbers of referrals than expected and the introduction of a new case 
management system that has delayed DFG works.

 An overspend of £323,000 against the Brandy Bridge scheme as detailed in the 
Cabinet Report of 25th October 2017.

 An overspend of £191,000 against the Road Slip South of Pontygwaith. This was 
the result of inaccurate information being held on the existing wall structure, 
which resulted in changes to the design and construction of required remedial 
works. In addition the depth to the rock below ground was more than previously 
thought leading to changes in the design of and requirement for larger piles. Both 
factors have contributed to increased costs.

 An overspend of £81,000 against Land Purchase / Works as a result of greater 
than expected legal costs associated with the land acquisition.

 An overspend of £87,000 against the depot Review to reflect the higher than 
expected purchase price of Unit 20 Depot and associated works.

4.1.4 Requests to carry forward core budget underspend into financial year 2018/19 have 
been made as follows:

Page 71



 Cyfarthfa Heritage Area - £210,000 to enable works that were unavoidably 
delayed in 2017/18 to be carried out without detriment to time scales already set.

 Dowlais Household Waste Recycling Centre – £19,000 to enable the completion 
of the Office cabin that incurred unexpected delays in construction during 
2017/18

4.2 OTHER CAPITAL PROJECTS

4.2.1 Other capital projects totalling £4.042 million were funded from a variety of external 
capital grants as detailed in Appendix 2.

4.2.2 Available capital grants of £3.905 million were reported as of 21st February 2018. 
Explanation for the major variances in grant funding between this and the position as 
of 31st March 2018 were as follows:

 A re-profile of the 21st Century Schools programme by Welsh Government has 
rescheduled funding amounting to £1.375 million into 2018/19 and the following 
year.

 Towards the end of the financial year, additional capital of £934,000 was made 
available through the Collaborative Change Programme for utilisation in financial 
years 2017/18 and 2018/19.

 Additional capital of £374,000 was made available by Welsh Government for 
Roads Refurbishment under the General Capital Funding for Local Authority 
Roads Refurbishment 2017-18 initiative. An additional £400,000 has been made 
available in the 2018/19 financial year for investment in the improvement of 
existing local highways.

 Capital funding of £146,000 was made available under the Integrated Care Fund 
scheme as a contribution towards the proposed Valleys Life Dementia Hub.

4.2.3 Major budget variances are as follows:

 An underspend of £931,000 against the revised budget for the Collaborative 
Change Programme. As detailed in 4.2.2 this money was made available late in 
the financial year and can be utilised in the 2018/19 financial year.

 An underspend of £1,109,000 against the Vibrant and Viable places Programme, 
this funding is to be utilised in the 2018/19 financial year as detailed in the 
Cabinet report of 7th March 2018.

 An underspend of £79,000 on the Valleys Life Dementia Hub which is to be 
utilised in the 2018/19 financial year.

Page 72



4.2.4 Utilisation of each individual grant is defined by detailed prescriptive terms and 
conditions specific to that grant, including eligibility for carry over to the following 
financial year.

5.0 CARDIFF CAPITAL REGION CITY DEAL

5.1 Council of 7th March 2018 formally adopted the Joint Working Agreement Business 
Plan for the Cardiff Capital Region Joint Committee under the City Deal initiative. 
The Authority made a payment of £954,000 on the 29th March 2018 as part of the 
Authority’s contribution to the CCRCD. The contribution is to be financed from 
unsupported borrowing.

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE  

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Capital Budget 
Monitoring Reports

June 2018 Accountancy Department

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 73



Capital Monitoring Statement 2017/18 Appendix 1a
(For the period Ended 31st March 2018)

Core Funded Projects

21st 
February 

2018 
Budget  

Amendment 
to Budget

Revised 
Budget

Outturn 
2017/18

Variance 
2017/18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

21st Century Schools Programme - Afon Taf 0 1,375 1,375 1,321 (54)
21st Century Schools Programme - Ysgol Y Graig 133 0 133 58 (75)

Physical Regeneration Programme
Cyfarthfa Heritage Area 699 0 699 489 (210)
Town Centre Regeneration Programme 222 0 222 201 (21)
Taff Bargoed Regeneration Programme 133 0 133 130 (3)

Riverside
Riverside Project 290 0 290 10 (280)
Riverside Phase 3 Taff and Crescent Street 584 0 584 474 (110)

Other Projects
Schools Feasibility Studies 60 0 60 17 (43)
Cyfarthfa High School Roof Replacement 129 0 129 100 (29)
Coed Y Dderwen School Roof 0 0 0 125 125
Renewals Area 0 0 0 7 7
Homes For Life Care Homes 0 0 0 100 100
Highway Maintenance 670 (374) 296 320 24
Disabled Facilities Grants 850 0 850 579 (271)
Brandy Bridge Abercanaid 437 0 437 760 323
Replacement Expansion Joints Fiddlers Elbow 0 0 0 24 24
Road Slip South of Pontygwaith 517 0 517 708 191
Pontsticill Bridge 75 0 75 76 1
Pentwyndeinter Bridge 100 0 100 98 (2)
Security Fences/Recycling Centre 55 0 55 34 (21)
Corporate Maintenance 235 0 235 234 (1)
Refurbishments - Civic Centre 0 0 0 13 13

P
age 74



Appendix 1a

Core Funded Projects

21st 
February 

2018 
Budget  

Amendment 
to Budget

Revised 
Budget

Outturn 
2017/18

Variance 
2017/18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Grounds Maintenance - Wood Chipper 0 0 0 18 18
Grounds Maintenance - Lawn Mower 0 0 0 21 21
Costs of Supporting Capital Projects 466 0 466 456 (10)
Redundancy costs 750 330 1,080 1,080 0
Neighbourhood Learning Centre 0 0 0 2 2
Towncentre Arts 0 0 0 12 12
Land Purchase/Works 1,100 0 1,100 1,181 81
Depot Review 547 0 547 634 87

Total 8,052 1,331 9,383 9,282 (101)

P
age 75



Appendix 1b

Core Funding Available

21st 
February 

2018 
Budget  

Amendment 
to Budget

Revised 
Budget

Outturn 
2017/18

Variance 
2017/18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Capital Grant 986 0 986 986 0

Supported Borrowing
General Capital Funding - Supported Borrowing 1,619 0 1,619 1,619 0
WG Supported Borrowing - 21st Century Schools 0 0 0 0 0

1,619 0 1,619 1,619 0
Capital Receipts
Capital Receipts - Capitalisation 750 330 1,080 1,080 0
Capital Receipts - Riverside 429 0 429 273 (156)

1,179 330 1,509 1,353 (156)
Unsupported Borrowing
Unsupported Borrowing - General 3,565 (374) 3,191 3,431 240
Unsupported Borrowing - 21st Century Schools 133 1,375 1,508 1,379 (129)
Unsupported Borrowing - Riverside Project 445 0 445 211 (234)

4,143 1,001 5,144 5,021 (123)

Contribution from Corporate Risk Fund 55 0 55 34 (21)

Capital Contribution Reserve 70 0 70 195 125

Revenue Contribution 0 0 0 59 59

Community Infrastructure Levy 0 0 0 15 15

Total 8,052 1,331 9,383 9,282 (101)

P
age 76



Capital Monitoring Statement 2017/18
(For the period Ended 31st March 2018) Appendix 2a

Specified Grant/External Funded Projects

21st 
February 

2018 
Budget     

£000

Amendment 
to Budget   

£000

Revised   
Budget 
2017/18          

£000

Outturn 
2017/18 

£000

Variance 
2017/18 

£000

21st Century Schools Programme - Afon Taff 1,375 (1,375) 0 0 0
21st Century Schools Programme - Ysgol -Y- Graig 0 0 0 0 0
Flying Start Projects 110 5 115 104 (11)
Renewal Areas at Mertyr Vale, Dowlais, Bedlinog 7 (7) 0 0 0
Valleys Life Dementia Hub 0 146 146 67 (79)
Body Holding Unit 0 80 80 17 (63)
Eco Renewals 262 0 262 262 0
Enable 75 0 75 75 0
GCF for Roads Refurbishment 0 374 374 374 0
Penydarren Subway (SRIC) 150 0 150 147 (3)
Collaborative Change Programme (CCP) Capital 362 0 362 361 (1)
Collaborative Change Programme Additional Capital 0 934 934 3 (931)
Waste and Resources Action Programme 48 0 48 48 0
Vibrant and Viable Places Programme 1,419 0 1,419 310 (1,109)
Town Centre Arts Project 37 (20) 17 17 0
Townscape Heritage Initiative Programme (phase 2) 60 0 60 0 (60)

Total 3,905 137 4,042 1,785 (2,257)

P
age 77



Appendix 2b

Specific Grant/Other Funding Available

21st 
February 

2018 
Budget     

Amendment 
to Budget   

£000

Revised   
Budget 
2017/18          

£000

Outturn 
2017/18 

£000

Variance 
2017/18 

£000

Welsh Government (WG):
   - 21st Century Schools Programme 1,375 (1,375) 0 0 0
   - Flying Start 110 5 115 102 (13)
   - Eco renewals 262 0 262 262 0

- Enable 75 0 75 75 0
   - GCF for Roads Refurbishment 0 374 374 374 0

- Collaborative Change Programme (CCP) 362 0 362 361 (1)
- Collaborative Change Programme Additional Funding 0 934 934 3 (931)
- Body Holding Unit 0 80 80 17 (63)

Integrated Care Fund 0 146 146 67 (79)

Welsh Government (WG)/Metro:
- Vibrant and Viable Places (VVP) 1,419 0 1,419 310 (1,109)

Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF):
   - Townscape Heritage Initiative Programme (phase 2) 60 0 60 0 (60)

Other contributions:
 - Arts Council of Wales 37 (20) 17 17 0
 - Waste and Resources Action Programme 48 0 48 48 0
 - Transport Wales 150 0 150 147 (3)
 - Revenue Contribution 7 (7) 0 2 2

Total 3,905 137 4,042 1,785 (2,257)

P
age 78



Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Capital Monitoring Report 2018/19 – Quarter 1 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report details the capital expenditure and financing position for the Period 
Ended 30th June 2018 for both core and externally funded capital projects.

1.2   The report details the capital expenditure position for the period 1st April 2018 to 
30th June 2018, together with expenditure projections for the 2018/19 financial year.

1.3 A zero variance budget is projected for both core and grant funded projects for the 
2018/19 financial year based on the financial position as at 30th June 2018, which is 
the end of the first quarter

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that:

2.1     The Capital Monitoring Report for the first quarter of 2018/19 be noted.

2.2 Approval be given to the budget amendments for core funded projects as outlined in 
4.1 below.

2.3 The requirement for Officers to continue to rigorously monitor budgets to ensure that 
expenditure remains within approved budgets be noted.

2.4 The requirement for Chief Officers to scrutinise project delivery to ensure 
expenditure remains within approved budgets be noted.

Date Written *11th July 2018
Report Author Adele Lewis
Service Area Finance
Committee Division Strategic
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 25th July 2018

Page 79

Agenda Item 6



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Core Capital Programme as agreed at the Council of 7th March 2018 for the 
2018/19 financial year totalled £10.923 million and was financed through General 
Capital Funding received from the Welsh Government, unsupported borrowing 
through the Prudential Code framework and the utilisation of capital receipts from 
fixed asset disposals.

3.2 Details in respect of core funded projects are outlined in Appendix 1. 

3.3 The Council is in the process of securing additional funding through external grants, 
mainly from the Welsh Government and Heritage Lottery Fund totalling £7.147 
million for the 2018/19 financial year. Details in respect of grant/externally funded 
projects are outlined in Appendix 2.  

4.0 CORE FUNDED PROJECTS

4.1 Amendments to the budgets of core funded projects as outlined in appendix 1 are 
required as follows –

 Cyfarthfa Heritage Area – An underspend of £210,000 was reported against 
this project in the 2017/18 financial year as detailed in the provisional Capital 
Outturn report to Cabinet 25th July 2018. This funding is required in the 
2018/19 financial year.

 Dowlais Household Waste Recycling Centre – An underspend of £19,000 was 
reported against this project in the 2017/18 financial year as detailed in the 
provisional Capital Outturn report to Cabinet 25th July 2018. This funding is 
required in the 2018/19 financial year.

 Dowlais Learning Resource Base (LRB) – A further budget allocation of 
£50,000 is required due to additional ground works that have been identified 
at the site. Project costs for the scheme for the 2019/20 financial year can be 
reduced by this amount.

The additional funding of £279,000 detailed above can be funded from the Capital 
Contribution reserve as detailed in Appendix 1.

4.2 Appendix 1 shows that £2.198 million of capital expenditure has been incurred on 
core financed projects up to 30th June 2018. Capital expenditure tends to be 
weighted towards the second half of the financial year.

4.3 The original 21st Century Schools Programme funding profile was submitted to 
Welsh Government in November 2017. A Revised Funding Matrix has been 
submitted in April 2018, but has not yet been approved as follows:

Page 80



21st Century Schools Programme

November 
2017         
£'000

April 2018 
£'000

   
Welsh Government (WG) Capital Grant 94 400
Welsh Government Local Government Borrowing Initiative* (LGBI) 531 0
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 175 400
Total 800 800
   
* The split of WG Capital Grant and LGBI has not been confirmed by WG   

4.4 There are currently no contributions to the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal included 
within this report, this will be reported during the year as details are known.

5.0 OTHER CAPITAL PROJECTS

5.1 Other capital projects totalling £7.147 million funded from a variety of external capital 
grants together with the related financing profiles are detailed in Appendix 2. It 
should be noted that the funding is in varying stages of approval by the awarding 
bodies and has not been secured in all cases.

5.2 Utilisation of each individual grant is defined by detailed prescriptive terms and 
conditions specific to that grant, including eligibility for carry over to the following 
financial year.

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 A zero variance budget is projected for both core and grant funded projects for the 
2018/19 financial year based on the financial position as at 30th June 2018, which is 
the end of the first quarter.

7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE  

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

Page 81



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Capital Budget 
Monitoring Reports

 
June 2018 Accountancy Department

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 82



Capital Monitoring Statement 2018/19 Appendix 1
(For the period Ended 30th June 2018)

Core Funded Projects Budget
Amendment 
to Budget

Revised 
Budget

Outturn 
2018/19

Projected 
outturn 
2018/19

Variance 
2018/19

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education
21st Century Schools Programme 706 0 706 2 706 0
Education Other 435 50 485 1 485 0
Physical Regeneration Programme 1,050 210 1,260 46 1,260 0

Engineering & Transport Infrastructure 1,708 0 1,708 285 1,708 0

Housing & Corporate 7,024 19 7,043 1,864 7,043 0

Total 10,923 279 11,202 2,198 11,202 0

Core Funding Available Budget 
Amendment 
to Budget

Revised 
Budget

Outturn 
2018/19

Projected 
outturn 
2018/19

Variance 
2018/19

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Capital Grant 988 0 988 988 988 0

Supported Borrowing 2,156 0 2,156 521 2,156 0

Capital Receipts 859 0 859 683 859 0

Unsupported Borrowing 6,737 0 6,737 0 6,737 0

Capital Contribution Reserve 183 279 462 6 462 0

Total 10,923 279 11,202 2,198 11,202 0

P
age 83



Capital Monitoring Statement 2018/19
(For the period Ended 30th June 2018) Appendix 2

Specified Grant/External Funded Projects

Budget  
2018      
£000

Amendment 
to Budget   

£000

Revised   
Budget 
2018/19          

£000

Outturn to 
date 

2018/19 
£000

Projected 
outturn 
2018/9 
£000

Variance 
2018/19 

£000

Education
21st Century Schools Programme 94 0 94 0 94 0
Education Other 50 0 50 0 50 0

Physical Regeneration Programme 5,901 0 5,901 0 5,901 0

Housing & Corporate 1,102 0 1,102 271 1,102 0

Total 7,147 0 7,147 271 7,147 0

Specific Grant/Other Funding Available

Budget  
2018      
£000

Amendment 
to Budget   

£000

Revised   
Budget 
2017/18          

£000

Outturn to 
date 

2017/18 
£000

Projected 
outturn 
2017/18 

£000

Variance 
2017/18 

£000

Welsh Government (WG) 4,658 0 4,658 262 4,658 0

Integrated Care Fund 79 0 79 0 79 0

Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) 721 0 721 0 721

Welsh Government (WG)/Other 400 0 400 0 400 0

Welsh Government (WG)/Heritage Lottery Fund 
(HLF)/Private 1,280 0 1,280 0 1,280 0

Other contributions 9 0 9 9 9 0

Total 7,147 0 7,147 271 7,147 0

P
age 84



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 – Quarter 1

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The report details the projected revenue outturn for 2018/19 as at 30th June 2018, 
that is the 1st Quarter, and was considered at Budget Board on 16th July 2018.

1.2 The report advises Cabinet of the projected outturn position for the 2018/19 financial 
year whilst focusing on projected major budget variances, be it service areas 
experiencing significant financial pressures or service areas projected to be 
significantly underspent against approved budgets.

1.3 A net revenue deficit of £148,000 is projected for the financial year. Budget deficits 
are projected for the Learning Department (£594,000), Social Services Department 
(£239,000) and Neighbourhood Services Department (£229,000) and are offset by a 
contribution from the Budget Reserve. The budget overspends were further 
challenged at Budget Board as indicated in paragraph 5.6.   

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that

2.1 The first Revenue Budget Monitoring report for the 2018/19 financial year based on 
1st Quarter projections be accepted.

2.2 Budget Virements outlined in Appendix 2 be approved.

2.3 Managers to urgently address projected budget deficits within their respective 
service areas, identifying all possible remedial measures to offset projected deficits. 

Date Written *12th July 2018
Report Author Steve Jones / Ian Kent / Adam Price
Service Area Finance
Committee Division Strategic
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 25th July 2018

Page 85

Agenda Item 7



2.4 Managers to continue to monitor all revenue budgets and immediately notify the 
Chief Finance Officer of potential financial difficulties.

     

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Regular planned budget monitoring is crucial in ensuring effective financial 
stewardship and accountability and is governed by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy’s recommended best working practices.

3.2 It is considered critical that Budget Monitoring arrangements are continually 
reviewed and enhanced to ensure continued effectiveness with robust challenge 
provided by both the Budget Board and Change Management Board.

3.3 This report details the net revenue expenditure position for the period 1st April 2018 
to 30th June 2018 (1st Quarter) and revenue outturn projections for the 2018/19 
financial year, and was considered at Budget Board of 16th July 2018. 

4.0 FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS 2018/19

4.1 Detailed in Appendix 1 is the summary Revenue Budget Monitoring statement as at 
30th June 2018 with a net revenue deficit of £148,000 projected for the 2018/19 
financial year.

4.2 Detailed in Appendix 2 are requested Budget virements resulting from budget re-
alignment, required investment and departmental re-configuration.

4.3 Detailed Directorate net expenditure to date and projected budget outturn positions 
are disclosed in Appendices 3 to 5 as follows:

o Appendix 3 – People and Performance Directorate
o Appendix 4 – Place and Transformation Directorate
o Appendix 5 – Corporate Costs

4.4 Major variances satisfying the following criteria are disclosed in Appendix 6:  

o Any under / over spend of at least £50,000
o Any under / over spend that is 10% or more of the budget and at least 

£20,000 in value
o Any other under / over spend considered significant at the discretion of the 

Chief Finance Officer

Page 86



5.0 CURRENT  MAJOR ISSUES AND ASSUMPTIONS

5.1 A significant net revenue deficit of £594,000 is projected for the Learning Department 
owing to identified additional learning needs within the Enhanced Provision budget 
line.

5.2 A deficit of £239,000 is projected for the Social Services Department. This is 
attributable to additional demand in both the Looked After Children Residential 
Placement Services (£419,000) and Looked After Children Fostering Services 
(£100,000). This is being offset by a projected underspend in the Independent 
Residential Establishments budget of £250,000.

5.3 A deficit of £312,000 is projected for the Place and Transformation Directorate. This 
is attributable to projected shortfalls in income in Bereavement Services (£67,000), 
and Revenues (£31,000). There are also projected overspends in the Grounds 
Maintenance budget (£50,000) and Benefits budget (£20,000) that are due to 
budgeted savings not being achieved. Finally, the Sustainable Waste budget is 
projected to overspend by (£46,000) due to a reduction in the Welsh Government 
grant.

5.4 A deficit of £141,000 is projected for the Corporate Costs budget, which due to 
overspends in the External Legal Fee budget (£36,000) and unbudgeted costs for 
security and utilities at the Pengarnddu site (£116,000). The Capital Financing Cost 
Budget line is subject to further review as a result of amendments to the 21st Century 
Schools Programme.

5.5 To address the deficits above, a contribution from the Budget Reserve has been 
projected. 

5.6 In recognition of the reported significant financial pressures within the Learning and 
Social Services Departments, the Chief Officers for Learning and Social Services 
were invited to the Budget Board of 16th July 2018 to address the following 
requirements: 

o Explain the reason(s) for the projected Budget deficit 
o Outline measures to address the projected Budget deficit
o Where appropriate to identify alternative Budget reduction proposals to 

compensate for the projected Budget deficit
o To indicate potential recurring impact of projected Budget variance on the 

future years’ projections contained within the Medium Term Financial Plan

6.0 EARMARKED RESERVES

6.1 Cabinet of 4th July 2018 in considering the “Provisional Revenue Outturn 2017/18” 
report approved the transfer of £340,000 to the Capital Financing Reserve to offset 
the loss of the anticipated net savings resulting from the proposed deferral of the 
early repayment of the Lender Option Borrower Option (LOBO) long-term loans 

Page 87



proposal. As indicated in paragraph 5.4 of this report whilst Capital Financing Costs 
are subject to further review it is recognised that £250,000 of the Capital Financing 
Reserve is required to be utilised in 2018/19 to ensure a neutral budgetary impact 
from the deferral of the loan repayment proposal. This matter is considered in detail 
in the exempt report “Repayment of Long Term Loans – Update” to this Cabinet of 
25th July 2018.

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

7.1 A net deficit budget outturn of £148,000 is projected for 2018/19 based on the 
financial position as at 30th June 2018.

8.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

8.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report. It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time. The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Revenue Budget 
Monitoring Working 
Papers

April 2018 to June 2018 Accountancy Department

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.

Page 88



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 June 2018)
Corporate Summary

07-Mar-18 Vacant 30-Jun-18
Budget Post Other Budget Outturn

Summary 2017/18 Virements Virements 2017/18 Month 3
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

People and Performance
Social Services, Chief Officer Social Services - Lisa Curtis Jones 32,534 -47 -394 32,093 7,044 32,332 239 0.74
Learning, Chief Officer Education  - Sue Walker 44,716 0 0 44,716 40,650 45,310 594 1.33

77,250 -47 -394 76,809 47,694 77,642 833 1.08

Place and Transformation
Deputy Chief Executive Services - Ellis Cooper 2,287 0 85 2,372 931 2,394 22 0.93
Community Regeneration - Alyn Owen 3,611 0 -5 3,606 1,770 3,613 7 0.19
Neighbourhood Services - Cheryllee Evans 11,032 -37 -34 10,961 3,025 11,190 229 2.09
Corporate Services - Mark Thomas 4,045 -54 41 4,032 1,277 4,074 42 1.04
Finance - Steve Jones 1,208 0 0 1,208 307 1,209 1 0.08
Human Resources & Organisational Development - Fran Donnelly 853 -5 0 848 262 833 -15 -1.77
Legal - Carys Kennedy 1,404 0 342 1,746 357 1,772 26 1.49
Performance 277 0 -277 0 0 0 0 0.00
Total 24,717 -96 152 24,773 7,929 25,085 312 1.26

Corporate Costs
Corporate Management - Executive 1,581 0 0 1,581 369 1,585 4 0.25
Corporate Authority - Steve Jones 17,624 0 212 17,836 7,189 17,973 137 0.77
Total 19,205 0 212 19,417 7,558 19,558 141 0.73

Contributions / Recharges
Non General Fund Allocations -835 0 0 -835 0 -928 -93 11.14
Discretionary Non Domestic Rate Relief 46 0 0 46 0 46 0 0.00
Collection Fund Surplus -850 0 30 -820 0 -820 0 0.00
Corporate Vacancy Factor -600 143 0 -457 0 -457 0 0.00
Contribution from Budget Reserve -1,469 0 0 -1,469 0 -2,514 -1,045 71.14
Contribution from Living Wage Reserve -275 0 0 -275 0 -275 0 0.00
Contribution to/from Corporate Investment Fund -184 0 0 -184 0 -184 0 0.00
Redundancy & EPP Committed 456 0 0 456 146 456 0 0.00

Total -3,711 143 30 -3,538 146 -4,676 -1,138 32.17

Net Expenditure 117,461 0 0 117,461 63,327 117,609 148 0.13

Variance

Appendix 1

Year End 
Projection

P
age 89



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 June 2018)
Proposed Budget Virements Appendix 2

Budget
Amount 

£'000 Budget
Amount 

£'000
Social Work Team -38 Service Support and Development 38 Centralisation of Administrative Staff
Initial Adult Services -12 Service Support and Development 12 Centralisation of Administrative Staff
Initial Response Services -11 Service Support and Development 11 Centralisation of Administrative Staff
Day Centres -20 Service Support and Development 20 Centralisation of Administrative Staff
Children's Social Care -68 Service Support and Development 68 Centralisation of Administrative Staff
Looked After Children Team -25 Service Support and Development 25 Centralisation of Administrative Staff
Intake Team -20 Service Support and Development 20 Centralisation of Administrative Staff
Child & Family Team -24 Service Support and Development 24 Centralisation of Administrative Staff
Children in Need -20 Service Support and Development 20 Centralisation of Administrative Staff
Merthyr Tydfil Safeguarding Unit -131 Service Support and Development 131 Centralisation of Administrative Staff
Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) -24 Service Support and Development 24 Centralisation of Administrative Staff
Community Occupational Therapy -75 Telecare / Telehealth Services (Assistive 

Technologies)
75 All Assistive Technology costs removed to reflect

the COT team only and transferred to Telecare
so all equipment and installation costs are
together

Intake Team -80 Children Looked After (Court, Legal & Professional) 
Services

80 New line in summary to clearly identify CLA Legal 
& Court Costs in more accurate and transparent
way

LAC Residential Placement Services -299 Leaving Care Support Services 299 3 Leaving Care/Independent Living Step Down
beds being reflected on Residential services
inaccurately, should be within Leaving Care
Services

Strategic Management -7 Education Department Training 7 Budget line name change to more accurate
reflect budget purpose.

Office Running costs -1 Education Inclusion 1 Virement of budget to reflect where spend is
occuring.

Virement From Virement To
Reason for Virement

P
age 90



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 June 2018)
Proposed Budget Virements Appendix 2

Budget
Amount 

£'000 Budget
Amount 

£'000
Grounds Maintenance -56 Bereavement Services 56 Transfer of agency budget for seasonal grass

cutters at the Cemeteries. 
Street Cleansing -13 Sustainable Waste 13 Transfer of Single Revenue Grant income budget

to reflect new grant profile.
Engineering -32 Sustainable Waste 32 Transfer of Single Revenue Grant income budget

to reflect new grant profile.
Waste Disposal -15 Grounds Maintenance 15 Transfer of disposal budget for street cleansing

waste.
Corporate Property & Estates Division -30 Collection Fund Surplus 30 Transfer of Council Tax budget for Merthyr Vale

properties. They are now exempt.
Planning - Development Plan -4 ICT Computers 4 Transfer of GIS software payment to ICT
Audit -1 Trading Standards General 1 Transfer of budget for National Anti-Fraud

Network subscription.
Service Support and Development -50
Executive Support -20
Benefits -50
Revenues -21
Parking -65
Licensing -6

Risk Management -96 Business Change & Risk Management 96 Risk Management budget vired to Business 
Change as part of restructure of service

Partnerships -50
Performance -277
Business Change & Risk Management -15

Community Safety -27 Housing Renovation Grants 27 Housing manager costs re-allocation to reflect 
where resourse is committed.

Public Health 5

Environmental Protection & Housing 10
Total -1699 1699

Strategic Partnership Workstreams 212
Virement of budgeted savings achieved by the 
Customer Workstream.

Virement From Virement To
Reason for Virement

Food Safety & Prevention of Infectious 
Diseases

-15 Environmental Health Officers costs re-allocation 
to reflect where resourse is committed.

Scrutiny, Performance & Partnerships 342

Performance & Partnerships vired to Scrutiny as 
part of restructure of service (virement of £15k 
relates to Scrutiny Officer post for April to June 
18)

P
age 91



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 June 2018)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 07-Mar-18 Virements Virements 30-Jun-18 Month 3

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Social Services
Business Support
Business Manager 59 59 16 61 2 3.39
Compliments and Complaints 74 74 8 75 1 1.35

133 0 0 133 24 136 3 2.26

Social Care Services and Recharges
Quality & Regulation Services 101 -8 93 17 93 0 0.00
Client Financial Management Services 225 225 60 227 2 0.89
Receivership 28 28 0 28 0 0.00
SEWIC Making the Connections 0 0 -140 0 0 0.00

354 -8 0 346 -63 348 2 0.58

Duty, IAA & ACT Compliance
Out of Hours/Emergency Duty Services 75 75 0 75 0 0.00
IAA Duty Services 68 68 17 69 1 1.47
Citizen Engagement 0 0 0 0 0 0.00

143 0 0 143 17 144 1 0.70

Early Intervention and Assistance Services
Multiple Intervention Assistance Service 0 0 19 0 0 0.00
Carers Network 218 -11 207 11 206 -1 -0.48

218 -11 0 207 30 206 -1 -0.48

Social Services Collaborative Partnerships
SEW IT Shared Service 26 26 0 0 -26 -100.00
Integrated Community Equipment Store (ICES) 169 169 0 169 0 0.00
Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development 144 144 0 144 0 0.00
Cwm Taf Youth Offending Services 340 340 0 310 -30 -8.82
Vale, Valleys & Cardiff (VVC) Regional Adoption Group 175 175 -15 178 3 1.71
Integrated Family Support Services (IFST) 280 280 0 280 0 0.00
Delivering Transformation (Collaborative Regional Change Agenda) 62 62 0 62 0 0.00
Cwm Taf Autism Service 40 40 14 40 0 0.00
Deprivation of Liberty (DOLs) Services 72 72 7 73 1 1.39

1,308 0 0 1,308 6 1,256 -52 -3.98

Appendix 3

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 92



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 June 2018)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 07-Mar-18 Virements Virements 30-Jun-18 Month 3

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Adult Social Services
Adult Social Care
Adult Services Management 145 145 32 145 0 0.00
Social Care Client Service Strategies 48 48 12 48 0 0.00
Health Park Building Costs 163 163 41 163 0 0.00

356 0 0 356 85 356 0 0.00

Assessment & Care Management Services
Social Work Team 1,183 -38 1,145 282 1,142 -3 -0.26

1,183 0 -38 1,145 282 1,142 -3 -0.26

Initial Support Services
ISS Management 68 68 17 68 0 0.00
Initial Adult Services 261 -12 249 59 241 -8 -3.21
Initial Response Services 567 -11 556 103 560 4 0.72
Community Occupational Therapy 395 -11 -75 309 68 305 -4 -1.29
Telecare / Telehealth Services (Assistive Technologies) 37 75 112 4 113 1 0.89

1,328 -11 -23 1,294 251 1,287 -7 -0.54

Supported and Accommodation Services
MTCBC Homes for the Elderly 1,749 1,749 380 1,800 51 2.92
MTCBC Group Home (Llysfaen Fach) 904 904 223 922 18 1.99
Supporting People 99 99 42 64 -35 -35.35

2,752 0 0 2,752 645 2,786 34 1.24

Day Care Services
Outside/Community Based Activities 227 227 49 233 6 2.64
Day Centres 1,006 -20 986 257 996 10 1.01
Transport 215 215 15 215 0 0.00

1,448 0 -20 1,428 321 1,444 16 1.12

Appendix 3

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 93



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 June 2018)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 07-Mar-18 Virements Virements 30-Jun-18 Month 3

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Independent External Care Provision
Supported Placements 2,496 2,496 34 2,498 2 0.08
Shared Lives 387 387 116 362 -25 -6.46
Independent Domiciliary Care 1,812 1,812 268 1,812 0 0.00
Direct Payments 1,693 1,693 514 1,658 -35 -2.07
Independent Commissioned Day Services 166 166 34 185 19 11.45
Independent Residential Establishments (IRE's) 4,751 4,751 1,017 4,501 -250 -5.26
Extra Care Facility 248 248 49 256 8 3.23

11,553 0 0 11,553 2,032 11,272 -281 -2.43

Children Social Services
Children's Social Care
Children's Social Care 203 -68 135 37 135 0 0.00

Children with Disabilities
Children with Disabilities 687 687 188 688 1 0.15

Children Looked After
Looked After Children Team 499 -25 474 115 475 1 0.21
Looked After Children Educational Support (LACES) 161 161 35 168 7 4.35
Fostering & Family Placement Team 413 413 94 410 -3 -0.73
LAC Residential Placement Services 1,495 -299 1,196 286 1,615 419 35.03
Fostering Services 3,016 3,016 526 3,116 100 3.32
Children Looked After (Court, Legal & Professional) Services 0 80 80 12 103 23 28.75
Leaving Care Support Services 412 299 711 137 722 11 1.55
Adoption Services 111 111 23 103 -8 -7.21
Advocacy Services 75 75 -11 75 0 0.00

6,182 0 55 6,237 1,217 6,787 550 8.82

Appendix 3

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 94



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 June 2018)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 07-Mar-18 Virements Virements 30-Jun-18 Month 3

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Intake & Family Support Services
Intake Team 549 -99 450 125 475 25 5.56
Child & Family Team 633 -25 608 117 606 -2 -0.33
Specialist Family Support 25 25 12 25 0 0.00
Family Centre & Contact Services 623 -25 598 153 580 -18 -3.01
Children in Need 432 5 437 80 436 -1 -0.23
Support Other Than Looked After Services 752 752 186 730 -22 -2.93

3,014 0 -144 2,870 673 2,852 -18 -0.63

Youth Justice Services
Youth Justice Services (LASPO) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00

Safeguarding
Merthyr Tydfil Safeguarding Unit 200 -131 69 17 68 -1 -1.45
Independent Safeguarding Services 108 108 17 120 12 11.11
Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 311 -25 286 57 310 24 8.39

619 0 -156 463 91 498 35 7.56

Early Years and Youth Management 60 60 15 59 -1 -1.67

Early Years
Early Years 156 156 21 151 -5 -3.21
Out of School Childcare Grant 0 0 13 0 0 0.00
Integrated Children's Centre 63 -2 61 19 60 -1 -1.64
Flying Start 0 0 476 0 0 0.00

219 -2 0 217 529 211 -6 -2.76

Appendix 3

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 95



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 June 2018)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 07-Mar-18 Virements Virements 30-Jun-18 Month 3

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Youth Services
Youth Service Management 120 120 34 119 -1 -0.83
Youth Service Street based 66 66 18 64 -2 -3.03
Youth Service 16+ 35 35 6 35 0 0.00
Youth Servie Penydre 102 -9 93 27 92 -1 -1.08
Youth Service Treharris 87 -2 85 24 76 -9 -10.59
Youth Service Cyfarthfa 79 -4 75 14 74 -1 -1.33
Youth Service Troedyrhiw 75 75 12 73 -2 -2.67
Youth service YPAG 0 0 -1 0 0 0.00
Youth Service Strategy Grant 0 0 19 0 0 0.00
Sufficiency Assessments 20 20 0 20 0 0.00
Participation & Youth Support Services 83 83 6 81 -2 -2.41

667 -15 0 652 159 634 -18 -2.76

Communities First 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00

Inspire Programmes
Inspire to Achieve 0 0 234 0 0 0.00
Inspire to Work 0 0 131 0 0 0.00
Inspire Match Funding 24 24 0 24 0 0.00

24 0 0 24 365 24 0 0.00

Families First (grant) 0 0 116 0 0 100.00

Community Development
Adult Community Learning 34 34 14 28 -6 -17.65
Family & Community Services 49 49 10 39 -10 -20.41
NIACE 0 0 0 0 0 0.00

83 0 0 83 24 67 -16 -19.28

Net Expenditure Social Services 32,534 -47 -394 32,093 7,044 32,332 239 0.74

Year End 
Projection Variance

Appendix 3

P
age 96



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 June 2018)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 07-Mar-18 Virements Virements 30-Jun-18 Month 3

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Learning Department

Individual Schools Budget
Individual Schools Budget (ISB) 38,888 38,888 38,888 38,888 0 0.00
Ynysowen Speech & Language 79 79 0 79 0 0.00
Partial Hearing Classes 162 162 166 162 0 0.00
EIG 241 241 224 224 -17 -7.05

39,370 0 0 39,370 39,278 39,353 -17 -0.04

Other School Expenditure
Maternity Costs 62 62 -122 62 0 0.00
Facility Time 16 16 0 16 0 0.00
Retirement / Severance 364 364 62 364 0 0.00
Welsh Joint Education Committee (WJEC) 14 14 0 0 -14 -100.00
Standardising Advisory Council on Religious Education (SACRE) 0 0 0 0 0 0.00

456 0 0 456 -60 442 -14 -3.07

School Meals and Milk
School Meals 13 13 277 13 0 0.00
Breakfast Clubs 0 0 103 0 0 0.00

13 0 0 13 380 13 0 0.00

Strategic Management and Support
Education Department Training 7 7 0 7 0 0.00
Extended Leadership Team 78 78 14 78 0 0.00

85 0 0 85 14 85 0 0.00

Appendix 3

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 97



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 June 2018)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 07-Mar-18 Virements Virements 30-Jun-18 Month 3

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

School Support Services
Building Maintenance 47 47 6 79 32 68.09
Health & Safety 29 29 6 25 -4 -13.79
Caretaking & Cleaning SLA 0 0 4 0 0 0.00
LMS & Resources 48 48 19 48 0 0.00
Admissions 70 70 20 70 0 0.00
Governor Support 27 27 27 26 -1 -3.70
Headteacher / Schools Forum 3 3 0 0 -3 -100.00
General Office Running Costs 10 -1 9 1 9 0 0.00
Peripatetic Music Service 0 0 17 0 0 0.00
Youth Orchestra Service 15 15 3 15 0 0.00

249 0 -1 248 103 272 24 9.68

Other Education
Local Safeguarding Children's Board (LSCB) 9 9 9 9 0 0.00
Ground Rent - Cyfarthfa Park Infants buillding 17 17 16 16 -1 -5.88
Vacant Education Properties 0 0 0 0 0 0.00
Grant to Organisations 1 1 0 0 -1 -100.00

27 0 0 27 25 25 -2 -7.41

Special Educational Needs
Education Inclusion 66 1 67 22 67 0 0.00
Enhanced Provision (1-1 LSA's) 1,162 1,162 269 1,769 607 52.24
Ehanced Provision (Behaviour Support) 175 175 35 143 -32 -18.29
Speech Therapists 51 51 4 51 0 0.00
Special Tuition 231 231 94 259 28 12.12
Special Needs Advisory  Teachers 115 115 20 118 3 2.61
Special Recoupment 816 816 90 816 0 0.00
Psychological Services 382 382 77 382 0 0.00
SNAP Cymru 13 13 13 13 0 0.00
ALN Training 12 12 1 12 0 0.00
School Counselling 69 69 0 69 0 0.00
School Transport 979 979 137 979 0 0.00

4,071 0 1 4,072 762 4,678 606 14.88

Year End 
Projection Variance

Appendix 3

P
age 98



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 June 2018)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 07-Mar-18 Virements Virements 30-Jun-18 Month 3

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

School Improvement
Strategic Education Projects 89 89 16 89 0 0.00
Schools Data Management Systems 106 106 9 106 0 0.00
Joint Education Service 250 250 123 247 -3 -1.20

445 0 0 445 148 442 -3 -0.67

Net Expenditure Learning Department 44,716 0 0 44,716 40,650 45,310 594 1.33

Year End 
Projection Variance

Appendix 3

P
age 99



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 June 2018)
Places and Transformation Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 02-Mar-17 Virements Virements 30-Jun-18 Month 3

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Director of Place & Transformation

ICT
ICT Computers 1,512 4 1,516 602 1,512 -4 -0.26
Schools ICT Team 0 0 102 0 0 0.00
ICT Printing 188 188 63 188 0 0.00

Business Change & Risk Management 354 81 435 109 458 23 5.29

Communications
Corporate Communication Team inc Contact 134 134 35 140 6 4.48
News Merthyr/Contact Supplement 0 0 -2 0 0 0.00

Emergency Planning 99 99 22 96 -3 -3.03

2,287 0 85 2,372 931 2,394 22 0.93

Appendix 4

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 100



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 June 2018)
Places and Transformation Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 02-Mar-17 Virements Virements 30-Jun-18 Month 3

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Community Regeneration

Economic Development 217 217 66 217 0 0.00
Physical Regeneration 184 184 32 184 0 0.00
Rights of Way 92 92 14 92 0 0.00
Orbit Business Centre -21 -21 -31 -32 -11 52.38
Tourist Information Centre 0 0 4 0 0 0.00

Employability & Worklessness
Employability core 288 288 124 293 5 1.74
Bridges into work 2 (grant) 0 0 131 0 0 0.00
Working Skills for Adults 0 0 122 0 0 0.00
Communities for Work P3 0 0 69 0 0 0.00
Communities for Work P1 0 0 110 0 0 0.00

Public Protection
Housing Renovation Grants -71 -71 19 -71 0 0.00
Housing Services (RSL's Advice & Strategy) 460 27 487 148 503 16 3.29
Community Safety 119 -27 92 30 93 1 1.09
Trading Standards General 240 1 241 50 239 -2 -0.83
Licensing 21 -6 15 -5 17 2 13.33
Public Health 91 5 96 22 95 -1 -1.04
Environmental Protection & Housing 157 10 167 45 167 0 0.00
Operational - combined Dog Warden and Pest Control 60 60 13 60 0 0.00
Animal Impounding 2 2 0 2 0 0.00
Food Safety & Prevention of Infectious Diseases 194 -15 179 44 178 -1 -0.56
Default Works 0 0 0 0 0 0.00
Registrars 80 80 18 75 -5 -6.25
Contribution from Renewal Reserve -75 -75 0 -75 0 0.00
Transport 1,573 1,573 745 1,576 3 0.19

3,611 0 -5 3,606 1,770 3,613 7 0.19

Appendix 4

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 101



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 June 2018)
Places and Transformation Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 02-Mar-17 Virements Virements 30-Jun-18 Month 3

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Neighbourhood Services

Bereavement Services -54 56 2 32 69 67 3,350
Grounds Maintenance 1,228 -41 1,187 348 1,237 50 4.21
Street Cleansing 1,174 -13 1,161 319 1,169 8 0.69
Fleet Management 720 720 295 722 2 0.28

Refuse and Waste
Waste Disposal 730 -15 715 286 744 29 4.06
Civic Amenities 820 820 180 805 -15 -1.83
Recycling 279 279 96 268 -11 -3.94
Refuse Collection 815 815 3 816 1 0.12
Sustainable Waste 719 45 764 210 810 46 6.02
Pentrebach Depot 331 331 127 357 26 0.00

Highways and Engineering
Highways Administration 427 427 128 428 1 0.23
Highways Operational 805 805 184 818 13 1.61
Street Lighting 271 271 99 290 19 7.01
Bridge Maintenance 105 105 13 105 0 0.00
Land Drainage 47 47 7 48 1 2.13
Land Reclamation 21 21 4 21 0 0.00
Traffic Management 38 -8 30 2 30 0 0.00
Engineering 413 -29 -32 352 79 352 0 0.00
Depots 78 78 31 78 0 0.00

Year End 
Projection Variance

Appendix 4

P
age 102



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 June 2018)
Places and Transformation Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 02-Mar-17 Virements Virements 30-Jun-18 Month 3

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Corporate Property
Corporate Property & Estates Division 663 -30 633 162 636 3 0.47
Glynmil Gipsy Site 3 3 -7 3 0 0.00
Asset Management 0 0 6 0 0 0.00
Office Accommodation 765 765 363 760 -5 -0.65

Planning & Countryside
Planning - Development Control 156 156 30 158 2 1.28
Planning - Development Plan 425 -4 421 44 413 -8 -1.90
Building Control 53 53 -16 53 0 0.00

11,032 -37 -34 10,961 3,025 11,190 229 2.09

Corporate Services
Risk Management 96 -96 0 0 0 0 0.00
Partnerships 50 -50 0 0 0 0 0.00
Service Support and Development 756 -23 309 1,042 297 1,060 18 1.73
Executive Support 191 -20 171 41 170 -1 -0.58
CCTV 165 165 32 162 -3 -1.82
Peace of Mind 12 12 -20 4 -8 -66.67
Audit 234 -1 233 50 225 -8 -3.43
Benefits 294 -15 279 96 299 20 7.17
Revenues 32 -31 -21 -20 146 11 31 -155.00
Parking Services -288 -65 -353 -7 -353 0 0.00
Civil Parking Enforcement 0 0 17 0 0 0.00
Leisure Trust 2,423 2,423 592 2,424 1 0.04
Retained Leisure 80 80 10 72 -8 -10.00
Sports Development 0 0 23 0 0 0.00

4,045 -54 41 4,032 1,277 4,074 42 1.04

Appendix 4

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 103



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 June 2018)
Places and Transformation Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 50 Virements Virements £'000 0

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Finance
Accountancy 728 728 184 729 1 0.14
Insurance 46 46 11 46 0 0.00
Creditors 150 150 37 150 0 0.00
Procurement 284 284 75 284 0 0.00

1,208 0 0 1,208 307 1,209 1 0.08

Legal 
Legal 243 243 36 244 1 0.41
Information Governance 94 94 25 103 9 9.57
Democracy 203 203 47 209 6 2.96
Register of Electors 40 40 13 45 5 12.50
Elections 0 0 0 0 0 0.00
Mayor Expenses 62 62 4 62 0 0.00
Members Expenses 761 761 130 771 10 1.31
Scrutiny, Performance & Partnerships 1 342 343 102 338 -5 -1.46

1,404 0 342 1,746 357 1,772 26 1.49

Human Resources & Organisational Development
Human Resources 576 576 197 576 0 0.00
Payroll 252 252 53 250 -2 -0.79
Trade Unions 25 -5 20 12 7 -13 -65.00

853 -5 0 848 262 833 -15 -1.77

Performance 277 -277 0 0 0 0 0.00

Net Expenditure Place and Transformation 24,717 -96 152 24,773 7,929 25,085 312 1.26

Appendix 4

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 104



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 June 2018)
Corporate Costs 

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 02-Mar-17 Virements Virements 30-Jun-18 Month 3

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Corporate Management - Executive 1,581 1,581 369 1,585 4 0.25

Corporate Authority
Capital Financing Costs 7,024 7,024 0 7,024 0 0.00
Levies 2,953 2,953 471 2,953 0 0.00
Council Tax Benefit Payments 6,025 6,025 6,049 6,049 24 0.40
Rent Allowances -6 -6 -174 -6 0 0.00
Contribution to Pensions 453 453 77 453 0 0.00
External Audit and Inspection Fees 330 330 22 330 0 0.00
Insurances 400 400 477 400 0 0.00
Provision for Bad Debts 100 100 0 100 0 0.00
External Legal Fees 30 30 68 66 36 120.00
Grants to Voluntary Organisations 14 14 5 14 0 0.00
Subscriptions 95 95 85 95 0 0.00
Bank Charges 71 71 16 71 0 0.00
Empty Property NDR Relief 31 31 45 45 14 45.16
Translations/Welsh Translations 77 77 10 77 0 0.00
Other 0 0 19 116 116 100.00
Welsh Water Long Term Debt Interest -11 -11 0 -11 0 0.00
Payroll Insurance Income -5 -5 0 -5 0 0.00
Car Purchase Loans 0 0 0 0 0 0.00
Corporate Property -64 -64 -25 -64 0 0.00
Apprenticeship Levy 266 266 44 266 0 0.00
Holiday pay 22 22 0 0 -22 -100.00
Strategic Partnership Workstreams -181 212 31 0 0 -31 -100.00

17,624 0 212 17,836 7,189 17,973 137 0.77

Net Expenditure Corporate 19,205 0 212 19,417 7,558 19,558 141 0.73

Appendix 5

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 105



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 June 2018) Appendix 6
Major Variances

Ref. Budget Head Variance Variance Explanation
£'000 %

1 Social Services Collaborative Partnerships 
SEW IT Shared Service

-26 -100.00 Consortium has dissolved.  18/19 in year saving ahead of 
permanent budget cut recommendation within the current 
efficiency round. 

No further action

2 Supported and Accommodation Services 
MTCBC Homes for the Elderly

51 2.92 Cover for staff direct replacement costs exceeding available 
budgets (Northern Home £30k and Southern Home £21k).

Continued monitoring

3 Supported and Accommodation Services 
Supporting People

-35 -35.35 Budgeted to fund staff member from core, however it has been 
confirmed SPPG allows a final year of eligibility. 

No further action

4 Independent External Care Provision 
Independent Residential Establishments 
(IRE's)

-250 -5.26 Projecting a potential saving of £250k based on previous trends 
being around 160-170 clients, property accounts yet to be 
realised and as a comparison on the 17/18 outturn position.

Continued monitoring

5 Children Looked After LAC Residential 
Placement Services

419 35.03 Additional places within the Children Looked After system. Continued monitoring

6 Children Looked After Fostering Services 100 3.32 Increased cost burden for fostering placements. Continued monitoring

7 Children Looked After (Court, Legal & 
Professional) Services

23 28.75 Legal & Professional fees are currently projected on the average 
outturn of 16/17 and 17/18 whilst the impact of the 18/19 LAC 
population is more accurately known.

Continued monitoring

8 Building Maintenance 32 68.09 Failed to meet 2016/17 budget reduction of 20%.   Budget is 
funding statutory repair and maintenance, asbestos 
surveys/removals and electrical testing.

Continue to monitor.  A growth request will be 
required for 2019/20.

Action Taken to address

P
age 106



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 June 2018) Appendix 6
Major Variances

Ref. Budget Head Variance Variance Explanation
£'000 %

9 Enhanced Provision (1-1 LSA's) 607 52.24 Additional Enhanced Provision support has been made by the 
Additional Learning Need (ALN) Clearing Panel as a result of an 
increase in identification of ALN within schools.  

Chief Officer has been invited to Budget Board.

10 Ehanced Provision (Behaviour Support) -32 -18.29 Vacant post within the Behaviour Support Team held to offset 
the overspend in Enhanced Provision.

No further action

11 Special Tuition 28 12.12 Additional Special Tuition support has been made by the 
clearing Panel as a result of an increase in identification of 
needs within schools. 

Continue to monitor.   

12 Housing Services (RSL's Advice & 
Strategy)

16 3.20 The costs of Bed and Breakfast (B&B) utilised as a temporary 
measure to deal with homeless clients is estimated to be £33k 
over budget. £10k of the £12K Housing Prevention Fund to be 
utilised to offset B&B, along with the Shared Accomodation 
budget of £8k and Temporary Accomodation budget of £2.4k.

Continue to monitor.   

13 Bereavement Services 67 3,350.00 Fee income is 20% lower than budget at month 3. Based on this 
(and the 17/18 outturn) fee income is projected to be £94k lower 
than budget at year-end.

Continue to monitor.   

14 Grounds Maintenance 50 4.21 Projecting an overspend on security costs at Cyfarthfa Park. A 
reduction in the number of security hours was budgeted for, but 
has not yet been implemented.

The saving proposal was deffered but needs to be 
reviewed in 2018/19.

15 Sustainable Waste 46 6.02 The Sustainable Waste Management Grant (formally part of the 
Environment and Sustainable Development Grant) was reduced 
by £47k in 18/19, and further cuts are expected in 19/20. The 
grant is used to fund the kerbside recycling collection service.

Additional core funding may be required in 2019/20.

16 Benefits 20 7.18 A £69k reduction in payments to voluntary organisations was 
budgeted for but has not been implemented. This has been 
offset by sundry grant income receipts from the Department of 
Work and Pensions (£43k).

Budget will be reviewed.

Action Taken to address

P
age 107



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 (As at 30 June 2018) Appendix 6
Major Variances

Ref. Budget Head Variance Variance Explanation
£'000 %

17 Revenue 31 155.19 Anticipated shortfall in Baliff income offset by sundry cost 
savings 

Budget will be reviewed.

18 Corporate-Legal Fees 36 120.00 Legal fees relating to Ffos y Fran have been incurred. Continue to monitor but out of our control

19 Corporate-Other 116 100.00 Costs associated with Pengarnddu, including Security and utility 
costs.

Continue to monitor but out of our control

Action Taken to address

P
age 108



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

School Reorganisation – 3 to 16 Voluntary Aided 
School

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report seeks approval to commence consultation on a school reorganisation 
proposal to close St Aloysius Roman Catholic (RC) Primary, St Illtyd’s RC Primary 
and St Mary’s RC Primary Schools and Bishop Hedley RC High School creating a 3-
16 all through Catholic education provision with effect from 1st September 2019.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 a period of consultation with all appropriate bodies is entered into, with a view to:
 closing St Aloysius RC Primary, St Illtyd’s RC Primary and St Mary’s RC Primary 

Schools and Bishop Hedley RC High School;
 creating a 3-16 all through Catholic education provision with effect from 1st 

September 2019; and
 continuing to provide education on existing sites until such time as the proposals 

for utilising 21st Century Band B monies are agreed by Council.

2.2 if 2.1 is agreed a further report be presented to Council following the period of 
consultation.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Council is responsible for promoting high educational standards and for 
delivering efficient primary and secondary education.  Having the right schools in the 

Date Written 25th June 2018
Report Author Sue Walker
Service Area Learning
Committee Division Strategic
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 25th July 2018

Page 109

Agenda Item 8



right place and ensuring that they are fit for the 21st century learner is the challenge 
facing the Council.  Achieving this will involve reviewing the number and type of 
schools the Council has in its area and assessing whether or not best use is being 
made of resources and facilities.

3.2 The Council in conjunction with the Archdiocese has determined to review its 
Catholic faith provision on the basis of:
 educational standards;
 the need for places and the accessibility of schools;
 the quality and suitability of school accommodation; and 
 effective financial management.

3.3 Over the past two years, there has been extensive discussion with officers from the 
Cardiff Archdiocese, local authority officers and school governors from the Catholic 
schools in Merthyr Tydfil regarding the future provision for Catholic education within 
the County Borough.

4.0 THE PROPOSAL

4.1 This report is aimed at rationalising educational provision across the County Borough 
in the interests of efficiency and effectiveness, by seeking permission to consult on 
the merging of St Aloysius RC Primary, St Illtyd’s RC Primary and St Mary’s RC 
Primary Schools with Bishop Hedley High School to form a 3-16 voluntary aided 
school located on the schools’ existing sites.

4.2 The Archdiocese and local authority officers have held meetings with all 
Headteachers and Governing Bodies to consider the advantages and practicalities of 
the proposal.  All stakeholders have agreed to start the formal consultation process.  

4.3 The above proposal, if eventually agreed, will be to close St Aloysius RC Primary, St 
Illtyd’s RC Primary and St Mary’s RC Primary Schools with Bishop Hedley RC High 
School creating a 3-16 all through Catholic education provision.

4.4 The new school will have a single governance management structure.  A temporary 
Governing Body for the new school will be set up subject to the outcome of the 
consultation to support the appointment of a substantive Headteacher for September 
2019.

4.5 It is intended to open the 3-16 school on 1st September 2019 on the current schools’ 
sites.

5.0 PROPOSED NEW SCHOOL

5.1 As part of the Council’s Band B proposals officers will work with the Archdiocese to 
secure a suitable site for the creation of a new, purpose built 3-16 school for all 
pupils from the four schools.

5.2 The proposal to bring the schools together as one, prior to the new build, allows for 
the appointment of a substantive Headteacher who will then be able to work with the 
new Governing Body and be closely involved in the subsequent design and build.

Page 110



5.3 The proposed new 3-16, all-through school will provide for up to 525 full time primary 
school places, 63 full time equivalent nursery places and 520 secondary school 
places.

5.4 Ultimately a new school build provides the opportunity to deliver a stimulating 
teaching and learning environment in state of the art, 21st Century facilities that will 
impact positively on the self-esteem and wellbeing of pupils and will aim to improve 
the learning outcomes for all children across the ability range.

5.5 With a new school comes more choices and improved opportunities because there is 
more space and better facilities.  In the Estyn report of 2007, ‘An evaluation of 
performance of schools before and after moving into new buildings or significantly 
refurbished premises’, it is reported that the attainment and achievement of pupils 
improves significantly when they move into new or significantly refurbished buildings, 
particularly when schools are in areas with high levels of social and economic 
deprivation.

5.6 The new school will ensure that pupils have adaptable ICT facilities suitable for 
learning in the 21st century.  Mobile technology will be integrated with a sound 
pedagogical base to provide pupils with enhanced learning experiences, equipping 
them with the key skills and motivation needed to raise standards.

5.7 The new build school will be an exciting place for pupils and staff both internally and 
externally.  It will have spacious, light and airy classrooms, with access to a range of 
high quality and appropriate spaces for social interaction.  The 2015 report ‘Clever 
Classrooms’, found that well designed schools can significantly boost children’s 
academic performance in reading, writing and maths.  The school will allow for the 
delivery of a pupil-centred, inclusive and skills based curriculum that extends to 
social and sporting activities.  It will aim to promote equality and inclusion by 
providing facilities, sporting and cultural, which can be accessed by pupils and which 
the school can share with the community.

5.8 A new build of this kind is a significant investment in the future of the young people of 
the area and clearly signals that the Council and Archdiocese are serious about 
making schools fit for purpose places of learning.  

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 If this school reorganisation proposal is agreed there is potential to make savings 
and the detail of this will be shared with Cabinet at a future date.

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

Page 111



SUE WALKER
CHIEF OFFICER (LEARNING)

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Governing Body 
Minutes

Various Learning Department

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 112



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Charging for Community Care Support Services

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The Social Care Charges (Wales) Measure 2010 gave local authorities in Wales a 
discretionary power to impose a reasonable charge upon adult recipients of non-
residential community care services.

1.2 The Social Care Charges (Wales) Measure 2010 also gave the Welsh Government 
the authority to determine the maximum weekly charge any individual service user 
could be asked to pay.  This was initially set at £50 per week but has been increased 
incrementally to currently be £80 per week.

1.3 It is proposed that the maximum weekly charge is increased to the maximum 
currently allowed by the Welsh Government of £80 per week and that the increase in 
charge will be effective from 7th October 2018.

1.4 The Welsh Government has indicated that they intend to continue to incrementally 
increase the maximum weekly charge any individual service user could be asked to 
pay to £100 per week.

1.5 It is proposed that Cabinet agree that the maximum charge is automatically 
increased for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council to match the maximum charge 
allowed by the Welsh Government.  It is anticipated that this will mean the maximum 
charge increasing to £90 per week from April 2019 and increasing further to £100 
per week in April 2020.

Date Written June 2018
Report Author Jonathan Strong
Service Area Social Services 
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 25th July 2018

Page 113

Agenda Item 9



2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The maximum weekly charge be increased to the maximum currently allowed by the 
Welsh Government of £80 per week and that the increase in charge will be effective 
from 7th October 2018.

2.2 The maximum charge be automatically increased to match the maximum charge 
allowed by the Welsh Government.  It is anticipated that this will mean the maximum 
charge increasing to £90 per week from April 2019 and increasing further to £100 
per week in April 2020.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Social Care Charges (Wales) Measure 2010 gave local authorities in Wales a 
discretionary power to impose a reasonable charge upon adult recipients of non-
residential community care services.

3.2 The Social Care Charges (Wales) Measure 2010 also gave the Welsh Government 
the authority to determine the maximum weekly charge any individual service user 
could be asked to pay.  This was initially set at £50 per week but has been increased 
incrementally to currently be £80 per week.

3.3 Following the introduction of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 
which came into effect on 6th April 2016, the maximum weekly charge of £60 has 
been retained in Merthyr Tydfil.  The cap on the total weekly charge to service users 
severely limits the ability of the Council to recoup its costs in delivering non-
residential community care services but it does ensure that the effect of price rises in 
providing the service for service users is limited.

3.4 The charging policy applies to all non-residential community care services, either 
provided directly or commissioned by Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council.  In 
appropriate circumstances service users are asked to make a weekly contribution 
towards the costs of the following services: domiciliary care, day services and 
supported living accommodation. 

3.5 The charge must not be more than is reasonably practicable for the service user to 
pay and further the Authority cannot charge more than the actual cost to the 
Authority of providing or arranging the relevant service. 

3.6 The service users charge is calculated based on a financial assessment of their 
specific financial circumstances and as such no individual will pay more than they 
can afford.  A significant number of service users are assessed as having a nil 
charge.  As required by Regulations no service user is asked to pay more than the 
maximum total weekly charge of £60.

3.7 It is proposed that the maximum weekly charge is increased to the maximum 
currently allowed by the Welsh Government of £80 per week and that the increase in 
charge will be effective from 7th October 2018.  The increase in charge would affect 
potentially 126 service users and would result in potential additional income to the 

Page 114



Authority of £50,000 part year for 2018/2019 with £100,000 potentially being realised 
for the full year in 2019/2020.

3.8 The Welsh Government have indicated that they intend to continue to incrementally 
increase the maximum weekly charge any individual service user could be asked to 
pay to £100 per week. 

3.9 It is proposed that Cabinet agree that the maximum charge is automatically 
increased for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council to match the maximum charge 
allowed by the Welsh Government.  It is anticipated that this will mean the maximum 
charge increasing to £90 per week from April 2019 and increasing further to £100 
per week in April 2020.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The increase in charge to £80 per week effective from 7th October 2018 would result 
in potential additional income to the Authority of £50,000 in 2018/2019 with £100,000 
potentially being realised in 2019/2020.

4.2 Any further increase in the maximum charge for 2019/2020 would result in additional 
income being realised for the Authority but the exact figure would not be known until 
financial reassessments were undertaken as the charge levied is based on each 
individual service user’s financial circumstances.  However it is likely that for every 
increase of £10 in the weekly maximum charge it is likely that this will realise an 
additional £100,000 in income generated.

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

LISA CURTIS-JONES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Social Services and 
Wellbeing (Wales) Act 
2014 Regulations

June 2015 Unit 5

Social Services and 
Wellbeing (Wales) Act 
2014 Codes of Practice

December 2015 Unit 5

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Cwm Taf Carers Annual Report 2017-18

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of this report is to approve for submission to Welsh Government the 
Annual Report for 2017/18 in relation to Carers.

1.2 Prior to the implementation of the Social Services and Wellbeing Act 2014, 
University Health Boards (UHBs) were given a lead role under the Welsh 
Government’s Carers Measure to work with partners including Local Authorities, 
Third Sector and importantly, Carers themselves.  We were required to submit an 
Annual Report to Welsh Government to provide an overview of the activities 
undertaken as part of the implementation of the Carers Measure.  Although the 
Carers Measure has been repealed, the requirement for an Annual report has been 
continued for 2016/17, 2017/18 and 2018/19 as part of the conditions of transitional 
funding from WG in place until March 2019.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that:

2.1 The contents of this report be noted and that the Annual report is also being 
submitted for approval by the Cabinet in Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough 
Council and the Cwm Taf University Health Board. 

2.2 Cabinet notes the Annual Report was due in Welsh Government at the end of June 
2018.  However, in line with previous practice which has been acceptable to Welsh 
Government, as the timeline of Cabinets in Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf 
County Borough Councils and UHB Board meetings did not neatly fit, a draft report 
will be submitted, with the final version sent to Welsh Government following approval 
by all three partners.    

Date Written June 2018
Report Author Nicola Davies  (Head of Health 

and Wellbeing (Cwm Taf UHB) 
Lisa Curtis-Jones

Service Area Social Services
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 25th July 2018

Page 117

Agenda Item 10



2.3 The Annual Report attached as Appendix 1 for submission to Welsh Government be 
approved.

2.4 The work relating to Carers being taken forward as part of the Regional Plan for the 
implementation of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014, specifically 
through implementation of the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy 2016-19 approved by 
partners in July 2016 be noted.  

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 As part of the Regional Work programme of the Cwm Taf Social Services and Well-
being Partnership Board, a new Cwm Taf Carers Strategy was developed in 2016 to 
replace the separate plans of partner organisations.  Working with partners across 
Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil, including Carers themselves, the Cwm Taf 
Carers Strategy 2016-2019 covers Carers of all ages. 

3.2 Having reviewed our current services, building on the progress made implementing 
the Carers Measure from 2012-2015 and taking into account the requirements of the 
SSWB Act as well as the views expressed during engagement and consultation with 
Carers and staff, we developed the following vision:  

‘Carers of all ages in Cwm Taf will be recognised and valued as being fundamental 
to supportive and resilient families and communities. They will not have to care alone 
and will be able to access information, advice and support to help meet their needs, 
empowering them to lead healthy and fulfilled lives, balancing their caring role and 
their life outside caring.’

3.3 A Cwm Taf Carers Partnership Group has been established with Member and senior 
officer representatives from across Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, Cwm Taf University Health Board and the 
Third Sector.  The Carers Partnership Group will monitor the implementation of the 
Strategy and promote the integration of services for Carers, as required by Part 9 of 
the SSWB Act. 

3.4 Throughout 2017/18, Cwm Taf UHB, Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
and  Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council have built upon the success of the 
previous year and continued to work collaboratively together with other partners in 
improving recognition of Carers and providing appropriate information and support.  
The Annual Report provides an opportunity to reflect on the progress we have made 
to date and looks ahead to the challenges and opportunities we will face in 2018/19.   

3.5 Key areas of work have included: 

 The continued recruitment and support of Carers Champions throughout Health 
and Social Care and the Third Sector, ensuring Caring Awareness is embedded 
into various departments and organisations; 

Page 118



 The provision of Carer Aware training (both via e learning and face to face) to 
further expand the knowledge of both Carers Champions and staff throughout the 
Cwm Taf region;

 The sharing of best practice at an annual Carers Champion conference held in 
May 2018 with a focus on Young Carers and Young Adult Carers; 

 Working with partners to deliver the annual Action Plan; and
 Continued with the Cwm Taf Partnership Group to oversee implementation of the 

Strategy, reporting to the SSWB Partnership Board.

3.6 In 2017/18, a piece of research on ‘The development of a Cwm Taf Regional 
Integrated Service Model for Carers’ was carried out by exploring the national and 
local context, good practice from across the UK, interviewing key stakeholders and 
reviewing the commissioning needs of the Cwm Taf region.  The Welsh Institute for 
Health and Social Care was appointed to assist the Partnership to:

 Review the existing model of services for Carers;
 Identify the most effective options for a regional integrated service model for 

Carers;
 Complete a detailed option appraisal with clear recommendations for the 

consideration of the Partnership Board.  Reference should specifically be made 
to Young Carers, Adult Carers and Respite services; and

 Support the development of an outline implementation plan to pursue the agreed 
service option for the region.

The findings from the Review were reported to TLG and the Regional Partnership 
Board. Actions are being taken forward through the Regional Plan. 

3.7 The Cwm Taf Carers Strategy has identified priority areas for investment going 
forward under the following 5 aims.  A detailed Action Plan was developed for 
2017/18 and the plan for 2018/19 is being finalised. 

3.8 The Aims for the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy are: 

 Aim 1:  Identifying Carers of all ages and recognising their contributions.
 Aim 2:  Providing up to date, relevant and timely information, advice & assistance 

to Carers of all ages. 
 Aim 3:  Providing support, services & training to meet the needs of Carers of all 

ages. 
 Aim 4:  Giving Carers of all ages a voice, with more choice & control over their 

lives.
 Aim 5:  Working together to make the most of our resources for the benefit of 

Carers of all ages.

3.9 Welsh Government has 3 National Priorities for 2018/19 that we also have to 
implement alongside the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy:

 Supporting life alongside caring – all Carers must have reasonable breaks from 
their caring role to enable them to maintain their capacity to care, and to have a 
life beyond caring;

Page 119



 Identifying and recognising Carers – fundamental to the success of delivering 
improved outcomes for Carers is the need to improve Carer’s recognition of their 
role and to ensure they can access the necessary support; and

 Providing information, advice and assistance – it is important that Carers receive 
the appropriate information and advice where and when they need it.

3.10 Funding was previously available from Welsh Government to deliver the Carers 
Measure - whilst the funding came to the UHB (because under the Measure Health 
Boards were given the lead for implementation) the funding was used in partnership.  

3.11 Welsh Government is providing transitional funding of £1million per annum for Wales 
in 2018/19 (£111K for Cwm Taf) to protect and build on progress to date and to 
support the expansion of Carers rights on the implementation of the SSWB Act.   
Funding will be provided on the understanding that we work in partnership to 
implement the Act by:

 
 Strengthening the partnership approach at a local level; 
 Creating opportunities to enable third sector to fully participate in the delivery; 
 Setting out how we intend to plan and deliver the increased responsibilities for 

health and the new responsibilities for local authorities; and
 Ensuring this transitional funding is used as the means to embed the practice of 

mainstreaming Carers’ needs, so it is common practice.

3.12 Welsh Government has stipulated, with regards to the Carers allocation for 2018/19:

 In relation to Identification and Recognition: 

It is expected that you work with partners to implement a scheme which supports 
GP practices to develop their Carer awareness and ways of working to support 
Carers.

In Cwm Taf, we are implementing an accreditation scheme with Agored Cymru in 
GP practices.  Work will continue with Carers champions in primary care to roll 
out this programme.

 In relation to Information, Advice and Assistance:

Discharge from hospital has been identified as an area where support for Carers 
needs to be improved.  There is a need to improve IAA provided to all Carers 
following discharge from hospital of someone who is cared for.  This includes 
involving Carers in developing any discharge plans.

The Review undertaken by WiHSC identified good practice in Bridgend in relation 
to an in reach service provided by the Third Sector to support carers with 
discharge arrangements and signposting to other information and support 
available.  Proposals for a similar service to be piloted in Cwm Taf will be 
discussed at the Carers Partnership Board on 18th June.   

Page 120



4.0 CONSULTATION 

4.1 The multi-agency Cwm Taf Carers Partnership has led the implementation and 
monitoring of the Carers Strategy.  It has representatives from the Health Board, 
both Local Authorities, Third Sector and Carers.  The work also involves a range of 
other partners including schools, University of South Wales and Job Centre Plus. 

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED 

5.1 The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 came into force in April 2016 
and is intended to transform the way services are delivered.  It repeals the majority 
of community care legislation including the Carers Strategies (Wales) Measure 2010. 

5.2 The new Act provides a definition of a Carer as “a person who provides or intends to 
provide care for an adult or disabled child” and removes the requirement that Carers 
must be providing a “substantial amount of care on a regular basis.”  The Act 
includes new rights for Carers and new duties on local authorities. 

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no financial implications aligned to this report.  The Cwm Taf Carers 
Partnership oversees the use of the Welsh Government transitional funding, 
reporting to the SSWB Transformation Leadership Group and the SSWB Partnership 
Board.

7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

LISA CURTIS JONES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR                 

SOCIAL SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Cwm Taf Carers Strategy
Annual Report 2017-18

May 2018

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



1

 

Cwm Taf Carers
Strategy

Annual Report
2017 - 2018

Page 123



2

CONTENTS

Content Page

Foreword 3

1 Cwm Taf Carers: An Overview 4

2 Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 6

3 Cwm Taf Carers Partnership Group 8

4 Key areas of work in 2017/18

4.1. Cwm Taf Regional Integrated Model for Carers Review

10

4.2. Cwm Taf Carers Strategy 11

4.2.1  Aim 1 Identifying Carers of all ages and recognising their 

contributions

14

4.2.2  Aim 2 Providing up to date, relevant and timely information, 

advice & assistance to Carers of all ages

21

4.2.3  Aim 3 Providing support, services & training to meet the 

needs of Carers of all ages

25

4.2.4  Aim 4 Giving Carers of all ages a voice, with more choice & 

control over their lives

30

4.2.5  Aim 5 Working together to make the most of our resources 

for the benefit of Carers of all ages

32

5 Performance Monitoring 34

6 Looking Forward 35

Page 124



3

Cwm Taf Carers Annual Report 2017 – 2018

Foreword
The Cwm Taf Social Services and Wellbeing Partnership Board have 
committed to a range of strategic intentions across the region in line with the 
Social Services and Well-being Act.  This has included the development of a 
Cwm Taf Carers Strategy and the establishment of a Cwm Taf Carers 
Partnership Group.

This report provides an overview of the work undertaken by partners working 
with Carers in 2017/18 to help us achieve the Vision we have set out for Cwm 
Taf.

Carers of all ages in Cwm Taf will be recognised and valued as 
being fundamental to supportive and resilient families and 
communities. They will not have to care alone and will be able to 
access information, advice and support to help meet their needs, 
empowering them to lead healthy and fulfilled lives, balancing their 
caring role and their life outside caring.

Lynda Williams
Director of Nursing, Midwifery 
and Patient Services
Cwm Taf University Health Board

Lisa Curtis-Jones
Chief Officer Social Services
Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council 

Giovanni Isingrini
Group Director of Community 
& Children Services 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
Borough Council 

 

Page 125



4

1.  Cwm Taf Carers: An Overview

We recognise that there is no typical Carer. Carers of all ages, whether Young 
Carers, Sibling Carers, Young Adult Carers, Parent Carers of children with a 
disability, working age or older Carers, look after family, partners or friends in 
need of help because they are ill, frail or have a disability. The care they 
provide can be physical, emotional or social. Carers are individuals who may 
not see themselves as Carers, but consider themselves above all a parent, 
wife, husband, partner, son, daughter, friend or neighbour. 

People living in Cwm Taf have lower life expectancy and live with a higher 
burden of ill health for longer than elsewhere in Wales. There are areas of 
significant deprivation which also impacts on health and well-being. By 2039, 
the population in Cwm Taf is expected to rise from 295,865 to 304,543 but 
within this figure the numbers aged over 65 years and over will grow 
significantly, with the biggest increase being seen in those aged 85 years and 
over.  We are likely to see a rise in the number of people living with a range of 
chronic conditions such as heart and respiratory disease, as well as cancer 
and dementia. Over 40% of people aged 75 and over in Cwm Taf live alone. 

All of these things will have an impact on the need people have for care of 
some kind, much of which will be provided by informal Carers who may be 
family, friends or neighbours. 

The 2011 Census provides information about Carers but must be treated with 
some caution as it is based on people “self-reporting” that they are Carers and 
answering the census questions accordingly.  From our engagement, people 
do not always recognise themselves as Carers and the true level of informal 
caring is probably higher. Census data for Cwm Taf tells us that: 

 Nearly 13% of the population in Cwm Taf (29,640 Carers in RCT and 
7,427 in Merthyr Tydfil) were providing care to a family member, friend 
or neighbour; This is slightly higher than the all Wales figure of 12% and 
higher than the England and Wales figure of 10%;

 57% of Carers in Cwm Taf are female and 43% are male; 
 The majority of Carers locally are over the age of 50, with the largest 

group of people (34%) aged 50-64; 
 The number of Carers over the age of 65 is increasing more rapidly 

than the general Carer population.  There has been a 32% increase 
since 2001.  With an ageing population, this is likely to increase further 
over the coming years; 

 There were 3263 young and young adult Carers under the age of 25, an 
increase of 19% since 2001; 

Page 126



5

 11,752 Carers in Cwm Taf (32%) provide over 50 hours of care per 
week. This has increased from the 2001 Census. This highlights that 
Cwm Taf Carers are providing substantial levels of care, which is 
frequently not recognised or valued and which can often impact on the 
health of the Carer themselves. 

 Census data in 2011 for Cwm Taf Carers showed that 35% of Carers 
rated their health as fair, bad or very bad.

The Carers UK State of Caring 2017 report, link below:

https://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/state-of-caring-
report-2017 

found that 78% of Carers said that they feel more stressed because of their 
role and 72% said caring has made them feel more anxious.  46% suffered 
depression as a result of their caring role.

Carers’ circumstances vary enormously, as can the type and amount of 
support they give.  Caring can be a gradual process as over time someone 
becomes more frail and needs more support or it can happen suddenly, for 
example if someone has an accident or a health problem like a stroke.  Young 
Carers often have adult caring responsibilities while having the legal status of 
children.  Whilst it is also rewarding, caring can be both physically tiring and 
emotionally stressful.  Carers often feel isolated, unsupported and alone, with 
poorer health, less financial security and fewer opportunities to participate in 
day to day life outside caring.  This information reinforces the importance of 
supporting Carers in their caring role.

Page 127

https://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/state-of-caring-report-2017
https://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/state-of-caring-report-2017


6

2. Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014

During 2016 – 2017, the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 
(SSWB) came into force with an emphasis on wellbeing.  Key principles 
embedded within the Act included:

 Ensuring adults and children who need care and support and Carers 
(including young Carers) have a voice, more control over their lives and 
are at the heart of decision making;

 Working in partnership, including the integration of services across 
health and social care with a focus on the delivery of preventative 
approaches, based on building strengths and promoting independence 
and; 

 The provision of appropriate advice, information and assistance, 
strengths based and person centred assessment, inclusive of young 
people and Carers.

Under this Act, Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil Local Authorities and 
the University Health Board have carried out and published a Population 
Assessment.  The population assessment covers the following groups of 
people:

 Carers;
 Children and young people;
 Learning disability;
 Mental health;
 Older people;
 Physical disability and sensory impairment and;
 Violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence.

The Population Assessment Briefing Documents can be accessed by the link 
below. 

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-population-assessment

Population Assessment

Undertaking this assessment has given an opportunity to revisit and build on 
what we know about Carers, both in terms of data and the things that Carers 
say are important to them, as summarised in the box below.  It has reaffirmed 
and refined the key areas to focus on, to meet Carers’ needs for care and 
support.  The headlines from the assessment:

 The higher levels in Cwm Taf of poor physical and mental health, chronic 
illnesses and disabilities, together with an ageing population, have an 
impact on the need for informal care and the number of Carers locally.  

 Carers need to be recognised and valued for their caring role.  Carers 
want to be listened to and have more control over their lives but “one size 
does not fit all.” 

Page 128

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-population-assessment


7

 Carers must be able to find the information and support they need easily 
and quickly to help them sustain their caring role. 

 Carers want to participate in and stay connected to a life alongside caring. 
 Carers and service providers must work together with more effective 

communication and coordination between services, seeing the person and 
not the problem. 

The findings from the Population Assessment also link to other common 
themes.  The things which affect Carers do not stand in isolation.  As 
individuals, they may also be service users in their own right (for example, as 
an older person, someone with a sensory impairment or a mental health 
issue) and their needs will have been the focus of other sections in the 
Population Assessment.  

Similarly, the care and support issues facing the person they are caring for will 
be addressed in other sections of the Assessment under the specific themes.  
As the headlines have illustrated, it is really important to recognise the 
overlaps and see people “in the round”, taking a holistic approach to what 
both Carers and the cared for person need, avoiding working in silos and 
ensuring our responses and plans are joined up.  

Some of the key issues faced by those covered by the other themes of the 
Population Assessment as well as Carers are: 

 Information and advice; 
 Being listened to and understood;
 Preventative services; 
 Community connectedness and resilience and; 
 Co-ordination and working together. 

A common message from Carers and other population groups is that services 
must work together more effectively, both within individual organisations and 
across agencies, particularly where people have multiple or complex needs. 
This is important not just for health and social care but also other areas like 
housing, leisure and transport if needs are going to be met fully.

The Cwm Taf Carers Strategy and its associated Action Plan highlights what 
we need to do to address the findings of the Population Assessment for 
Carers.  The Social Services & Wellbeing Partnership Board must also 
produce an Area Plan in response to the Population Assessment as a whole.  
This was published in April 2018 and can be found here.  

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Partnerships/Workingwithothers/Relate
ddocs/CwmTafSSWBREGIONALPLANMarch27th2018.pdf 

It is called the Cwm Taf SSWB Regional Plan 2018 – 2023 and contains a 
section on Carers.

Page 129

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Partnerships/Workingwithothers/Relateddocs/CwmTafSSWBREGIONALPLANMarch27th2018.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Partnerships/Workingwithothers/Relateddocs/CwmTafSSWBREGIONALPLANMarch27th2018.pdf


8

3. Cwm Taf Carers Partnership Group 

The Cwm Taf Carers Partnership Group which was established in 2016 and 
will oversee the implementation of the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy 2016-19 
across Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf, including the development and 
delivery of an annual Action Plan.

The Group has met quarterly throughout 2017/18.

Principles

The following principles have been used by the Cwm Taf Carers Partnership 
Group to inform its work:

 We will promote and support effective communication across the 
partnership;

 We will make sure that users of our services, particularly Carers, are 
able to influence the work of the partnership; 

 We will focus on what matters to the people and communities of Cwm 
Taf;

 We will promote and develop solutions towards preventing problems 
occurring or getting worse for people in Cwm Taf; 

 We will promote and support collaboration and integration; 
 We will make sure that we strike a balance between short term needs 

and longer term goals;   
 We will listen to, understand and respect individual organisational 

views and the views of other parties;
 We will conduct business with transparency and openness and;
 We will fully utilise the wide range of skills, knowledge and experience 

which are available to the Group. 

Objectives 

 To develop and oversee delivery of an annual Action Plan for the Cwm 
Taf Carers Strategy 2016–19 to ensure its effective implementation. 

 To ensure delivery of the Action Plan and Strategy are monitored and 
reviewed against agreed and understood outcomes and performance 
indicators.

 To actively engage Carers, young Carers and Carers organisations in 
the planning of services so that their needs are met across Cwm Taf

 To ensure that Carers are consulted on the commissioning and 
delivery of local services that affect Carers or the person cared for.

 To ensure appropriate use of funding allocated by Welsh Government 
to support delivery of services for Carers.

Page 130



9

 To report regularly to the SSWB Partnership Board on progress, key 
issues and exceptions, escalating any barriers to progress for 
resolution

 To produce an annual report on progress for the SSWB Partnership 
Board and as required by Welsh Government

 To appoint task and finish groups as needed to undertake any specific 
pieces of work.

 To review and action as appropriate any requirements from the 
refreshed Welsh Government Carers Strategy.

REPORTING
The following reporting and governance arrangements are in place: 

In effect the Cwm Taf Carers Partnership Group will report through the 
Transformation Leadership Group to the Cwm Taf SSWB Partnership Board. 
Individual organisations will also report into their appropriate governing 
bodies, providing information and updates on progress and gaining 
endorsement where this is required.

Membership 
The Group membership includes Carer Representatives as well as Senior 
Representation of Officers and members from Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
Borough Council, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, Cwm Taf Health 
Board, Education, Jobcentre Plus, Voluntary and Private Sectors.

Cwm Taf Public 
Services Board

Cwm Taf
Social Services and Wellbeing 

Partnership Board

Local 
Authority 

x 2
Cabinet

Cwm Taf 
University 

Health 
Board

Transformation Leadership Group
(Lead officers for the regional plan)

Cwm Taf Carers Partnership Group

Page 131



10

Other representatives may be invited or co-opted to the Group to express 
their views, contribute to particular agenda items or provide an advisory role. 
Membership will be reviewed annually. 

4. Key areas of work in 2017/18

Throughout 2017-18, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, Rhondda Cynon 
Taf County Borough Council and Cwm Taf University Health Board have built 
upon the success of the previous year and continued to work collaboratively in 
improving support, information and recognition of Carers. 

During 2017/18, current services for Carers in Cwm Taf are provided by a 
range of organisations in the statutory and Third Sector.  As well as accessing 
general services like GPs in primary care available to everyone, there are also 
specific services to support Carers, including young Carers and young adult 
Carers. These include: 

 In RCT, a Carers Support Project run by the Local Authority. 
 Services commissioned from the Third Sector including Crossroads Care, 
Barnardos and Age Connects Morgannwg. 
 A network of over 400 Carers Champions in settings across health, social 
care, education, housing, leisure, Job Centres and in the voluntary sector.

Again, we have faced a number of challenges throughout the year, particularly 
in relation to staff capacity in both the UHB and the two local Authorities as a 
result of vacant staff posts (two of which were as a result of uncertainty about 
future WG funding arrangements.)  Nevertheless, as this Annual report 
demonstrates, we have continued to address the needs of Carers locally and 
to improve outcomes for them and their families.

4.1. Cwm Taf Regional Integrated Model for Carers Review

In light of the SSWB Act, the Cwm Taf Social Services and Wellbeing 
Partnership Board commissioned consultants from the Welsh Institute of 
Health and Social Care (WIHSC) to carry out a review of a Cwm Taf Regional 
Integrated Model for Carers.  

By exploring the National and local context best/good practice from across the 
UK, interviewing key stakeholders and reviewing the commissioning needs of 
the Region, WIHSC:

• Identified the most effective commissioning options including the 
development of an integrated commissioning service;
• Completed a detailed option appraisal with clear recommendations for 
the consideration of the Partnership Board;
• Supported the development of an outline implementation plan to 
pursue the agreed commissioning service option for the region.

Core messages from the Review were:

Page 132



11

• There is good practice across Cwm Taf and some superb staff.  
Services are probably at least punching their weight when measured against 
the resources available.  However, services do not consistently meet the 
desired standards in terms of quantity, quality and equity across the region.
• Carers are regarded as “everyone’s business” which is encouraging in 
terms of commitment but this can also mean “nobody’s business” when tested 
against clarity of accountability for improvement.  Carers’ services lack clear 
and visible leadership.
• There are examples of collaborative partnership working and strategies 
and plans display a good understanding of Carers’ needs and priorities.  
However, this is not universally embedded in everyday practice and words 
and intentions are not matched by actions.
• Carers do not have a central point of accessing services and find it 
difficult to navigate the system.  Establishing clearer pathways for Carers 
would be a major shift in their profile and enable statutory responsibilities to 
be fully met.
• Short term funding has had a negative effect on commissioning 
effective services and has stifled innovation and continuity of service.  Third 
sector services can cease to exist at short notice leaving Carers unsupported.

Specific areas were highlighted within a “blueprint offer”:

1. Identifying Carers;
2. Giving good advice and assistance;
3. Assessing Carers’ needs;
4. Seeing people as resources;
5. Providing respite and breaks;
6. Enabling Carers to play a full part in society;
7. Working in partnership and collaboration.  

The findings from the Review have been reported to the Partnership Board. 
Actions will be taken forward as part of the implementation of the Regional 
Plan. 

4.2. Cwm Taf Carers Strategy

The Cwm Taf Carers Strategy 2016 – 2019 was officially launched in 2016.  
The development of a Cwm Taf wide Carers Strategy replaced the existing 
previous plans:

- RCT Carers Strategy 2012-2014
- RCT Young Carers Strategy 2010-2013
- Merthyr Tydfil Carers Strategy 2012-2017
- Cwm Taf Carers Information and Consultation Strategy 2012-2015.

Cwm Taf recognises the importance of Carers getting their voices heard and 
that both Carers and service users are engaged and consulted to ensure that 
their needs are being met. It is essential that Carers are recognised as key 

Page 133



12

partners in care and that their invaluable perspective is taken into account 
when developing future services.

Our Vision Statement is: 

Carers of all ages in Cwm Taf will be recognised and valued as 
being fundamental to supportive and resilient families and 
communities. They will not have to care alone and will be able to 
access information, advice and support to help meet their needs, 
empowering them to lead healthy and fulfilled lives, balancing their 
caring role and their life outside caring.

We continue to underpin our Vision, with the identified principles and 
approach to service delivery which reflect what Carers say is important to 
them and which are also consistent with the approach taken in other relevant 
Cwm Taf plans, for example, the Joint Commissioning Statement for Older 
People and the Statement of Intent for Learning Disabilities: 

 Recognition and Respect 

Carers tell us that too often there is a lack of recognition and value of how 
much they do. Professionals and people in wider society do not always 
understand and appreciate the in-depth knowledge Carers have of the needs 
of the person they are caring for, the relationship they have with them and 
how difficult it can sometimes be juggling a range of demands. 

 Working together

One of the main messages from Carers was that we need to listen to their 
views and experiences and include them effectively in decision making. 
Proactive, two way communication and involvement is vital.

 Integration of services 

There needs to be better coordination at every level between the Carer and all 
the organisations they come into contact with.   Services need to be joined up 
and targeted more appropriately so they deliver the best possible outcomes 
for the Carer, the person they care for and also make best use of our 
resources.

 Accessibility 

Factors such as the timeliness of a response and access/ transport to 
services will be a key consideration in the way we commission and provide 
services.

 Tackling isolation 

A greater focus is needed on tackling the isolation and social exclusion that 
can sometimes be felt as a result of caring commitments.  The effects of 
limited choice, freedom and opportunity or the lack of understanding and 

Page 134



13

discrimination faced by Carers may be different depending on their age and 
therefore specific needs, for example, Young Carers will need to balance 
caring with their need to access activities with their peers outside of their 
caring role, they will also require support and understanding of their caring 
role inside of school in order that they have maximum opportunities to achieve 
their potential and aspirations.   A range of support is needed to enable all 
Carers to balance caring with activities outside their caring role.

 Focus on actions and outcomes

We must ensure that there are direct and positive benefits for Carers as a 
result of the new Strategy. We must deliver change and improved outcomes 
in the areas they have identified as important to them. 

Implementation and Delivery 

To achieve the Vision set out in the Strategy requires a multi-agency and 
partnership approach. A cross section of agencies are committed to the 
delivery of the Strategy. Each has a role to play enabling Carers and the 
cared for to live as independently as possible and maintain a good quality of 
life.

Annual Action Plans

The Cwm Taf Carers Strategy is not a fixed and final plan but a framework 
which sets out what will be taken forward over the next three years.  Annual 
Action plans are developed which detail key actions, lead responsibilities, 
timescales, resource implications and performance measures, which will 
focus on the outcomes we want to achieve.  

Outcomes we want to achieve and monitoring progress

The success of this Strategy and the benefits it delivers will be reviewed 
regularly.  It will be a partnership plan and a variety of staff within a wide 
range of sectors will be responsible for working in collaboration to implement it 
effectively.

An annual report on progress will be reported to the Cwm Taf Social Services 
and Wellbeing Partnership Board, as well as the individual organisations i.e. 
the two Local Authorities, the Health Board and Welsh Government.  

Copies of the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy, an easy read version and welsh 
translated documents will be available on partner websites and the link is:
 http://cwmtaf.wales/how-we-work/plans-and-reports/cwm-taf-carers-strategy-
2016-2019/ 

Impact made
 Collaborative working helps to secure support for Carers, whilst making 

best use of a wide range of knowledge, expertise and support services.

Page 135

http://cwmtaf.wales/how-we-work/plans-and-reports/cwm-taf-carers-strategy-2016-2019/
http://cwmtaf.wales/how-we-work/plans-and-reports/cwm-taf-carers-strategy-2016-2019/


14

 Young Carers designed the Young Carers version of the Carers 
Strategy themselves.  This has been reproduced in 2017/18 following 
its popularity.  

Next steps?
 Implementation of appropriate actions from the Carers Review.
 Action plan for 2018-19 will direct our future work, strengthening the 

partnership approach across the Cwm Taf Region, whilst also 
addressing priorities from WG. 

 The implementation of the SSWB Act plan, as it relates to Carers, 
ensuring Carers needs are recognised and mainstreamed.

The following sections look at progress made under each aim of the Strategy.

4.2.1 Aim 1.  Identifying Carers of all ages and recognising 
their contributions

Raising Awareness of Carers

Carers information has featured on a page of the 50+ Information Calendar, 
which is widely distributed across Cwm Taf.

Local Carers Projects raise awareness of Carers through various means and 
staff attended local community events regularly to raise awareness of Carers 
throughout the Cwm Taf region.  For example, the Big Bite (Wellbeing Zone) a 
2 day event with over 13,000 members of the general public attending, 
Community First events, Housing Association Tenant events and third sector 
information events.  

Also attending the Mental Health week events as well as the ‘It Makes Sense’ 
Event celebrating sensory awareness month in Cwm Taf.  This was a 
partnership event between Health Services, third Sector and people that have 
or support others with sensory loss.

Carers Champions were encouraged to sign up to Carers Wales/UK 
campaigns in supporting Carers Week and Carers Rights Day Events.  
Numerous events were held across Cwm Taf, including:

 Information Stalls in Royal Glamorgan Hospital, Ysbyty Cwm Rhondda, 
Ysbyty Cwm Cynon, Prince Charles Hospital, Kier Hardie Health Park 
and Dewi Sant Health Park.

 Carers Information on television screens across GP surgeries and 
health board buildings.   

Both RCT Carers Project and Merthyr Tydfil’s Carers Strategy Network have 
continued to develop close links with the Third Sector Integrated Care Fund 
Community Coordinators across the region. Referrals to Carers services have 
been received from the Coordinators and the Coordinators information 
resource has been utilised to support Carers across the region.

Page 136



15

RCT CSP has been working with RCT Councils Equality and Diversity Team 
in the development of a Staff Disability and Carers Network.  The aim of the 
Network is to bring together staff with disabilities and those who are Carers in 
sharing experience, highlighting and addressing the barriers they may face at 
work and supporting them in their working role.  It is hoped that the network 
will meet periodically whilst keeping in touch via a dedicated email network. 
An official launch date is currently being discussed.

The Annual Carers Champion Conference

Following the success of the previous Carers Champion conferences, the 
fourth annual conference took place in May 2017 with 70 people attending.  
The conference acts as a platform for celebrating the success of the Carers 
Champions, along with highlighting some key achievements gained through 
2016-17. 

The Carers Champions conference enables the sharing of information with 
staff attending through a range of information stands, networking and 
presentations. Information is then cascaded to other staff through the 
Champion networks.

The theme was Dementia as it coincided with Dementia Awareness Week.  
There were a range of speakers highlighting the work and good practice of 
champions from across Cwm Taf in relation to Dementia.  This included 
speeches from the Director of Community Services in RCT, a Carer giving her 
own life experience and a Dementia Advisor from Cwm Taf University Health 
Board. 

Page 137



16

The feedback was overwhelmingly positive through the evaluation forms 
received.  Attendees felt motivated to share what they had learnt with 
colleagues in their organisations and able to signpost their clients 
appropriately.  They felt more aware of young Carers, especially after hearing 
the accounts of their lives and watching the digital story they have produced.  

People felt they had received good information from all the stand holders.  
The stands from the various organisations reported good take up of 
information and resources, the conference offered many networking 
opportunities.  The feelings expressed and comments provided described 
people as being inspired, informed and motivated. This can only help to 
improve the outcomes for Carers.  

Improved Identification and recognition of Carers

The recruiting of Carers Champions, and the variety of Carer Aware training 
available, has helped to improve the identification and recognition of Carers 
amongst Health Promotion staff.

GP Surgeries continue recording Carers on information systems, which can 
assist them in ensuring the Carer is supported appropriately.  Along with this, 
local Carers services continue to receive referrals from Primary care. 

In RCT, since 2015, the RCT Young Carers Service has been working with 
Secondary Schools in the Borough to implement the Young Carers School 
Award.  The award was developed by the service after young carers told staff 
that they didn't feel that teachers in their school understood their issues, so 
the award ensures that school staff are aware of how to identify young carers, 
they learn about the difficulties that they face, consider how to provide 
additional support to young carers in their school and publicise the support 
that is available to young carers outside of the school environment.

The award consists of 3 levels; Bronze, Silver and Gold, with each level 
consisting of a set of standards which progressively increase the support and 

Page 138



17

guidance that young carers are offered in school. We are currently working 
with Carers Trust to ensure that all our schools are also recognised through 
their Young Carers in Schools Wales Programme. 

The driving force behind implementing the award is the Carers Champion at 
each school.  All 17 Secondary schools in RCT now have Carers Champions 
in place who are actively offering support to young carers.

The award is already having a significant impact on young carers school lives 
with one young carer commenting that "she now feels far more confident to 
discuss her caring role with her teachers, because she now knows that they 
understand".

Due to the positive feedback received from the secondary schools, they have 
begun piloting a new award for Primary Schools. This has involved working 
with Year 6 teachers to develop a unit of work based around young carers 
that culminates in the year 6 classes sharing what they have learnt to the rest 
of the school through a class assembly.  The 6 Primary schools involved in 
the pilot will shortly be providing feedback before we continue to roll out the 
award to more schools.
Whilst they were developing the Schools Award, discussions with the Carers 
Champion in The Aberdare college campus about possibly adapting the 
award to make it relevant for the college campuses has been had. 

In July 2017, Bryncelynnog Comprehensive School was the first school in 
RCT to secure the Silver status for the support it gives pupils who are young 
Carers.

Funding was allocated for Schools Awards Packs and for a Carers Project 
officer to attend PSE lessons in schools across Rhondda Cynon Taf.

RCT Carers Support Project (CSP) has had 571 new adult Carers registering 
with the Project during 2016/17, this is an increase of 68% compared to the 
previous year. The CSP are currently supporting just under 3,000 adult Carers 
in RCT.  The young Carers Service has continued to see an increase in the 
number of referrals received for an assessment – 106 received during 
2017/18.
  
RCT Carers Support Project (CSP) continues to work with a variety of Council 
Teams/departments and third sector organisation in promoting the recognition 
and support available to Carers.

Cwm Taf Social Care Award Ceremony took place in November 2017.  The 
theme of the ceremony was ‘Getting your voices heard’.  The CSP supported 
2 Carers, an adult Carer and young Carer, to attend the event.  They were 
able to relay their experience of their caring role and the support they have 
received during their journey, to a wide range of social care professionals, 
thus getting their voices heard and raising the profile of Carers.

Page 139



18

Young Carers & Young Adult Carers Recognition Evening

To coincide with Young Carer Awareness Day, the Young Carers Service held 
a recognition event at Rhondda Heritage Park Hotel.  Nearly 200 guests 
enjoyed an evening of celebration while awards were presented to all the 
young people to recognise their personal achievements and caring roles.  
During the evening, some young people demonstrated their musical and 
sporting talents on stage, a young carer read out a moving poem he had 
written about caring for his Mum and the young carers choir performed a 
number of songs. 

Cllr Tina Leyshon, Rhondda Cynon Taf Council's Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young People and Huw Irranca-Davies AM, Welsh Government 
Minister for Children and Social Care attended the event, along with many 
representatives from the partner agencies that the service works closely with.

Recruitment of Carers Champions across the Partnership area

As in previous years, Carers champions have been recruited widely across 
the Cwm Taf region. This has included health settings, such as hospital 
wards, GP surgeries and pharmacies.

Training to meet the needs of staff across the Partnership area

The Health and Wellbeing Improvement Manager for Cwm Taf has delivered 
Carer Awareness training to the Health Promotion champions in each 
Pharmacy in Cwm Taf as part of their staff training.  Similar sessions have 
also been held as part of the Nurse Induction in Royal Glamorgan Hospital.

An ‘Are you a Carer?’ training leaflet has been produced, with a copy being 
provided in all staff training sessions across RCT, MT and UHB. Further 
increasing identification and raising awareness of the support available to 
Carers across Cwm Taf.

GP Support Officers (GPSO)

In Merthyr Tydfil Primary Care Cluster they have GPSO’s who engage, 
signpost, offer advice and work with patients to influence cultural and 
behavioural change for service users within a Primary Care setting.  They 
advise/assess service users and address social issues and offer support in 
correlation with the social services and wellbeing act.  They promote 

Page 140



19

independence and enable service users to take responsibility for their own 
health and wellbeing.  GPSO’s support the reduction of attendance within 
general practice for non-medical intervention.

GPSO’s, during consultations, have often identified Carers who have not 
identified themselves as a Carers (they are a family member that feel it is their 
duty to look after their relatives).  This cohort of service users were not 
claiming carers allowance or receiving any support from any groups, such as 
Alzheimer’s or Stroke Society.  

GPSO’s have been able to support these Carers by identifying what is 
causing stress and putting some extra support and ensuring the correct 
financial assistance are put in place.  They also ensure links with the relevant 
agencies and particularly ensuring the required adaptations are made at 
home. 

Responsive training for Carers as identified through engagement with 
Carers

RCT Carers Support Project has provided a total of 124 training sessions, 
workshops and events to adult Carers, which resulted in 2269 Carer 
attendances. This equates to nearly double the amount of sessions provided 
during 2016-17 with an additional 1,000 Carer attendances.

Your Wellbeing Matters/Listening Project

This project collects people’s stories and experiences about wellbeing, mental 
health and the support people have received locally.  This project has been 
promoted across RCT and includes Carers stories.  This project will enable us 
to shape and target projects in the future. 

Impact made
 Cwm Taf UHB participated in Carers Week, which further raises 

awareness of Carers amongst health professionals and members of 
the public in contact with Health services.

 Health professionals through awareness-raising have developed 
knowledge regarding support services available to Carers. They are 
now able to signpost appropriately, which enables a more efficient 
access to services.

 Raising awareness of Carers has also helped to increase Carer 
recognition and enable individuals to recognise themselves as Carers 
and therefore receive appropriate information, advice and support.

 An increased number of Carers being referred to RCT CSP, which 
further ensures Carers are being identified, recognised and supported 
in their caring roles.

 Working Carers feel supported in their employment, with their 
employers better understanding their needs.

 Developing links with the third sector has encouraged more appropriate 
signposting, where relevant, to Carers across Cwm Taf allowing them 

Page 141



20

to gain the support and information needed to support them in their 
caring roles.

 Carers attended the Cwm Taf Social Care Award ceremony allowing 
them to relay their experiences of their caring role and raise the 
recognition of Carers.

 The Carers Champion Conference recognises the valuable work 
carried out by Carers Champions, increases awareness of the rights of 
Carers and provides a platform for networking and sharing knowledge, 
experience and best practice across sectors. 

 Carers are recognised as partners in care and recorded on appropriate 
systems.

 Carers are now increasingly recognised and supported more effectively 
by Primary Care Services and in Education.

 Consistent Carer referrals has resulted in more Carers been made 
aware of their rights and support available.

 There has been an increase in the provision of workshops, training and 
events for Carer, further supporting them in their caring role

 There are clearly identified Carers Champions, acting as a single point 
of access for GPs and other Primary Care staff.

 Cwm Taf has been influential in ensuring Carers are placed on the 
agenda within Higher Education settings.  Raising awareness of Carers 
at this stage will allow for early intervention and potential prevention of 
Carer breakdown.

 Carers Awareness continues to be included on the nursing and social 
work course syllabus, thus further developing students understanding 
of Carers and enabling them to be more Carer Aware when entering 
their chosen professions.

 Improved relationships with Further Education staff and improved 
networks.

 Taking part in raising awareness events with Job Centre Plus.
 Enabling Carers to have a voice through Carer involvement in training.
 Collaborative working enabling co production and reciprocal working.

Next Steps?
 Continue to provide training to all pharmacies, to cascade information 

and to network with other champions.  
 Continued support for key Carer events, for example, during Carers 

Week and Carers Rights Day.
 On-going attendance at partnership events to raise awareness and 

profile of Carers.
 Continued promotion of Carers and support services available, should 

help encourage further referrals ensuring the needs of Carers of met.
 Continued work with Carers in identifying the types of support needed 

and the facilitating of workshops, training and events to meet those 
needs identified.

 Continued identification of Champions across Health and Social Care.
 Sustained support for identified Champions in order to ensure they are 

kept up to date with Carer information and are able to support Carers 
appropriately.

 Official launch of the RCT Disability and Carers Staff Network.

Page 142



21

 Link in with the Social Care Award Ceremony to ensure Carers have a 
presence at future planned Ceremonies.

 An Annual Carers Champion Conference.
 Carers in their own right are now a beneficiary group for the Integrated 

Care Fund to enable projects specifically for Carers. 
 The continued provision of training to Carers Champions and Health 

and Social Care staff to ensure their continued professional 
development.

 Carers of all ages will continue to be identified across the region to 
ensure they are supported in an effective and timely manner.

 Ways of identifying and supporting Carers of all ages are 
mainstreamed as part of everyday practice.

 Roll out of Agored Accreditation for Carers Champions in GP Practices 
and consideration of whether the scheme or something similar could be 
used for other staff groups. 

 RCTCBC have set up training sessions with Jobcentre Plus to raise 
awareness about support available for Carers.

4.2.2. Aim 2.  Providing up to date, relevant and timely 
information, advice & assistance to Carers of all ages 

Relevant, timely and up to date information to Carers

Carers information is consistently reviewed in order to ensure it is relevant 
and up to date.  The Cwm Taf Carers A-Z Guide (which is also available in 
Welsh) continues to be distributed widely across Cwm Taf.

Both the UHB and Local Authority websites are continually updated to ensure 
accuracy and accessibility of information provided to Carers.  Carers literature 
is reviewed consistently and any updated information made available to 
Carers across Cwm Taf.

In 2017/18, RCT CSP provided Carers Packs to 565 new Carers, an increase 
of 200 Carers packs compared to 2016/17.

Within RCT and MT, Carers email distribution lists are utilised to target 
information and to keep Carers up to date with changes and news topics that 
may be of interest to them.  Carers Newsletters in both MT and RCT Carers 
Services are sent to registered Carers, Carers Champions and distributed 
widely across Cwm Taf.  Social media is also utilised to target a varying 
demographic of Carer.

Page 143



22

As part of the implementation of the SSWB Act, both LA’s have established 
Information, Advice and Assistance services together with the use of an online 
resource DEWIS.  Both Local Authorities and the UHB have contributed to the 
production of the Carers section on Dewis Cymru.  This ensures quality 
information is available from a network of social care, health and third sector 
organisations across Wales, supplemented by local information relevant to 
Cwm Taf.  

Appropriate information for staff

RCT CSP ensures information in relation to the 
Project and support services available to Carers 
are disseminated amongst all Social Care 
Teams, to ensure they are kept up to date with 
provision available.

Working with SCDWP (Social Care Workforce 
Development Partnership) who provide training 
across Cwm Taf, we have agreement to include 
Carers information leaflets on all training 
courses.  A leaflet has been designed and 
printed.  

A variety of information is provided to staff 
across Cwm Taf in various formats and is also 
an important aspect of staff training activities.

Following on from the success of the new leaflet, Carers Champions in GP 
surgeries and Health Promotion Champions in local Pharmacies, have had 
their new leaflets.  The aim of these leaflets is for information purposes and to 
start a conversation with people who might be unaware they are a Carer.

Page 144



23

All partners continue to raise awareness of the Advocacy support available in 
Cwm Taf to alleviate stress and impact on Carers.  

The Carers Information & Support Programme (CrISP) 

CrISP is run by the Alzheimer’s Society working in partnership with RCT 
Carers Support Project.  The sessions, which generally run twice per year, are 
designed to educate and support Carers and families of people with Dementia 
about how to cope with day to day life and how to plan for the future.  A 
session was held in RCT in March 2018 with 9 families being supported.

They aim to provide information in a group environment where Carers are 
able to share their experiences and find out about local and national services 
that may be of help.  

CrISP1 is a 2 day course for early to moderate stage dementia.  It is only 
open to those who are caring for or had diagnosis.  The modules on day 1 are 
around supporting a person with dementia, understanding dementia, coping 
with change, Carers looking after themselves, finance & legal, service that 
offer support and specialised teams.  

Day 2 has speakers from the Memory Team, Age Connects Morgannwg 
around benefits advice, a solicitor around power of attorney etc., and a 
counsellor from the Carers Project in Rhondda Cynon Taf on the emotional 
impact and a Social Worker on the Carer Assessment. 
GP/Hospital Television Screens

Information has been provided for timely and relevant Carer specific 
information to be displayed on screen in GP surgeries and also in Royal 
Glamorgan Hospital A&E department.

Carers Project RCT

The Carers Project RCT has continued to provide:

 Timely information for Young Carers and Young Adult Carers
 Young Carer and Young Adult Carer Assessments
 A dedicated Parent Carers worker supporting Parent who have children 

aged 0-25 with additional needs
 Max Card is available to Parent Carers of children with additional 

needs under the age of 19
 CSP Counselling Service
 Counselling Peer Support Group
 Chatterbox, a monthly meeting for Carers to come together share 

experiences and gain information and advice
 Carers Mental Health Forum targeted to those Carers caring for 

someone with a mental illness
 Carers Emergency Card Support Service
 Carers News 

Page 145



24

 Partnership Working with Safeguarding
 Carers Legal Clinics provided monthly for Carers in RCT
 An up to date website provision or Carers
 A dedicated CSP Facebook page

Upper Rhondda Support Group

The Upper Rhondda Support Group, which is held in St Matthews Church 
Hall, Treorchy was funded to purchase equipment for their Carers Support 
Group.  Their equipment was limited so extra equipment was helpful to 
provide more meaningful activities for Carers attending their sessions.  
Activity sessions see Carers interacting with each other and stimulate 
discussion.

Impact made
 Carers are more informed as a result of the increase in information 

provision, which helps them to find out easily about how to access 
support available to them in their caring role.

 Staff and the general public are more informed of Carers and their rights.
 The A-Z helps to address any gaps in information provision.
 Dewis Cymru allows Carers and professionals to have up to date access 

to information at the appropriate time.  Dewis Cymru acts as a support 
resource for both professionals and Carers accessing information.

 Staff are kept up to date with the latest Carer developments.
 Staff are able to signpost Carers to appropriate support services.
 CrISP enables Carers a safe environment to discuss issues and receive 

support, whilst increasing Carers knowledge around dementia and 
providing support following diagnosis

 RCT CSP counselling service provides one to one bespoke support to 
Carers

 Carers Groups like Chatterbox, the Carers Mental Health Forum and the 
Peer Support Group provide a support network for Carers across RCT

 Schemes such as the Max Card and discounted access to leisure 
Services help support the Carer maintain a life outside their caring role, 
whilst support their wellbeing

 The Carers News and Facebook page provided an invaluable information 
resource for Carers, informing them of their rights and support available 
to them

What next? 
 Annual review of the A-Z guide as part of  an on-going review and 

updating of information provision to Carers, particularly in relation to the 
new Information, Advice and Assistance services in RCT and Merthyr 
Tydfil as part of the SSWB Act. 

 On-going promotion of RCT’s Carers Support Project and Merthyr 
Tydfil’s Carers Network to encourage increased referrals and information 
provision.

 On-going provision of training and incorporation of Carer Awareness in 
general staff training.

Page 146



25

 Regarding Advocacy, CTUHB, RCTCBC and MTCBC are working 
together to explore options of rolling out a Service Level Agreement to a 
Cwm Taf wide provision entitled the ‘Independent Advocacy Service for 
Adults & Carers 50 years of age and over’.

 CrISP to continue in 2017/18
 Promote these sessions across Cwm Taf
 Assess the demand to provide CrISP 2, which looks at moderate to 

advanced dementia.
 On-going provision of up to date and timely information via various 

channels including, Carers News, Facebook, websites and attendance at 
community events

 On-going provision of Carers Groups across RCT
 Develop an evening support group for Carers, ensuring working Carers 

needs are accounted for 
 Maintaining and developing new initiatives for Carers across RCT

4.2.3. Aim 3.  Providing support, services & training to 
meet the needs of Carers of all ages 

Flexible working policies for employees

RCT Council continues to work towards Carer Friendly Guidance for its staff. 
The development of the Disability and Carers Network will help support and 
direct this work.

Respite Care

As a result of the Respite Audit carried out in May 2017, both Local 
Authorities are looking to develop and commission a wider range of 
preventative services to promote health and wellbeing, early intervention and 
minimise the escalation of crises.

Promote help available within the community – combating loneliness 
and isolation including befriending

Strong links continue to be made with the ICF Community Co-ordinators.  
There are new posts in the form of 6 General Practice Support Officers 
(GPSO) who are based in Merthyr Tydfil across 9 GP Practices and a 
Community Co-ordinator based in the Rhondda Cluster:

 based in the local area;
 provide information, advice and signpost to local community groups, 

activities and services;

Page 147



26

 build strong relationships with communities, agencies and services 
(specifically for those over 65);

 support people to live their own lives within their communities and;
 raise community and statutory awareness of voluntary sector services.

£22,000 has been allocated to the Third Sector for groups to submit bids 
relating to Carers.  

The Grant Scheme is an opportunity to test out pilot projects and is for one 
financial year only.  It is an opportunity for innovative ideas for new projects 
which can be introduced across Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil.  
Applications will need to comply with the following criteria:

 Combat the impact of loneliness and isolation
 Prevent unnecessary access to statutory services
 Support hospital discharge
 Support beneficiary groups to maintain their health, wellbeing and 

independence.

A digital story has been produced to document how Carers benefited from 
some of these projects.

RCT CSP Adult Carer Residential

Following the success of the Carers Project Young Carer residential, Adult 
Carers had requested the same.  WG funding enabled this to happen.  The 
Carers Project RCT organised an Adult Carer Residential ‘Spring Awakening’ 
in Dare Valley Park, Aberdare from the 23rd to 24th March 2018.  

The residential was attended by 18 adult Carers, ranging from 21 to 84 years 
of age.  All of the Carers who attended had extensive caring roles, ranging 
from caring for their children, to their parents and partners.  The residential 
provided an inclusive environment for all Carers regardless of their age, 
caring role or physical ability.

Carers reported that the main reasons they decided to join the residential was 
to relax, get more time for themselves and to socialise and spend time with 
other Carers.  A third of the group hadn’t spent a night away from the person 
they care for in 5 years.  

The aims for the residential was to:

 Support life alongside caring, ensuring that Carers have reasonable 
breaks from their caring role, enabling them to maintain their capacity 
to care;

 Limit the isolation and social exclusion that can sometimes be felt as a 
result of caring commitments;

 Provide Carers with the opportunity to meet other Carers and share 
their experiences;

 Reduce the stress and anxiety of Carers;

Page 148



27

 Provide Carers with skills transferable to their daily lives;
 Support Carers to have a life beyond their caring role;
 Provide Carers with ‘me time’ to relax and take time away from their 

caring role.

Activities provided were: 

 Team building  Laughter workshop  Mindfulness
 Country walk  Movie/games night  Archery
 Laser shooting  Indian head massage 

The residential received really positive testimonies:

“A really good experience with such, warm, caring people, both organisers 
and other Carers on the course”

“Fantastic time.  Don’t want to leave”

“Fantastic.  Really enjoyed myself.  Hopefully we can do this again”

“I don’t need alone time because I’ve made so many friends”
“I can’t remember the last time I had a full night sleep”

“Absolutely outstanding.  It truly gave us the opportunity to relax and de-stress 
and have down time”

“The best time of my life.  I feel like me again”

“I thoroughly enjoyed the ‘Spring Awakening’.  It was lovely to meet other 
Carers and share our experiences, in a relaxed and positive atmosphere – 

well done for organising this for us”

The Carers Project RCT has also continued with providing and supporting 
numerous projects such as:

 CSP Counselling: Peer Support Group, Service Workshops
 Carers Mental Health Forum
 Chatterbox
 Carers Emergency Card
 Carers Discounted Access to Leisure
 Carers Legal Clinic
 Max Card
 CrISP Course
 Rolling programme of training, workshops and events
 Carers Creative Writing Group
 Carers Legal Clinic
 Past Carers Group

Page 149



28

The Llantrisant Dementia Support Group

Cwm Taf University Health Board continues to support the Llantrisant 
Dementia Support Group who continue to meet.  This group has a focus on 
dementia support.  There is pastoral support seeking to increase their 
awareness of Dementia and looks to involve the wider community.  This work 
also provides the opportunity for the memory assessment service to expand 
out into the community providing 2 way support, as shown in the diagram.

Stroke Group for Carers 

Relatives/carers of stroke survivors report increased levels of depression. 
They can also experience high levels of carer burden, anxiety and loneliness.  
Assistant Psychologist and Consultant Clinical Psychologist have continued to 
run a Carers Stroke Group for Carers to come together who are looking after 
someone who has had a stroke.  

This 6 week programme brings Carers together for a half day session and a 
speaker to inform of them of what to expect, for example speech and 
language therapist, physiotherapist, occupational therapist.  This enables:

 Families are supported by therapists to understand the person’s needs 
and difficulties and how best to support them;

 Families are provided with education around the nature of the person’s 
stroke and how best to support them;

 They are able to access psychology services in order to help with 
adjustment and emotional needs associated with the stroke; 

 Signposting to other services to support with any other needs e.g.  
financial, social and to maintain physical and mental wellbeing. 

 An opportunity for carers to chat and share experiences with each other. 

These sessions are facilitated by a Clinical Psychologist and an Assistant 
Psychologist. 

The structure of group was for 6 weeks, two hour sessions per week were 
held.  Each session focused on sharing emotional experiences and 
developing strategies to improve physical and mental well-being. As well as 
providing advice and support around from a multidisciplinary perspective. 

Future prospects: 

 In future we hope to expand the programme and recruit further people 
to the group.  The method of recruitment has been changed to an ‘opt-
in’ system whereby individuals will be provided with information about 
the programme.  The opt in letter provides information on how to 
contact the team to register a place should they wish to attend.  It is 
hoped that this will maximise attendance at each group; ideally groups 
will run once sufficient numbers have been recruited, this will be more 
cost effective in terms of venue hire and staff costs. 

Page 150



29

 We also hope to run the programme in several different locations within 
the Health Board (north and south of Health Board) to provide an 
equitable service and to support those who are limited due to travelling. 

Impact made

• The Llantrisant Dementia Support Group meets the 1st and 3rd Wednesday 
of every month.  Café 50 in Pontyclun is now also up and running and 
starting to build with new members. Covers alternate weeks to Llantrisant;

• The Upper Rhondda Dementia Support Group members include people 
living with Dementia, Carers and family members.  There are between 16 -
28 members and growing.  Dedication of the volunteers that attend the 
Group;

• Past Carers also attend the Dementia Support Group where they used to 
attend with their loved one;

• Group members have taken ownership of the Group.  The Group is 
informal and flexible.

• Continued provision of schemes to support Carers such as the Carers 
Emergency Card, Discounted access to leisure services, Carers legal 
clinic, Carers Counselling Service and Peer Support Groups

• Research around peer-support and psychoeducational groups, as in the 
Stroke Group for Carers shows: 

• Research shows that peer support can:
• Improve or maintain psychological, physical well-being. 
• Increase confidence, empowerment, acceptance of condition
• Reduce loneliness. 
• Peer support can lead to improvements in mental health by 

promoting belief in recovery, increased self-esteem and social 
inclusion. 

• The Stroke Group has received positive feedback from families and 
carers.  Carers say that the group is often the only chance they have to do 
something alone and it’s helpful to chat with other people who are 
experiencing similar things.  

• They also report that the information they receive is helpful, and it eases 
their anxieties knowing that they can come and chat with a therapist every 
week if needed.  Signposting other services has also been helpful to them, 
particularly as they come to the end of their programme. 

Next Steps?

 Community Co-ordinators continue to map groups relevant to older 
people so Carers are able to be sign posted to groups within their own 
area. 

 Community Co-ordinators provide information at events where Carers 
attend. 

 In addition, in 2017/18 the ICF remit has now expanded to support 
additional beneficiary groups and/or their families and Carers.  They are:

 Older people (aged 50+)
 People with learning disabilities

Page 151



30

 Children with complex needs
 Carers

• Continued provision and development of schemes which support Carers in 
their caring role and that help them to maintain a life outside caring.

• To provide safe and welcoming groups for people living with dementia and 
their loved ones across Cwm Taf.  Supported by the Community, Peers 
and the Memory Service.

• To increase awareness and understanding of Dementia within 
communities by utilising the expertise and resources within that 
community. 

• We have continued to fund the Stroke Group to develop the service for 
Carers further.  They will incorporate mindfulness, relaxation, yoga etc. 
into the sessions each week.  

• RCT will review their current Carers Support Project and provision to 
Carers.

• Our Valley LIFE project is being developed.  This is outlined below:

Our Valley LIFE project is about making sure people with dementia, their 
carers and families receive timely support to improve their wellbeing and 
quality of life. 

 4.2.4  Aim 4. Giving Carers of all ages a voice, with more 
choice & control over their lives

Ensuring Carers have a voice

Carer representatives are members of the Carers Partnership Group.  They 
are involved in the implementation of the Carers Strategy.

Carers play a pivotal role in the delivery of University student training and 
Carer Champion Training, by sharing their stories of being a Carer and their 
experiences of Health and Social Care Services.  Carers of all ages are also 
involved in the delivery of the annual Carers Champion Conference.

During the Summer 2016, we worked with Carers of all ages across Cwm Taf 
in developing a DVD featuring the life of Carers. This was led, produced and 
performed by Carers themselves.  The DVD contains different elements that 
can be used according to the audience and can be used to raise awareness 
of the issues that Carers face and to highlight the support available locally.  In 
2017/18 welsh translation subtitles have been added for the DVD to be used. 
The Carers Film was launched at the Young Carers Recognition evening in 
January 2018.

RCT CSP has been working with RCT Councils Equality and Diversity Team 
in the development of a Staff Disability and Carers Network. It is hoped as the 
Network grows members can have a voice and be engaged with in the 

Page 152



31

development and reviewing of staff policies that affect individuals with a 
disability and those who are Carers.

RCT CSP works with Carers in ensuring they are of grants available to assist 
them in their caring role. In particular, several Carers were supported with the 
Carers Trust grant applications.  Continuous work by local Young Carers 
Project is carried out, ensuring Young Carers have a voice in service delivery 
and the designing of services to meet their needs.

The Cwm Taf Social Services & Wellbeing Citizen Panel has Carer 
representation which will be renewed every 2 years.

John’s Campaign
Cwm Taf University Health Board has signed up to ‘John’s Campaign’.  This 
campaign is about the right of people with dementia to be supported by their 
family Carers when they stay in hospital.  

The campaign believes that Carers should not just be allowed but should be 
welcomed, and that a collaboration between the patients and all connected 
with them is crucial to their health and their well-being.  

John’s Campaign applies to all hospital settings: acute, community, mental 
health and its principles could extend to all other caring institutions where 
people are living away from those closest to them.

Impact made

 Carers have shared their knowledge and experiences whilst being 
members of the Cwm Taf Carers Partnership Group and have provided 
direction for the implementation of the Action Plan.

 Students and professionals report that Carer involvement in the training 
they receive is a powerful learning tool and is the most beneficial part of 
the training process.

 Carers DVD’s have been produced for groups, professionals and Carers 
to use with welsh subtitles.

 Development of a Staff Disability and Carers Network to provide a Forum 
for engagement

 Promotion of grants available to Carers ensure Carers have financial 
assistance to support them in their caring role

 JOHNS CAMPAIGN: Cwm Taf Carers Co-ordinator has met with Senior 
Nurses to start this way of working in our hospital settings.

 A leaflet has been designed to inform patients and their Carers of this 
new approach.

 This approach can make a less stressful stay in hospital.
 This campaign gives a choice to the Carer and the cared for.  

Next Steps?

 Carers will continue to be involved in the implementation of the Cwm Taf 
Carers Strategy, providing direction at each stage.

Page 153



32

 An Annual Carers Champion Conference will continue with input from 
Carers. 

 University workshops are on-going and Carers will be involved in training 
delivery to ensure maximum impact of all training provided.

 Carers will continue to be involved in the delivery of Carers Champion 
training.

 Carers will be consulted regarding local Carers support delivery where 
appropriate.

 Official launch of the Staff Disability and Carers Network
 Continual promotion of grants available to Carers

4.2.5.Aim 5.  Working together to make the most of our 
resources for the benefit of Carers of all ages

Collaboration

Details of the Cwm Taf Carers Partnership Group are referenced in section 3, 
but this work builds on a strong history of collaboration and regional working 
across the statutory and non statutory sector in RCT and MT. 

With Carer and third sector representation on the Cwm Taf Carers 
Partnership group, this strengthens our partnership approach at a local level.

COLIN

Cwm Taf continues to be represented at the COLIN meetings with a 
representative from RCTCBC and/or CTUHB attending. RCT’s Carers 
Support Project Officer is a member of the ‘Alternative Approaches to Carer 
breaks’ sub group, whose aim is to produce a short guidance paper to share 
with the COLIN on alternative and innovative approaches to Carers breaks.

Carers Officers Network

RCT Carers Support Project Officer attends the Carers Officers Network 
hosted by Carers Wales. This provides a forum to share best practice, discuss 
new WG legislation and the sharing of information and new initiatives for 
Carers.

Page 154



33

Carers Rights Day

For Carers Rights Day 2017 RCT CSP worked closely with RCT’s Equality 
and Diversity Team in holding a joint event promoting the rights of Carers and 
individuals with a disability. Over 20 organisations attended the event 
promoting the support services available to Carers. Benefit and council tax 
workshops took place and a variety of health and wellbeing activities were 
made available throughout the day.

Job Centres

RCT CSP has developed close working links with Job Centres in RCT. The 
Project has attended a number of information days organised by the Job 
Centre to promote the identification and recognition of Carers. A Carers Clinic 
is being piloted and is proving popular in Tonypandy Job Centre. A Carers 
Clinic in Llantrisant Job Centre has been arranged to commence in June 
2018.

All Wales Parent and Carer Forum

RCT CSP has worked with the All Wales Parent and Carer Forum in providing 
two way support and referrals to the Project. The Forum provided a session 
on how the new Social Services and Wellbeing Act will affect Parent Carers.

Valleys Steps

RCT CSP has continues to strengthen its relationship with Valleys Steps. The 
CSP has included their information and course dates in their Carers News. 
Valleys Steps also attended Chatterbox (CSP Coffee Morning) and provided a 
Mindfulness Session at their Adult Carers ‘Spring Awakening’ Residential.

HAPI Project

RCT CSP has made links with the HAPI Project in organising bespoke 
training to meet the needs of Carers. The first session, Managing Anxiety, has 
been arranged for July 2018.

Impact made
 Terms of Reference has been reviewed by the Cwm Taf Carers 

Partnership Group.
 The Cwm Taf Carers Partnership Group will oversee the implementation 

of the Action Plan for the Carers Strategy.
 Attendance at local and National Carers Forums, such as the COLIN and 

Carers Officers Network, enable best practice to be shared and 
successful initiatives across Wales to be discussed.

 Linking in with community organisations help strengthen provision 
available to Carers as well as promoting the needs of Carers and Carers 
Services

Page 155



34

 Work with the Job Centres has resulted in the identification and 
subsequent support to Carers who may not have otherwise received the 
support available

Next Steps?
 The Cwm Taf Carers Partnership Group will continue to meet for the 

duration of the Carers Strategy. 
 Continued attendance at National Carers Forums
 Continued partnership working to utilise community provision and 

expand support services available for Carers
 Further expand links with Job Centres to identify and provide bespoke 

support to Carers in RCT

5. Performance Monitoring

Under the SSWB Act there are specific Performance Indicators for 
Carers which RCTCBC and MTCBC are required to report on annually. 
Information currently available is presented below:

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council  
Number of assessments of need for support for carers undertaken during the year 206
Of those, the number that led to a support plan 39
Number of carer assessments that were refused by carers during the year 671
Number of care and support plans and support plans that were reviewed during the year 4,013
Of those, the number of plans that were reviewed within agreed timescales 2,316
Number of requests for review of care and support plans and support plans for carers before 
agreed timescales made by an adult during the year 124
Of those, the number of reviews undertaken 62

Number of assessments of need for support for young carers undertaken during the year 103

Of those, the number that led to a support plan 57

Number of requests for repeat assessment  of need for care and support and need for support 
made by a child, young carer or person with parental responsibility during the year 237

Of those, the number of repeat assessments undertaken 217

Of those, the number of repeat assessments that led to a care and support plan or support plan 91

   
Number of care and support plans and support plans for young carers that were reviewed 
during the year 4,399

Of those, the number that were reviewed within agreed timescales 3,871

Page 156



35

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
The percentage of carers of adults who were offered an assessment or review of their needs in 
their own right during the year

51.1%

The percentage of carers of adults who had an assessment or review of their needs in their 
own right during the year

50.6%

The percentage of carers of adults who were assessed or re-assessed in their own right during 
the year who were provided with a service

77.7%

Number of assessments of need for support for young carers undertaken during the year 40

Of those, the number of assessments that led to a support plan 39

Number of care and support plans and support plans for young carers that were reviewed 
during the year 116

Of those, the number of plans that were reviewed within agreed timescales 115

6. Looking Forward

Throughout 2017-18, Merthyr Tydfil CBC, RCT CBC and Cwm Taf UHB have 
sustained the success of the previous year and continued to work 
collaboratively in improving support, information and recognition of Carers. 
This Annual Report has highlighted the key areas of work and provided 
examples of the progress made. 

The Cwm Taf Carers Strategy will continue the work already achieved under 
the Carers Measure and improve services further as we implement the 
requirements of the SSWB Act.  

The transitional funding to support Carers provided by Welsh Government for 
2016/17 and 2017/18 to support the implementation of the SSWB Act is very 
welcome as there had been concerns regarding the loss of momentum and 
the lack of resources available to achieve identified actions.  Merthyr CBC has 
had no Carers Coordinator in post since March 2017 and RCT has had no 
Carers Coordinator in post since March 2016. The Carers Coordinator has left 
Cwm Taf University Health due to the uncertainty of funding.  

Partners are working together to maximise the impact of the funding and 
agree the use of the allocation for 2018/19 following the Cwm Taf Regional 
Integrated Model for Carers Review (page 8).

It is essential to prevent any negative impact on Carers services and support 
and ensure the continued development and raising awareness of Carers 
throughout the region, meeting the increased responsibilities for partners 
under the SSWB Act. 

Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Funding Flexibility & Supporting People   

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 As elected members will be aware the Local Authority secured the funding flexibility 
grant from Welsh Government in early March 2018 which is an amalgamation of a 
number of grants.  A key requirement of securing this grant was the need to 
strengthen the governance arrangements of the Supporting People programme 
which has now been revised and agreed by the relevant departments and the 
Tackling Poverty Strategic Group. 

1.2 The report identifies the grants that make up the funding flexibility programme and 
the indicative budget challenges for the future financial year of 2019/20 based upon 
information from Welsh Government. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The contents of the report and the challenge of indicative reductions in grant funding 
for 2019/20 be noted.

 
2.2 A further paper is brought to Cabinet outlining how these budget reductions for 

2019/20 are to be met.
  
2.3 The revised governance arrangements as set out in 5.2.1 to 5.2.3 regarding 

Supporting People be noted.
 

Date Written June 2018
Report Author Chris Hole 
Service Area Community Wellbeing 
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 
Committee Date 25th July 2018

Page 159

Agenda Item 11



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 As outlined in the Cabinet paper in May 2018 the Flexible Funding programme was 
secured by the local authority in March 2018 after the Public Service Board put 
forward both Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil as a pathfinder region.  Elected 
members and officers will be aware that this approach now incorporates the grants 
listed below into a single grant for the Local Authority.  This single grant is an 
amalgamation of 10 programmes each still having their own terms and conditions for 
2018-19 at present and which sit within different parts of the Local Authority. 

Grant Location Head of Service
Supporting People Social Services Mark Anderton
Flying Start Social Services Chris Hole 
Families First Social Services Chris Hole 
Legacy Fund Social Services Chris Hole 
Childcare and Play (formerly 
called ‘Out of School Childcare 
Grant’)

Social Services Chris Hole 

Homelessness Prevention Regeneration Steve Peters 
Rent Smart Wales Enforcement Regeneration Steve Peters
St David’s Day Fund Social Services Annabel Lloyd 
Communities for Work Plus 
(formerly called ‘Employability 
Grant’) 

Regeneration Chris Long 

Promoting Positive Engagement 
for Young People at Risk of 
Offending 

Regional Youth 
Offending Service grant 

4.0 FUNDING FLEXIBILITY 2018/19

4.1 These resources are already committed for the 2018/19 financial years in the 
individual spending plans of the grants, submitted to WG alongside the overall 
application for funding flexibility.  These spending plans were submitted as ‘over 
profile’ due to late budget reductions introduced by Welsh Government as outlined 
below.  

Grant Name Amount Reduction
Supporting People* £2,123,163
Flying Start £2,482,888.80 - 1.8% (£45,511)
Families First £1,015,020.73 - 1.8% (£18,605)
Legacy Fund £356,534 - 5.4% (£20,466)
Childcare and Play £72,307
Homelessness Prevention £73,080 New Grant 2018/19
Rent Smart Wales Enforcement £5,228
St David’s Day Fund £25,674
Communities for Work Plus (formerly 
called ‘Employability Grant’) 

£642,565.38 New Grant 2018/19

Promoting Positive Engagement for 
Young People at Risk of Offending 

Regional allocation to RCT £426,000

Page 160



4.2 The current position for 2018/19 at the end of quarter 1 is that the budget shortfall 
has been met mainly through staffing vacancies in various programmes.  This has 
allowed the Tackling Poverty Strategic Group to also agree to meet the uplift on 
salaries required by colleagues in Health due to their expected pay settlement for the 
financial year.  However this commitment in no way provides assurances to the level 
of funding in 2019/20 due to the issues identified in 4.4.  

4.3 Further discussions at both a local and national level have reaffirmed the view that 
an indicative reduction in funding will be applied in 2019/20 of circa 5%, when 
factoring in cost of living increases across all partners the percentage increases to 
7% for most of the grants and means that in real terms to stand still there would need 
to be an additional sum of money available of £505,711.  The Welsh Association of 
Treasurers (section 151 officers) has also been engaged by Welsh Government to 
consider how much of current grant funding is spent on administrative functions 
further to a previous report by the Welsh Audit Office.  

4.4 The indicative financial impact on each of these grants is currently estimated in the 
table below however this depends upon a variety of factors including whether to 
agree future uplifts to contracts with external partners to account for increasing 
salary costs or inflation costs, therefore this is the most available information to date. 

Grant Name Amount Indicative Reduction
Supporting People* £2,123,163 £106,158 (5%)
Flying Start £2,482,888.80 £248,289 (10%)
Families First £1,015,020.73 £71,051 (7%)
Legacy Fund £356,534 £24,957 (7%)
Childcare and Play (formerly called 
‘Out of School Childcare Grant’) 

£72,307 £3,615 (5%)

Homelessness Prevention £73,080 £5,116 (7%)
Rent Smart Wales Enforcement £5,228 £261 (5% )
St David’s Day Fund £25,674 £1,284 (5%)
Communities for Work Plus (formerly 
called ‘Employability Grant’) 

£642,565.38 £44,980 (7%)

Promoting Positive Engagement for 
Young People at Risk of Offending 

Regional allocation 
to RCT £426,000

£21,300 (5%)

 Does not include a contract uplift for providers

4.5 By bringing these grants into a single framework WG are seeking for LA’s to mitigate 
these budget impacts through streamlining of back room functions across the grants. 
In order to achieve this MTCBC has:

 recently brought all of the grants under one accountant; 
 allocated a business change officer to support the lead department;
 has established a grants lead group to review how the grants can collaborate and 

integrate better; 
 worked with all grant leads to identify savings in their own areas; and 
 provided officers with support to identify how savings could be made through a 

more joined up approach, minimising the impact on service delivery.

Page 161



4.6 Timelines have been established in line with the efficiencies programme for the local 
authority to enable any staff or public consultations to be conducted should these be 
necessary.  The timelines (all savings achieved by April 2019) are challenging 
especially in relation to developing a better integrated or collaborative approach 
between the grants which requires a culture shift amongst all partners.  Therefore all 
grants have been requested to, as a minimum, identify how they would meet the 
reductions for their specific grant however the preferred approach is to minimise the 
reductions on areas that are identified as a priority.  Full business cases and impact 
assessments will be required in order to progress each saving to achieve the figure 
of £485,701. 

5.0 SUPPORTING PEOPLE GOVERNANCE 

5.1 As part of the Funding Flexibility application Governance arrangements over the 
grants were required to be set out for Welsh Government.  Within the feedback from 
Welsh Government the following reply was received regarding the existing 
Supporting People governance arrangements:

 
“Please note that the Regional Collaborate Committee (RCC) only has an advisory 
role, so there doesn’t appear to be any formal governance for Supporting People?  
Please provide more details on this”.

5.2 In response  to this and due to the small window of opportunity to resubmit the 
revised application it was put forward  to Welsh Government  that the Governance 
arrangements  were  first and foremost held by the  Council of MTCBC.  However in 
recognising the future challenges, that the following arrangements would be put in 
place to strengthen the governance arrangements and the coordination across the 
Funding Flexibility programme:

5.2.1 That the governance of Supporting people would be with the Tackling Poverty 
Strategic Group, as is the case with the other local grants in Funding 
Flexibility.

5.2.2. That the strategic lead for Supporting People (Head of Adult Services) would 
be added to the membership of the Tackling Poverty Strategic Group.

5.2.3 The regional commission group will continue to advise and guide on the 
Supporting People programme but that decisions would be progressed 
through the Tackling Poverty Strategic Group.

5.3  In May 2018 the Tackling Poverty Strategic Group and the strategic lead for the 
Supporting People programme unanimously agreed the revised governance 
arrangements and that this be communicated to Cabinet. 

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 

Page 162



7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

LISA CURTIS JONES
CHIEF OFFICER SOCIAL SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Previous Cabinet Report May 2018 Community Wellbeing or Intranet

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000  www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Scheme of Delegation - Educated Other Than At 
School (EOTAS)

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report requests the de-delegation of EOTAS provision from secondary schools 
so that the responsibility and funding for all EOTAS is held directly by the local 
authority. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that

2.1 The responsibility and funding for EOTAS provision be de-delegated from schools 
and be managed centrally by the local authority within the overall Schools’ Budget 
from 2018/19 onwards.  

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 In line with the Schools Funding (Wales) Regulations 2010 the local authority is 
required to consult with the Schools Forum and all schools individually in respect of 
all proposed changes to the local authority’s Fair Funding Scheme for Financing 
Schools. 

3.2 On 26th March 2018 the Schools Forum recommended that the EOTAS provision 
that had been delegated to secondary schools in 2013/14 be de-delegated and 
managed by the local authority within the overall Schools’ Budget from 2018/19 
onwards.

Date Written 2nd July 2018
Report Author Anthony Lewis 
Service Area School Planning, Support & 

Resources
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 25th July 2018

Page 165

Agenda Item 12



3.3 Consultation was then carried out with all schools between 26th March and 23rd April 
2018.  Please see consultation paper attached as Appendix 1.

3.4 The results of this consultation are as follows:
 24 schools (84% responded)
 Of these schools 20 agreed (83%) and 4 (17%) specified no strong feeling either 

for or against the proposed de-delegation.

3.5 On 20th June 2018 the Cabinet approved the Instrument of Government to register 
the EOTAS provision at Ty Homfray as a Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) with effect from 
1st September 2018.

3.6 Cabinet approval of the de-delegation of the EOTAS provision is also required to 
enable the local authority to deduct the EOTAS funding from the schools ISB in 
2018/19 and hold as a central budget within the Learning Department. 

3.7 The two year transitional arrangements (September 2018 to August 2020) for the 
EOTAS provision ‘Y Ty Dysgu Homfray’ across both Ty Homfray, Penydarren (Key 
Stages 3/4) and Dowlais Infants (Key Stage 2), will be run in conjunction with two 
year transitional arrangements for improved specialist Learning Resource Base 
(LRB) provision in mainstream schools.  

3.8 The Learning Department are seeking to manage all financial implications over the 
transitional period from within available budgets including use of any achievable 
savings arising due to the improved EOTAS and LRB provisions.

3.9 It is expected that all costs to run the EOTAS provision September 2018 to August 
2020 will be met from within the transitional budget; however any requirement for 
budget growth to cover the LRB provisions from April 2019 to August 2020 will be 
presented in a separate report early in the Autumn Term.     

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 The EOTAS funding currently provided to secondary schools as part of their budgets 
will be vired from the Individual Schools Budgets (ISB) and held as a central 
Learning Department budget (part of the overall Schools’ Budget) for the financial 
year 2018/19 onwards.

4.2 As per 3.8 EOTAS budget growth over the two year transitional period will be 
covered from the available budget. 

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

SUE WALKER
CHIEF OFFICER, LEARNING

LISA MYTTON
CABINET MEMBER FOR LIFELONG 

LEARNING

Page 166



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of 

Document(s)
Document(s) 

Date
Document Location

Instrument of 
Government for 
the Pupil 
Referral Unit 
(PRU)

June 2018 http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=160&MId=2908&LLL=0

Learning Department

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the 
Council’s Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 167

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=160&MId=2908&LLL=0


Appendix 1

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
PEOPLE & PERFORMANCE DIRECTORATE

LEARNING DEPARTMENT

CONSULTATION QUESTIONNAIRE: MONDAY 26th MARCH 2018 – MONDAY 23rd 
APRIL 2018 (2 Schools Weeks)

A. SCHEME OF DELEGATION / FORMULA FUNDING 2018-2019

Name :

Position :

School :
Please note that only 1 response per school is required.

PLEASE REFER TO THE FOLLOWING SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Appendix 1 EOTAS 2018-19 Scheme of Delegation Proposal 

De-Delegation of EOTAS (Education Other Than At School) Provision

a) Do you support the Schools Forum recommendation to de-delegate the 
EOTAS provision from schools and transfer the responsibility, accountability 
and budget back to the LA from April 2018?

YES NO
NO 

STRONG 
FEELING

b) Additional comments regarding the proposal 

PLEASE RETURN TO: 
Joanna Lewis, LMS & Resources Manager, joanna.lewis@merthyr.gov.uk

Page 168



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and 
Gentlemen

FORMAL APPROVAL OF A NEW INTERREG VB 
TRANSNATIONAL PROJECT ENTITLED SuNSE

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 SuNSE, which stands for Support Network for Social Entrepreneurs, is a European 
funded transnational project consisting of ten partners from around North West 
Europe.

1.2 This report seeks to gain Cabinet's agreement to formally approve and accept a 
grant of €183,150 from the EU Interreg VB Programme (subject to a number of 
technical requirements being met).

1.3 The ethos of the project is based around transnationally developing social 
entrepreneurship hubs around North West Europe, which in turn, stimulate social 
innovation and enterprises in each of the partner regions.

1.4 The report focusses on the full SuNSE Project partners and touches upon both the 
project's overall outputs as well as those aligned to Merthyr Tydfil.

1.5 From a financial perspective, the report covers the total project cost and outlines the 
figures made-up of ERDF grant finance (60%) and where the 40% match funding 
will be coming from.

Date Written 10th July 2018

Report Author Ryan Barry & Chris Long

Service Area Community Regeneration 

Committee Division Cabinet
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 25th July 2018

Page 169

Agenda Item 13



2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1. Merthyr Tydfil CBC becomes a formal partner on the SuNSE Project be approved.

2.2. The appointment of additional fixed term staff post to manage the local and 
transnational elements of the Programme be approved.

2.3. The matched funding profile be approved.

2.4 The acceptance of the INTERREG IVB grant offer in principle; following on from the 
technical requirements being accepted by the Monitoring Committee be approved.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 On the 20th March 2018, Highlands & Islands Enterprise, based in Inverness, 
Scotland submitted a new €2,739,743.17 Interreg VB Project application entitled 
SuNSE; which is an acronym for 'Support Network for Social Entrepreneurs'.

3.2 The SuNSE Project will focus on developing a network of transnational social 
enterprise hubs which act as localised focal points that stimulate social 
entrepreneurship and innovation whilst developing opportunities for entrepreneurs 
and businesses to communicate, share best practice and potentially trade locally, 
nationally and internationally.

3.3 The project is made-up of the following cohort of partners, all of which bring a vast 
amount of experience, knowledge and innovative models that have the potential to 
develop and enhance the social economy sector in Merthyr Tydfil and across North 
West Europe.  The partners are as follows:

Partner Name: Country:
Highlands and Islands Enterprise Scotland, UK
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Wales, UK
The University of Greenwich, London England, UK
Lisburn and Castlereagh City Council N. Ireland, UK
Stichting Hogeschool voor de Kunsten, Utrecht The Netherlands
South East Business and Innovation Centre Rep. of Ireland
Ville de Louvigné du Désert France
Gemeente Heerlen The Netherlands
Eco-Trans-Faire ETF Luxembourg
Social Business Earth Switzerland

3.4 SuNSE partners will design, implement and evaluate impact on specific 'Work 
Packages' as part of the programme which will be reported back to the European 
Commission bi-annually. These 'Work Packages' are as follows:

Page 170



 Long Term Effects
 Project Management 
 Development of Transnational Social Entrepreneurship Hub Network
 Development of Support Mechanisms for Social Entrepreneurs
 Delivery of Social Entrepreneurship Impacts
 Communication

3.5 As an overall project, SuNSE aims to support x300 people in sector specific 
business support, develop x200 new social enterprises (in their various forms) and 
bring x70 new products and services to the market.

3.6 Beyond the end of the project, the network will continue to function as a voluntary 
collaboration. New members will join the network, which will be self-supporting, 
continuing to deliver social enterprise benefits & approaches, influencing mainstream 
business support policy & encouraging other regions to adopt the SuNSE approach.

3.7 The new project supersedes our previous EU transnational projects that the Council 
has participated and led on previously with the success of the Interreg IVB funded 
COLLABOR8 (2008-13) and SHARE (2012-15) Projects which have both brought in 
significant levels of finance in the County Borough; enhancing both the tourism 
sector and heritage agenda's respectively.

4.0 SuNSE PROJECT - MERTHYR TYDFIL SPECIFIC

4.1 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council brings a vast amount of transnational project 
experience to the partnership along with significant knowledge of developing third 
sector businesses and organisations locally. In addition, the Council will lead on the 
'Long Term Effect' Work Package which focusses on the longevity of the project post 
August 2021.

4.2 The Council will look to employ a dedicated Social Enterprise Officer who will work 
across the County Borough, liaising with community groups and support agencies 
whilst supporting new and existing social enterprises and community organisations.

4.3 As part of the Council's localised project, SuNSE will look to implement two Social 
Innovation Hubs in the County Borough which will have a particular emphasis on 
supporting existing social enterprises with growth / development opportunities whilst 
stimulating new social enterprises in Merthyr Tydfil.

4.4 The project will look to evolve the current Merthyr Tydfil Social Enterprise Network 
(MTSEN) which is currently made-up of national / regional sector specific support 
agencies as well as look into the feasibility of creating a network of existing social 
enterprises where they collectively share ideas, opportunities, best practice and 
develop possible supply chains.

4.5 Throughout the course of the project the Merthyr Tydfil team will look to achieve a 
number of outputs which they have included as part of the application. These are as 
follows:

Page 171



 Develop a transnationally influenced Merthyr Tydfil Social Enterprise Strategy.
 Organise x1 Social Enterprise Seminar each year in Merthyr Tydfil.
 x30 people per year of benefitting from interaction with the SuNSE Project.
 x15 social enterprises receiving support from the project per year.
 x5 new products / services brought to the market each year. 

4.6 In addition, there will be other project specific outputs that the SuNSE Project will 
produce such as 'jobs created', 'jobs safeguarded' and 'finance levered in' as 
examples; however, no targets have been aligned to the outputs as yet.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 The total SuNSE Project is worth €2,739,743.17 which is split between ten partners 
with the amounts varying based on the workload and planned outputs of each 
partner. 

5.2 From the €2,739,743.17 total project costs 60% is actual grant funding 
(€1,643,845.89) with the remaining 40% forming partners match funding toward the 
project.

5.3 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council's €305,250 allocation is made up of €183,150 
of ERDF grant funding with the remaining €122,100 of match funding being aligned 
to staff within the Community Regeneration Department - namely the Programme 
Manager.

5.4 The full breakdown of the Merthyr Tydfil three year €305,250 budget is as follows:

Budget Heading: Value in Euro's:
Staff (including 40% match) €195,000
Office & Administration €29,251
Travel & Accommodation €21,000
External Experts €60,000

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS
PORTFOLIO MEMBER

REGENERATION & PUBLIC 
PROTECTION

Page 172



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 173



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

MTCBC Change Programme – End of Year Report 
2017/2018

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report provides an update on progress of the MTCBC Change Programme as at 
end of the financial year 2017/18.  The programme of change for 2017/18 has been 
developed and delivered through the following work-streams: Customer and 
Administrative Support Services; Collaborative Arrangements; Income; Outcome 
Focused Redesign (redesign of all our frontline services).  

1.2 The MTCBC Change Programme is governed by the Change Management 
Programme Board (CMPB).  The CMPB is chaired by the Deputy Chief Executive. 
The MTCBC Change Programme works alongside the Budget Board to address the 
financial requirements of MTCBC.  The operational delivery of identified change 
programmes and projects is monitored via the MTCBC Change Management 
Steering Group (CMSG).  

1.3 It should be noted that the position for 2017/18 shows delivery at 89% of the 
anticipated savings this equates to a saving of £2,574,000 against a target for the 
Council of £2,898,000.  

1.4 The next steps for the MTCBC Change Programme will be regarding the design and 
delivery of projects for change and well-being building on the work carried out in 
2018/19 and previous years.  At present proposals are being developed for approval 
resulting from the Budget Strategy exercise and will be set out in the programme of 
change going forward.  This will include supporting the development of proposals 

Date Written 11th July 2018
Report Author Andrew Mogford / Matthew Rivers
Service Area Business Change
Exempt/Non Exempt Non-Exempt
Committee Date 25th July 2018

Page 175

Agenda Item 14



and implementation to meet financial pressures and Well-being objectives.  These 
proposals will follow the operating model design for MTCBC.  The following the work-
streams have been planned to continue into 2018/19: Income; Customer and 
Administration Services; Outcome Focussed Redesign; Joint Working with other 
Councils (where appropriate).  Other work-streams are likely to emerge as proposals 
are developed and approved.  

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 Cabinet Members will be aware of the ‘Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017-18 – 
Quarter 4’ report presented to Cabinet on the 4th July 2018.  This reported a net 
revenue surplus of £73,000 for 2017/18 and included savings realised as part of the 
MTCBC Change Programme.  

2.2 To arrive at this position, address the financial pressures of 2017/18 and going 
forward for MTCBC, five work-streams have been developed within the programme.  
These are: Customer and Administration Service; Procurement; Collaborative 
Arrangements; Income; Outcome Focused Redesign (redesign of our frontline 
services).  

2.3 The MTCBC Change Programme is governed by the Change Management 
Programme Board (CMPB).  The CMPB is chaired by the Deputy Chief Executive.  
The CMPB reviews change programmes and projects and has the authority to call on 
service managers and/or programme/projects managers to challenge and support 
them on the delivery of their programmes/projects.  

2.4 The MTCBC Change Programme works alongside the Budget Board to address the 
financial requirements of MTCBC.  As such this report supports the ‘Revenue Budget 
Monitoring 2017-18 – Quarter 4’ report.

2.5 The operational delivery of the identified change programme and projects is 
monitored via the MTCBC Change Management Steering Group (CMSG).  The 
CMSG provides challenge and support to service managers and, in conjunction with 
the CMPB, hold managers accountable for delivering proposed change and/or 
savings.  The group comprises of MTCBC officers and is chaired by the Head of 
Strategic Support Services and is made up of staff members from Business Change, 
Legal, HR, Communications, Finance, Equalities, Risk and Consultation.  This 
approach allows the programme to maintain the pace required for delivery in 
implementing the work-streams outlined above.

3.0 PROGRESS – QUARTER FOUR (End of Year)

3.1 To be able to manage the programme effectively, the work-streams have been 
categorised as follows:

Page 176



Category Explanation
Blue Project 100% complete and savings accrued
Green Successful delivery of the project/programme to time, cost and 

quality appears highly likely and there are no major outstanding 
issues that at this stage appear to threaten delivery significantly

Amber Successful delivery appears feasible but significant issues 
already exists requiring management attention. These appear 
resolvable at this stage and if addressed promptly, should not 
present a cost/schedule overrun

Red Successful delivery of the project/programme appears to be 
unachievable. There are major issues on project/programme 
definition, schedule, budget required quality or benefits delivery, 
which at this stage does not appear to be manageable or 
resolvable. The Project/Programme may need re-baselining 
and/or overall viability re-assessed

3.2 The work-streams outlined below are to address changes required for 2017/18.  The 
current status of these work-streams (following the June 2018 Change Management 
Steering Group updates) is summarised in the table below: 

3.3 It should be noted that the position for 2017/18 shows delivery at 89% of the 
anticipated savings (a saving of £2,574,000 against a target of £2,898,000) for the 
Council.

3.4 The MTCBC Change Programme has delivered financial savings of £738,737.  The 
BRAG status has remained unchanged for 3 work-streams above, namely: Customer 
and Administration Service; Social Care and Supporting People; Income project.

Page 177



3.5 The Customer and Administration Service project status is Red. This is due to the 
reduced pace of the project.  This concerns some intricacies that have been 
encountered with software and systems. The mitigating actions in the quarter 3 
report relating to the creation of online forms has allowed customers self-serve in 
relation to the highways service, forms including, reporting a pothole, damaged street 
furniture, overhanging vegetation etc. These forms coupled with the creation of forms 
for Waste Services are the high volume areas that require less officer interaction and 
are the less complex service requests.  As we continue the delivery of this project the 
IVR telephony structure will be changing to a more specific targeted service, there 
will be options for ‘pay for it’, ‘request it’, ‘report it, and ‘apply for it’. This will be the 
first layer of options. The purpose of the new structure is to make customers aware 
of the digital offering at the first opportunity and encourage customers to use this 
mechanism. This new way of interacting with the Council  will divert unnecessary 
calls from the Contact Centre onto online offering or automated payment line for 
invoices, council tax etc. 

3.6 The Social Care and Supporting People projects are broken down to include Adult 
Services, Supporting People, and Children’s Services projects. The overall BRAG 
status is Red.  This is due to the original financial savings attributed to the service 
potentially not being met in the financial year. The savings that have not being met in 
the financial year 2017/18 will be reviewed going forward.

3.7 The savings attributed to Adult Services for some projects have not been fully met. 
These savings were significant in the allocation attributed to Social Care. 

3.8 The project to look at Targeted Prevention Alliance was identified and reported as 
unfeasible. It was agreed by Corporate Management Team that a project to review 
Care homes and how the Council provides its care home provision replaces it within 
the MTCBC Change Programme. This project is in progress and is currently 
identifying options.

3.9 The project relating to Learning Disability Day Services has had an independent 
review carried out with options identified.

3.10 The savings attributed to Supporting People have been maximised from what 
MTCBC deems feasible from original proposals. 

3.11 The savings attributed to Children’s Services have been met.

3.12 The Income project and Procurement has been changed to blue (complete) for 
financial year 2017/18 but will potentially be reinstated to look at income and 
procurement opportunities for financial year 2018/19.

3.13 Any redundancy costs were accounted for centrally through the Finance Team.

3.14 The Business Change Team holds quarterly meetings with the Chief Officers to 
ensure the correct support is provided to deliver change. The support required by, 
and offered to, the Chief Officer is discussed and reviewed, as well as the required 
support for the coming quarter. This allows for the identification of common needs 
and also to review the capacity of the team coinciding with the skills required by the 

Page 178



Chief Officer. Chief Officers are asked to complete a feedback form to do this.  The 
feedback form responses for 2017-18 are currently being collated and analysed and 
will be reported at a later date.

4.0 NEXT STEPS

4.1 To present options to Cabinet and Council resulting from the Budget Strategy 
exercise and set out the programme of change going forward, and in doing so 
reassess the change and/or savings proposals for inclusion into the MTCBC Change 
Programme for 2018/19.

4.2 To widen the scope of the MTCBC Change Programme to include our Well-being 
projects.  This will ensure the governance mechanism for change and well-being is 
strengthened.  This will enhance the challenge and delivery in terms of MTCBC and 
PSB well-being objectives and the sustainable development principles (five ways of 
working).  

4.3 To continue to develop and support the implementation of proposals to meet the 
financial pressures and well-being objectives.  These will be based on the operating 
model design for services and align to the MTCBC Change Programme.  

4.4 To continue to monitor, challenge and support the delivery of the change programme 
via the Change and Well-being Steering Group and Change and Well-being 
Programme Board.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 There are no financial implications relating to this report.

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  The outcomes are summarised below.    The form can be accessed on 
the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact Assessment’ link.

6.2 MTCBC Change Programme – End of Year Report 2017/2018 – It has been found 
that a full assessment is not required at this time.  This report has a neutral impact 
on all 11 of the protected characteristics.

ELLIS COOPER
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

Page 179



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

EQUALITY IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

July 2018 Business Change Team

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 180



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Direct Payments Scheme 2018-19

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To inform Cabinet of the development of the Direct Payments Scheme and to advise 
of the hourly rate to be paid for the service provided.

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 Cabinet will be aware that the Community Care (Direct Payments) Act 1996 gave the 
Local Authority the power to make cash payments for Community Care directly to 
individuals who have been assessed as needing Community Care Services.

2.2 From 1st November 2004, Local Authorities have had a duty to offer direct payments 
to all who are potentially eligible to receive them.  On 1st March 2005 this was 
extended to include all customers over 65.

2.3 The Centre for Independent Living, which is a voluntary organisation, currently 
provides a Direct Payment Support Service to the customers of Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough.

2.4 Cabinet will be aware that as of 1st April 2018 the Workplace Pension minimum 
employer contributions increased to 2%.  The rate for Direct Payments has increased 
to ensure compliance with this legislation.

2.5 Cabinet will be aware that as of 1st April 2018 the National Living Wage was 
increased to £7.83 per hour.  The rate for Direct Payments has been increased to 
ensure that the basic salary rate is compliant with this legislation.

Date Written June 2018
Report Author Jonathan Strong
Service Area Social Services
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 25th July 2018

Page 181

Agenda Item 15



3.0 COST OF 1 HOUR OF DIRECT PAYMENT SERVICE

Direct Payment Service (Adults & Children)
Cost of 
Element

Cumulative 
Cost

Basic Salary @ National Living Wage 7.83 7.83

Direct Replacement Costs
Sickness (3%) 0.23 8.06

Insurance (3%) 0.23 8.30
Holidays @ 5 weeks per annum 0.75 9.05

Bank Holidays@ 7 days paid at time and a half 0.23 9.28
Enhancement for Weekend Working 1.12 10.40

Pension 0.21 10.60

National Insurance 0.83 11.44

Total Hourly Direct Payment Rate £11.44
Start Up Cost (one-off Payment) £100.00

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The cost of the Direct Payments increased hourly rate has already been included in 
the Authority’s Medium Term Financial Plan and the Directorate’s approved budget 
for this service area.

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

LISA CURTIS JONES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Community Care Direct 
Payments Act

1996 Adult Services

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.

Page 182



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

UK CONTEST Strategy

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To provide an update on the new version of the UK’s CONTEST Strategy which was 
launched by the Home Secretary on 4th June 2018.

1.2 CONTEST is the framework that enables the UK to organise this work to counter all 
forms of terrorism. CONTEST’s overarching aim remains to reduce the risk to the UK 
and its citizens and interests overseas from terrorism. 

1.3 This is the fourth published version of the United Kingdom’s counter-terrorism 
strategy. 

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 The Home Office introduced the Prevent statutory duty through the Counter-
Terrorism and Security Act 2015. The duty requires local authorities, schools, 
colleges, higher education institutions, health bodies, prisons and probation, and the 
police to consider the need to safeguard people from being drawn into terrorism. The 
duty is designed to help ensure that vulnerable individuals who are at risk of 
radicalisation are supported as they would be under other safeguarding processes. 

2.2 The threat from terrorism, globally and in the UK, is higher than when the Home 
Office last published CONTEST in 2011. The UK is facing a number of different and 
enduring terrorist threats. The increased threat has mainly been caused by the rise 
of Daesh2 and the creation of its cult-like “Caliphate”, combined with the persistent 
threat from Al Qa’ida. Daesh has been constrained militarily by the actions of a 

Date Written 5th June 2018
Report Author Steve Peters 
Service Area Community Safety
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 25th July 2018

Page 183

Agenda Item 16



global coalition which has eroded most of its territory and severely degraded its 
central propaganda apparatus. But Daesh’s ability to direct, enable and inspire 
attacks still represents the most significant global terrorist threat, including to the UK. 
Daesh’s methods are already being copied by new and established terror groups.

2.3 Daesh and Al Qa’ida exploit the internet to promote warped alternative narratives, 
urging extremists within our own communities to subvert our way of life through 
simple, brutal violence. They cynically groom the vulnerable and the young to join 
their movement, inspiring people within our own communities to commit senseless 
acts of violence. The recent attacks across Europe and the UK have also served to 
highlight the diversity and accessibility of methods by which individuals who are 
vulnerable to these radicalising messages can commit attacks.

2.4 This updated CONTEST strategy reflects the findings of a review of all aspects of 
counter-terrorism, to ensure the UK has the best response to the heightened threat 
in coming years. The review found CONTEST to be well-organised and 
comprehensive and that the UK should update its approach within the tried and 
tested strategic framework of the four ‘P’ work strands; Prevent, Pursue, Protect and 
Prepare. The purpose of Prevent and Pursue is to reduce the threats we face; the 
purpose of Protect and Prepare work is to reduce our vulnerabilities; together these 
four areas of work seek to reduce the risk to the UK and its interests overseas from 
terrorism.  

2.5 The new strategy also reflects the lessons from the attacks in London and 
Manchester in 2017 that claimed the lives of 36 innocent people. The timescale
for individuals moving from radicalisation to carrying out an attack can be rapid, 
making plots hard to detect and disrupt.

2.6 In the UK and Europe, extreme right-wing groups seek to exploit any anxieties 
around globalisation, conflict and migration (including any which they are able to link 
to the Syria conflict) in an attempt to broaden their appeal. These groups may vary 
considerably in their rhetoric, but they share the view that minority communities are 
harming the interests of a “native” population.

2.7 The Home Secretary has responsibility for CONTEST and is supported by the Office 
for Security and Counter-Terrorism (OSCT) in the Home Office. Other Secretaries of 
State also have responsibility for elements of the strategy. OSCT has led work to 
produce this strategy, with contributions from other Government Departments, 
Devolved Administrations including the Welsh Government, the police and the 
security and intelligence agencies, the private sector, academics and community 
leaders.

2.8 Priorities identified in the new Strategy include:-

 Sharing information and data with a much wider set of partners, providing 
counter-terrorism expertise to target better local interventions

 Continually seek opportunities to exploit the advancements in technology that will 
improve the effectiveness of any response

 Disrupt terrorist threats in the UK earlier to take account of the shift in the threat 
and the speed at which plots are now developing. 

Page 184



 Place a renewed emphasis on engagement with Communications Service 
Providers, recognising the internet has been a key way for radicalisers to 
communicate their propaganda and for terrorists to plot attacks

 Continue to improve the resilience of communities to terrorism, with a
particular focus on those where the threat from terrorism and radicalisation is 
highest

 Overseas - continue to use the full range of diplomatic, development, economic, 
defence and intelligence networks to the address threats at source and take the 
lead on international efforts to improve specific aspects of counter-terrorism 
globally, through campaigns on aviation security and preventing terrorist use of 
the internet.

3.0 IMPLMENTATION OF CONTEST WITHIN CWMTAF AND WALES

3.1 CONTEST is a Community Safety theme within the terms of reference of the Cwmtaf 
Community Safety Partnership that sits within the Public Service Board governance 
structure. Amongst other Boards that report to the Cwmtaf Community Safety 
Partnership there is a Cwmtaf CONTEST Board. 

3.2 The Cwmtaf CONTEST Board meets on quarterly basis. The Cwmtaf CONTEST 
Board aim is to progress the delivery of the CONTEST Strategy within Cwmtaf by 
ensuring effective multi-agency partnership working. 

3.3 The Cwmtaf CONTEST Board receive an annual briefing (Counter Terrorism Local 
Profile or CTLP) on the risk of radicalisation and extremism within Cwmtaf from 
officers from the Wales Counter Terrorism Unit (WECTU). The CTLP is sent to the 
Chief Executive of both local authorities. 

3.4 The Cwmtaf CONTEST Board receive updates on the four work strands of Prevent, 
Pursue, Protect and Prepare from agencies operating within Cwmtaf. The Board also 
receive updates from the Chair of the Channel Panel. The Panel deal with individuals 
that have been identified as holding views/being susceptible to radicalisation or 
extremism within Cwmtaf with a view to the agencies that attend the Panel 
supporting those individuals de-escalate any possible risk they may pose. 

3.5 Wales has a CONTEST and Extremism Board (CEBW) that meets twice a year. The 
Regional CONTEST Board Chairs are invited to those meetings.  

3.6 The overall role of the Wales Board is to:

• advise on the UK CONTEST Strategy; 
• provide strategic leadership for the delivery of CONTEST in Wales;
• strengthen the links between civil contingency planning and CONTEST in 

Wales;
• review emerging and residual threats to identify opportunities and agree 

priorities; and 
• bring together the Counter Terrorism and Countering Extremism agendas in 

order to avoid duplication and maximise effectiveness through combined 
action.

Page 185



3.7 In a review of CONTEST in Wales (Jan 2018) undertaken by the CEBW a number of 
recommendations were made. Specifically in relation to Regional CONTEST Boards 
the review recommended that PREVENT should be the predominant business of the 
local/regional CONTEST Boards with a focus on delivering the PREVENT duties of 
the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015.  The Boards should have an element 
of PROTECT included in their terms of reference but PREPARE should be delivered 
at the all-Wales level and PURSUE should be excluded. Updates on all areas of 
CONTEST should be featured on every agenda.

3.8 The review also went further to define the role of the Regional CONTEST Boards by 
recommending that Key PREVENT deliverables at a local level were:

 
• Workshops to Raise Awareness of Prevent (WRAP) training and PREVENT 

awareness for partner agencies.
• Performance in relation to Ideology, Institutions and Individuals.
• Project work
• Delivery of Channel  

3.9 Although the data sharing provision between the security services and other 
agencies, including local government is an interesting development, it is anticipated 
that the revised strategy when compared with previous CONTEST strategies will not 
have a significant impact within Cwmtaf and that it will therefore be business as 
usual.   

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION

Page 186



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of 

Document(s)
Document(s) 

Date
Document Location

UK’s CONTEST 
Strategy

4TH June 2018 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/counter-
terrorism-strategy-contest-2018

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the 
Council’s Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 187

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/counter-terrorism-strategy-contest-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/counter-terrorism-strategy-contest-2018


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 189

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 195

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Final Draft Scrutiny Report  -  Capital Project Referral (Brandy Bridge scheme / Road Slip - South of Pontygwaith)
	4 Scrutiny Report - Review of Attendance & Attainment in Primary & Secondary Schools
	5 Provisional Capital Outturn 2017/18
	6 Capital Budget Monitoring 2018-19 - Quarter 1
	7 Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 – Quarter 1
	8 School Reorganisation - 3-16 Voluntary Aided School
	9 Charging for Community Care Support Services
	10 Cwm Taf Carers Annual Report 2017-18
	Appendix 1

	11 Funding Flexibility & Supporting People
	12 Scheme of Delegation - Educated Other Than At School (EOTAS)
	13 Formal Approval Of A New Interreg Vb Transnational Project Entitled Sunse
	14 MTCBC Change Programme – End of Year Report 2017/2018
	15 Direct Payments Scheme 2018-19
	16 UK CONTEST Strategy
	17 Repayment Of Long Term Loans – Update
	18 Award of the Framework Agreement for the Disposal of Household Waste Recycling Centre Waste Streams

